W REAEERTES

China Merchants Commercial REIT

China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust

PEREXEHEREGTER

(a Hong Kong collective investment scheme authorised under section 104 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong))

(RBEEBEFETIEFERPERAEI104EERT 2 EBEBHRETE)
Stock Code B&{5fL5E : 01503

IRRRRN
:L%

2019 %2

» ANNUAL REPORT




CONTENTS B 8%

ABOUT CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIALREIT 2 EREERBERETES
DISTRIBUTION 3 AR

FINANCIAL REVIEW FOR THE REPORTING PERIOD 4 45 HARS &9 B 75 [0l B
CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT 7 EER#WME

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE 12 EENEAEEAEBRE

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 22 ERENWESN

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE 45 3835 « & RERIEE
("ESG") REVIEW

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 47 DTEER/RWE

REPORT OF THE TRUSTEE 69 XFEA®mE

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 70 BEATRS

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS 78 HEmWFE

VALUATION REPORT 80 WEMERS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 113 B ZEENHRE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 121 #&ZaiEz=mkHEM2EWZER
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 122 ZREMBARAEK
POSITION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET 123 4 ES BB ARILE
ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS EFEEEHE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 124 GFERESRERX
DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT 125 HIkRE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 127 (REMEIREM
STATEMENTS

PERFORMANCE TABLE 202 ZERK
CORPORATE INFORMATION 203 D FEHK



2

ABOUT CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT

BAREERERETES

REIT PROFILE AND ASSET SIZE

China Merchants Commercial REIT

China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust
(“China Merchants Commercial REIT”) is a real estate
investment trust constituted by the trust deed (the “Trust Deed”)
entered into between China Merchants Land Asset Management
Co., Limited, the manager of China Merchants Commercial REIT
(the “REIT Manager”), and DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited, the
trustee of China Merchants Commercial REIT (the “Trustee”), on
15 November 2019. The units of China Merchants Commercial
REIT (the “Units”, and each a “Unit”) were listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 10
December 2019 (the “Listing Date”).

China Merchants Commercial REIT's property portfolio
("Properties”) consists of five commercial properties located in
Shekou, Shenzhen. As at 31 December 2019, the Properties offer
investors direct exposure to 262,379 sg.m. of prime office and
commercial complex gross floor area.

China Merchants Land Asset Management Co.,
Limited

The REIT Manager was incorporated in Hong Kong on 22 June
2019, with a sole purpose of managing the assets of China
Merchants Commercial REIT. The REIT Manager is an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of China Merchants Land Limited (stock
code: 00978).

CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2019
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DISTRIBUTION
7K

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, China Merchants Commercial REIT
is required to distribute to the unitholders of China Merchants
Commercial REIT (the “Unitholders”) no less than 90% of its
Annual Distributable Income. Under the terms of the Trust Deed,
Annual Distributable Income for a financial year is the amount
calculated by the REIT Manager (based on the audited financial
statements of China Merchants Commercial REIT for that financial
year) as representing the consolidated audited net profit after
tax of China Merchants Commercial REIT and its subsidiaries for
that financial year, as adjusted for the Adjustments (as defined
in the offering circular of China Merchants Commercial REIT
dated 28 November 2019 (the “Offering Circular”)) and, for
the avoidance of doubt, excludes any additional discretionary
distributions out of capital. As disclosed in the Offering Circular,
the REIT Manager’s policy is to distribute to Unitholders an
amount equal to 100% of the Annual Distributable Income of
China Merchants Commercial REIT for each Relevant Period (as
defined in the Offering Circular) during the period from the Listing
Date to 31 December 2022, and at least 90% of the Annual
Distributable Income for each financial year thereafter.

The REIT Manager intends to distribute to Unitholders 100% of
the Annual Distributable Income of China Merchants Commercial
REIT for the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2019
(the “Reporting Period”), being approximately RMB12,245,000.
Pursuant to the Distribution Commitment (as defined in
the Offering Circular), Eureka Investment Company Limited
(“Eureka”), being the holding company of the Vendor (as defined
in the Offering Circular), has undertaken to make a cash payment
to the Trustee (in its capacity as trustee of China Merchants
Commercial REIT) for the benefit of China Merchants Commercial
REIT if the Annualised Provisional DPU (as defined in the Offering
Circular) is less than the Annualised Committed DPU for the
Relevant Period, so that in such circumstances the annualised
distribution per Unit of China Merchants Commercial REIT for
the Relevant Period shall be equal to the Annualised Committed
DPU. The Annualised Committed DPU for the Reporting Period is
HK$0.2360 per Unit.

The distribution for the Reporting Period and the interim
distribution for the six months ending 30 June 2020 will be paid
together to entities regarded as Unitholders as at the record date
for that interim distribution. As such, those who are not regarded
as Unitholders on the record date for that interim distribution
have no entitlement to receive any distributions for the Reporting
Period. Such distribution will be made no later than 30 November
2020. All distributions will be paid in Hong Kong dollars.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW FOR THE REPORTING PERIOD
i o A [ B 5 75 [

PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS REBE

OC Percentage
Actual Forecast Variance
BB ZEEEEA BoLEER

Revenue (RMB '000) W (ARBFT) 28,759 23,848 20.6%
Distributable Income (RMB ‘000) A IRKIA(AREFIT) 12,245 9,249 32.4%
Distribution per Unit (HK$) BESEMDIRGET) 0.0122 0.0093 31.2%
Payout Ratio PSS 100% 100% -
Committed Distribution per Unit (HK$) SHES B SIREEGET) 0.0142 N/ATEH =
Revenue (RMB’000) Distributable Income (RMB’000)
KE(AR®TT) AHFTRBA(AREFT)

20.6%
30000 28,759 15000
32.4%
25000 23,848 12,245
12000
20000 9,249
9000
15000
6000
10000
5000 3000
0 0
[l OC Forecast B Actual [l OC Forecast B Actual
TEmKIERA R B KTER T

Distribution per Unit (HK$)

BESENIIK(GET)
0.0150
31.2%
0.0122
0.0120
0.0093
0.0090
0.0060
0.0030
0

[l OC Forecast B Actual
BERHEA =3
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FINANCIAL REVIEW FOR THE REPORTING PERIOD

WE RIS E R

FINANCIAL RESULTS

This is the first annual report of China Merchants Commercial
REIT since its listing on the Stock Exchange. Comparison is made
between the results for the Reporting Period, where appropriate,

RS

against the forecast figures stated in the Offering Circular (the

“"OC Forecast”).

WHRERRERTES AR EMARNED
FERS - CRBESHENRE(WER) BEERK
Pt ORI B ([ B B FRUR) | ) AETT L8 ©

The period from 10 December 2019 EH2019%F12810H 20194 (o]@
to 31 December 2019 128318 8/ Actual Forecast™™ Difference
BEBRR
B FEORI™ =8
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Revenue = 28,759 23,848 20.6%
Distributable Income Al i 3R A 12,245 9,249 32.4%
ocC
Actual Forecast”  Difference
BEBRR
1 FERI™ =2
Unit Price (HK$) HEe B ERGET) 3.33 3.42 -2.6%
Payout Ratio PSS 100% 100% -
Distribution per Unit (DPU) (HK$) BEEEMNDRERGET) 0.0122®@ 0.0093 31.2%
Annualised Provisional DPU (HK$) FEEEFESEMNDIKRGET) 0.2017@ 0.1538 31.1%
Annualised Provisional DPU yield FEEEFESEMS RKEHE 6.1%® 4.5% 1.6%
Annualised Committed DPU (HK$) FlhBEL BN IRFAE(ET) 0.2360 0.2360 -
Annualised Committed DPU yield FBES BN D RAE W R 7.1%® 6.9% 0.2%
Net assets per Unit attributable to BREESENEMFFE AEN 3.36 N/ATEHA N/ATEH
Unitholders BEFE
2019 2018
31 December 31 December  Difference
20195 20184
12A31H 12H31H EZE
RMB million  RMB million
ARBBEERT ARBBEET
Total assets BEE 8,078 7,193 12.3%
Net assets attributable to Unitholders EoHUBEABLEEFE 3,787 2,433 55.7%
Debt to total asset value BEYREEEE 23.4% - 23.4%

“TEONFEN BAREEETES
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FINANCIAL REVIEW FOR THE REPORTING PERIOD
i o A [ B 5 75 [

FINANCIAL RESULTS (continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Based on the profit forecast together with the underlying assumptions as

disclosed in the Offering Circular.

The Annualised Provisional DPU shown is for illustration purposes only.
It is calculated by reference to the Annual Distributable Income for the
Reporting Period (being RMB12,245,000), assuming 1,127,819,549 Units
is in issue (being the number of Units in issue as at 31 December 2019)
and the exchange rate is the average central parity rate as announced
by the People’s Bank of China for the five business days preceding the
date of this announcement. The final Annualised Provisional DPU for the
purposes of calculating the payment under the DPU Commitment for the
Reporting Period will be determined by reference to the number of Units
in issue as at the record date for the interim distribution for the six months
ending 30 June 2020 and adopting an exchange rate which is the average
central parity rate as announced by the People’s Bank of China for the five
business days preceding the date of declaration of interim distributions for
the six months ending 30 June 2020, and accordingly, may be different
from the illustrative Annualised Provisional DPU presented above.

The Annualised Provisional DPU yield and Annualised Committed DPU
yield are calculated by dividing the corresponding illustrative Annualised
Provisional DPU and Annualised Committed DPU by the closing price of the
Units on 31 December 2019 (being HK$3.33).

CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2019
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEREE

DEAR UNITHOLDERS,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of China Merchants Land
Asset Management Co., Limited, the REIT Manager of China
Merchants Commercial REIT, | hereby present the first annual
report of China Merchants Commercial REIT for the financial year
ended 31 December 2019.

SUCCESSFUL LISTING ON HONG KONG STOCK
EXCHANGE

On 10 December 2019, China Merchants Commercial REIT was
successfully listed on the Stock Exchange, being the first real
estate investment trust to list in Hong Kong since 2013 and the
first listed real estate investment trust managed by a central
government controlled state-owned enterprise since 2006. This
marked a major milestone for the REIT sector in Mainland China
and Hong Kong.

China Merchants Commercial REIT owns five properties in the
Greater Bay Area: a Grade A office building, three office building
complexes and a commercial shopping centre, all of which are
located at prime locations in the Qianhai-Shekou Free Trade Zone,
and all of which stand to benefit in the future from improved
public transportation infrastructure, including a new subway line.

STABLE OPERATING PERFORMANCE

In 2019, like other major cities across the country, Shenzhen's
office building and commercial property market was faced with
the situation of increasing supply and declining demand. In
particular the new supply of Grade A office space was substantial
while demand for retail space was affected by the trend towards
online shopping. As we have made thorough preparations,
including adjusting our leasing strategy, conducting asset
enhancements and introducing additional value-added services,
we were able to achieve stable operating performance for 2019.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEREE

STABLE OPERATING PERFORMANCE (continued)

With our proactive forward looking asset management strategies,
our occupancy rate increased from 84.1% as at 30 September
2019 to 88.0% as at 31 December 2019. China Merchants
Commercial REIT achieved a satisfactory operating performance
in 2019. For the Reporting Period, our total revenue was 20.6%
higher than the revenue forecast in the Offering Circular. China
Merchants Commercial REIT recorded Distributable Income of
RMB12.25 million, which is 32.4% higher than the forecast of
RMB9.25 million as stated in the Offering Circular.

REGULAR DISTRIBUTION

As disclosed in the Offering Circular, the first regular distribution
of China Merchants Commercial REIT after the Listing Date will
be paid no later than 30 November 2020. Such distribution will
include (i) distribution for the Reporting Period; and (ii) interim
distribution for the six months ending 30 June 2020. Accordingly,
the distributable income for the Reporting Period and for the first
half of 2020 will be paid to the registered Unitholders of China
Merchants Commercial REIT on the interim distribution record
date for the six months ending 30 June 2020.

CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2019
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEREE

A CENTURY OF ACHIEVEMENT AT CHINA
MERCHANTS

Founded in 1872, China Merchants Group is the forerunner of
China’s industrial and commercial sectors. As one of the top four
China enterprises headquartered in Hong Kong, China Merchants
Group played an important role in the historical economic and
social development of China. By organizing the first merchant
fleet in modern China and establishing the first Chinese bank and
insurance companies, it was instrumental in bringing commercial
shipping and other modern industries to China. Over its 148 years
China Merchants Group has upheld the principle of ‘Trading
Across The World’ and continued to expand, across different
dynasties, through different global political and economic
environments, and even in times of political or economic turmoil.
In 2019, China Merchants Group was ranked first among state-
owned enterprises in terms of gross profit, net profit and total
assets, and two companies under the China Merchants banner
were in the Fortune Global 500.

Established in 1979, China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone
Holdings Co., Ltd. (“CMSK"), the sponsor of China Merchants
Commercial REIT, is a key division of China Merchants
Group focused on Integrated Urban Development and a core
consolidation platform for the property assets of the Group.
Over the past 41 years of development, CMSK has become the
industry leader in various real estate sectors and its operations
are clearly segregated under four listed entities. China Merchants
Commercial REIT is CMSK’s exit platform for its capital intensive
real estate projects while the REIT Manager is part of the fast
expanding asset-light property services oriented platform. CMSK
provides substantial support to China Merchants Commercial REIT
in the form of rights of first refusal to its projects and a three year
distribution commitment for its listing. It has recently set up a
specialized asset management center with the aim of reinforcing
its asset management expertise, and will serve as a platform for
facilitating asset appreciation and collaboration between Group
assets.

The REIT Manager aims to make full use of the China Merchants
brand and benefit from the Group's advantages and resources.
This will support the unrelenting efforts of the REIT Manager to
provide Unitholders with stable income and asset appreciation
over the medium to long-term.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EERWE

OUTLOOK AND FUTURE STRATEGY

As we enter 2020, the world is faced with unfavorable
developments. In addition to dealing with trade frictions with
the United States, China also faces the risk of a sharp decline in
domestic economic growth. The recent outbreak of the Covid-19
virus has had severe negative repercussions on society and the
Chinese economy. We expect these factors to have a strong
impact on various sectors, including the real estate industry.
However, despite of the substantial impact of the outbreak, we
believe we are capable of coping with unpredictable significant
events with our established and sophisticated contingency
procedures and plans. To take up our corporate social
responsibility, we have granted rent concession to our tenants
to ride out the current difficult times. On the other hand, the
guaranteed distributable income in the next three years made
during the listing also limits the impact on the investors even the
outbreak persists. The epidemic in China is now gradually getting
under control, and we expect its economic effect to decline in the
coming months. We firmly believe in the Chinese government’s
capability to revitalize the economy over the rest of 2020, to lay a
solid foundation for development over the decade.

While China Merchants Commercial REIT is not impervious to
the unfavorable economic environment, it has unique features
of stability compared to companies in other industries. The
distributions of the REIT in the next three years has been
guaranteed regardless of market factors. The sponsor CMSK also
has sufficient asset reserves to keep injecting quality assets in the
medium term. We believe that the Chinese economy will bottom
out inevitably and the first-tier cities and the Greater Bay Area will
be the first to experience economic recovery. The REIT Manager,
shall remain prepared for crisis, continue to upgrade the skills of
staff and remain vigilant for opportunities created by the crisis
environment. In the medium to long term, our strategies will be
mainly focus on the following three areas:

1. Further refine our professional management of existing
assets: We will further refine the asset management on
our five existing properties, by optimizing the mix of
tenants and industry exposure, by dynamically monitoring
leases and conducting reasonable, through effective asset
enhancement, and by creating synergy for properties in the
same area. Various short-term external disadvantages are
giving us the opportunity to optimize our operations and
services, maximizing rent and distributable income from our
existing properties and future injected properties over the
medium and long term.

10 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2019
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEREE

OUTLOOK AND FUTURE STRATEGY (continued)

2.

Actively explore suitable assets internally and externally,
continue to increase the size of assets, and optimize the
asset structure: We will make full use of the resources and
advantages of the China Merchants Group to achieve a win-
win scenario. The aforementioned Group asset management
center will be a direct avenue for asset injection from China
Merchants Group into CMC Commercial REIT and in the
future, making the selection and injection of assets more
efficient. The weak domestic and external economy is also
a rare opportunity for us to look for external investment
opportunities. We will actively search for investment targets
with substantial discounts caused by the current financial
turmoil, and cooperate with external professional institutions
to obtain assets which meet the return requirements of the
REIT.

Strengthen efforts in both areas of value-added services and
digital services in response to changes in market demand:
The market, both now and in the future is characterized by
rapid and constant change. We will continuously increase
and improve our value-added services based on the needs of
our tenants, thereby enhancing their stickiness and loyalty.
The digital transformation is ongoing and inevitable for each
and every industry. China Merchants Group has already
formulated an overall strategy for the rollout of its digital
network. China Merchants Commercial REIT will take full
advantage of the Group’s resources in this field, and acquire
and develop various digital services for each property based
on its own characteristics, such as tenant resource sharing
and automatic digital building management.

We believe these are the key strategies to delivering satisfactory

returns to our Unitholders and will endeavour to execute them.

APPRECIATION

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to all Unitholders for their trust and support in China
Merchants Commercial REIT. | would also like to thank the
management team and professional parties for their efforts and
contributions in the listing process.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEBAERE

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
HUANG Junlong

Mr. Huang, aged 54, was appointed as a Director and the
Chairman of the REIT Manager on 11 July 2019.

Mr. Huang is a non-executive director of CML and the chief
financial officer of CMSK. Prior to that, he served successively as a
deputy supervisor of the finance department of China Merchants
Shekou Industrial Zone Company Limited* (B0 T¥&A
FR 2 7)) (currently known as CMSK), the chief financial officer of
Shenzhen China Merchants Petrochemical Co., Ltd.* CEJIFBE A
{EBR AT, the chief financial officer of China Merchants Port
Service Co., Ltd.* (HEBBRMHBBRAF]), the chief financial
officer of China Merchants Logistics Group Co., Ltd.* (FBE B
YImEB AR AR from August 2002 to December 2005, the
deputy in charge of the finance department of CMG and the
chief financial officer of China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone
Company Limited* (BB 0 TE& AR A7) (currently known
as CMSK).

Mr. Huang obtained a Bachelor of Engineering from Changsha
Institute of Communications in July 1988, majoring in financial
accounting of engineering. He obtained a Master of Business
Administration from China Europe International Business School
in September 2008. Mr. Huang was appraised and approved as
a senior accountant of the PRC in October 1998. He obtained a
Qualification Certificate for Secretary of the Board of Directors*
(BEELWEEKFEE) issued by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in
May 2015.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERENREEAEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

GUO lJin

Mr. Guo, aged 51, was appointed as a Director on 11 July
2019. He is also one of the Responsible Officers and the Chief
Investment and Asset Management Officer of the REIT Manager.

Mr. Guo has extensive experience in the real estate and financial
industry. He used to serve at Savills Investment Management
(Hong Kong) Limited from June 2014 to January 2019 where
he took the position of the Head of Greater China and was also
a responsible officer for Type 1, Type 4 and Type 9 regulated
activities from August 2017 to January 2019. Prior to that, he
worked at ICBC International Holdings Limited (T iR BB 1A% A R
7~ &) from November 2009 to November 2012, where he took the
position of the executive director of the investment management
department. He was a licensed representative for Type 1 and
Type 4 regulated activities at Standard Chartered Securities (Hong
Kong) Limited from August 2007 to September 2009.

Mr. Guo obtained a Bachelor of Commerce and a Bachelor of
Property from the University of Auckland in September 2003. He
is a Chartered Financial Analyst and was a member of the Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (Valuation).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEBAERE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
LIU Ning
Ms. Liu, aged 51, was appointed as a Director on 11 July 2019.

Ms. Liu is a non-executive director of CML. She is also the deputy
general manager, the secretary of the board of directors and the
general manager of the China Merchants Apartment department
of CMSK. She has over 15 years of experience in the securities
industry. She was appointed as a representative for securities
affairs of China Merchants Property Development Co., Ltd.*
(HBE R EZERKMH AR AT (“"CMPD”) (a company merged
with CMSK in December 2016) in October 2001, a director of
the secretariat to the board of directors of CMPD in July 2004
and the secretary to the board of directors of CMPD from 2008
to 2015. Ms. Liu was a member of the listing committee of the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange from September 2016 to September
2018. She acted as an expert on pre-listing review of corporate
bonds of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange from May 2017 to May
2019. Previously, Ms. Liu also acted as an independent director
of Han'’s Laser Technology Industry Group Co., Ltd.* (F3IT KH&
R RE RN BR A F) (stock code: 002008) from June 2017 to
December 2018, Shenzhen Fenda Technology Co., Ltd.* (&I
BEERIERMH AR AT (stock code: 002681) from March 2015 to
February 2019, Shenzhen Sunwin Intelligent Co., Ltd.* (RIIIHE
BRI AR A F]) (stock code: 300044) from September 2017
to February 2019 and Shenzhen Kingsino Technology Co., Ltd.*
ORI 2R D B R A R)) (stock code: 002548) from May
2017 to February 2019, all of which are listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange.

Ms. Liu completed courses of Master of Business Administration
at Nankai University in 2000 and obtained a Master of Business
Administration from Macau University of Science and Technology
in 2003. Ms. Liu holds a Qualification Certificate for Secretary
of the Board of Directors* (EZZMEEIKFE) issued by the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange in October 2004.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERENREEAEBE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
YU Zhiliang
Mr. Yu, aged 41, was appointed as a Director on 11 July 2019.

Mr. Yu has been an executive director of CML since June 2012.
He has also served as the general manager of CML since August
2016. Mr. Yu is responsible for the strategic development and the
facilitating and implementation of strategies and business plans of
CML and its subsidiaries. Mr. Yu was CML's chief financial officer
from June 2012 to August 2016. Mr. Yu has been a director of
Champion Apex Limited (E24£ BFR 2 F]) since January 2013 and a
director of Harvest Allied Investments Limited ([EZEI& & HR A 7))
since April 2013.

Mr. Yu used to serve as the chief financial officer of China
Merchants Property (Xiamen) Co. Ltd.* (FAE BibE(EF)ER
‘A 7\]) and Fujian Zhong Lian Sheng Estate Development Ltd.*
(BREPBEREHEREAR2ATF). Mr. Yu is a director of China
Merchants Properties Development Ltd. (s BEXBR QA A),
Wahsheung Finance Ltd. GER B BR A E]) and certain major
subsidiaries of CML.

Mr. Yu obtained a Bachelor of Administration (majoring in
accounting) from Xiamen University in 2001 and a Master of
Business Administration in Finance from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong in December 2009. Mr. Yu obtained the Qualification
Certification of Specialty and Technology for Accountancy issued
by the Ministry of Personnel of the PRC in May 2005.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEBAERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

LIN Hua
Mr. Lin, aged 44, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 10 December 2019.

Mr. Lin established Shanghai HeYi Information Technology
Limited (/&M iRz BB RE AR QA as its controlling
shareholder. He was appointed as an independent director and a
member of the audit and related transactions control committee
of Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.* (EZ#E1T) (a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601166)) in July
2015, and has accumulated extensive experience in reviewing
financial statements of a public company since then as part of his
responsibilities pursuant to The Rules Governing the Work of the
Audit and Related Transactions Control Committee of Industrial
Bank Co., Ltd.* (EZERITHRHER AR EETSHTHBH T HIE
#IZ 8 TYE#8 8). Mr. Lin has been an independent non-executive
director of Zhenro Properties Group Limited (IE& i EEB AR A
R]*) (a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock
code: 6158)) since June 2019, and he is also an independent
director of Generali China Asset Management Co., Ltd.* (FE&
EE®ARSETATF) and an adviser of King & Wood Mallesons.
He used to work at Jin Yuan Capital Management (Xiamen) Co.,
Ltd.* (B EARERE (FEM) BR2AF]) as general manager and
Xiamen Venture Capital Co., Ltd.* (EPITAIZEKLEBRAA) (a
fund of funds of the Xiamen Municipal People’s Government) as
director. Mr. Lin obtained a Master of Business Administration
from the University of California, Irvine in June 2007. Mr. Lin is a
Chartered Financial Analyst.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERENREEAEBE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
LIN Chen

Mr. Lin, aged 41, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 10 December 2019.

Mr. Lin has been the Stelux Professor in Finance of The University
of Hong Kong since February 2014 and the Chair of Finance, the
Director of the Centre for Financial Innovation and Development
and the Associate Dean of the Faculty of Business and Economics
of The University of Hong Kong. He is a member of the Currency
Board Sub-Committee of the Exchange Fund Advisory Committee.

Mr. Lin obtained a Bachelor of Engineering from the South China
University of Technology in 2000 and an MBA (2004), M.A. (2005)
and Ph.D. (2006) from University of Florida.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEBAERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
LAU Sze Wan, Serena

Ms. Lau, aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 10 December 2019.

Ms. Lau is the managing director of RHL Appraisal Limited. Ms.
Lau holds a Bachelor of Applied Science degree in Land Economics
from the University of Technology, Sydney, a Professional Diploma
in Corporate Governance & Directorship from the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors and a Master of Business Administration
degree from The University of Hong Kong. Ms. Lau is a fellow
of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, a member of the China
Institute of Real Estate Appraisers and Agents, an associate of
the Australian Property Institute, a professional member of the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, a Registered Professional
Surveyors (General Practice) in Hong Kong and a Registered Real
Estate Appraiser approved by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-
Rural Development of the PRC* (% AR HFIE{F 5 FOis 40 32 5%
Eb).

Currently, Ms. Lau serves as a member of the Small and Medium
Enterprises Committee, the Youth Development Commission,
Advisory Committee on Chinese Medicine Development Fund
of the HKSAR Government and the Commercial Properties
Committee and the Audit Sub-Committee of the Hong Kong
Housing Authority.

Ms. Lau is also a member of the Executive Committee of the Hong
Kong Housing Society and a director of the Board of the Urban
Renewal Fund.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERENREEAEBE

SENIOR EXECUTIVES

Information on the business and working experience of the senior
executives of the REIT Manager is set out below:

GUO lJin

Mr. Guo is the Chief Investment and Asset Management Officer
and one of the Responsible Officers of the REIT Manager. He is
also the executive Director of the REIT Manager and information
on his business and working experience has been set out in
“Executive Director” in this section.

ZHONG Ning

Mr. Zhong is the Chief Operating Officer, Head of Information
Technology, Deputy Investment and Asset Management Officer
and one of the Responsible Officers of the REIT Manager. He is
employed by the Onshore Manager Subsidiary.

Mr. Zhong was an investment director of CML from February
2017 until October 2019, a portfolio director of China Merchants
and SPF Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd. (R REAEK
EHSEEHR AT from September 2017 until October 2019,
an investment director of Grand Synergy Asset Management
Co., Ltd. (BEHEEEEEAMBR2AF]) from October 2017 until
October 2019 and has been a director of Shanghai Bang Xin
Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd.* (E/B8BMEEE
BRMAR AT since January 2018. Prior to that, he worked
as an investment manager at Qianhai Jia’nian Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd.* (AI/BRFIREESETE AR AA) from
April 2014 to September 2016, at Deloitte Enterprise Consultant
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* (fE#{>EER ORY) AR F]) from
October 2016 to February 2017 where he held the position of
assistant manager of the financial consulting department. He also
worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants
LLP, Shenzhen Branch* (ZEE XSRS (FHREBA
) RIS FT) from July 2008 to April 2014 where he took the
position of the senior auditor of the audit department.

Mr. Zhong obtained a Bachelor of Management from Shenzhen
University in June 2006 and a Master of Business Administration
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in
November 2017.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEBAERE

CHOO Chong Yao, Patrick
Mr. Choo is the Head of Compliance and Risk Management of the
REIT Manager, and one of the Responsible Officers.

Mr. Choo was a director and Chief Investment Officer at Swenson
Asset Management Limited and Swenson Capital Limited from
April 2018 to September 2019, Mr. Choo served as Deputy Chief
Executive Officer and acted as the Chief Investment Officer at
Kingdom Investment Managers Limited from October 2015 to
December 2017. Mr. Choo served as the Chief Investment Officer
and one of the Responsible Officers of Eagle Asset Management
(CP) Limited, the manager of Champion REIT, from March
2006 until July 2015, during which he was responsible for the
strategic planning and management of Champion REIT and for
communicating and liaising with unitholders of Champion REIT.
Prior to joining Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited, Mr. Choo
served at Kingsway Fund Management Limited from May 2001
until November 2005, where he took the position of director. Mr.
Choo first entered the asset management industry in 1989 when
he joined DBS Asset Management in Singapore.

Mr. Choo graduated magna cum laude from the University of
Pennsylvania with a Bachelor of Science in Engineering (Electrical
Engineering) in 1989.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERENREEAEBE

XIONG Jing

Mr. Xiong is the Chief Financial Officer of the REIT Manager.
He is employed by the Onshore Manager Subsidiary. Mr. Xiong
has nearly 10 years of experience in the finance industry. He has
been the financial manager of CML since May 2017 and currently
holds the position of general manager of China Merchants
Land (Shenzhen) Limited (& B & ORI BR A 7). He was
responsible for financial matters at CMSK from June 2013 to
May 2017. Prior to that, he was a project manager at Shinewing
Certified Public Accountants, Shenzhen Branch* ({3 7k # A1 &
=HET S 7 PRI 9 FT) from December 2010 to June 2013 and
worked at BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certified Public Accountants,
Shenzhen Branch* ({2 @&t EHFTEIISD FT) from December
2009 to November 2010. Mr. Xiong obtained a Bachelor of
Science (majoring in Optical Information Science and Technology)
from Hebei University in June 2008.

CHEN Yan
Ms. Chen is the Internal Auditor of the REIT Manager.

Ms. Chen is a certified internal auditor designated by the Institute
of Internal Auditors. Ms. Chen has served as the financial
controller of CML since January 2018. She previously served as the
vice-financial controller of CML from May 2017 to January 2018.
Prior to joining CML, she was a senior manager of the financial
department of CMSK from October 2009 to July 2016, and was
appointed as a senior directing finance manager from July 2016 to
May 2017.

Ms. Chen obtained a Master’s Degree in Accounting and Business
Studies from Sun Yat-Sen University in 2002. She was qualified as
a Certified Public Accountant in the PRC in 2002.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B WD

OVERVIEW

In recent years China’s gross domestic products (GDP) growth has
been decelerating, but the trend of Chinese economic expansion
has been maintained. The Chinese Government is now shifting its
focus to the quality of economic development and the structural
adjustment of the economy rather than pursuing solely numeric
growth. In 2019, the overall GDP of China reached approximately
RMB99.09 trillion and the GDP per capita exceeded US$10,000
for the first time, reaching US$10,276.

The formation of the Greater Bay Area represents the Chinese
Government’s forward-looking strategy for attracting the
spotlight under intense international competition. It was
established with reference to other well-developed bay areas
in the world, with an aim of fully utilizing the complementary
strengths of and sharing the resources of the different cities of
the region. The Greater Bay Area consists of nine cities in the Pearl
River Delta, as well as Hong Kong and Macao. Its aggregate GDP
accounted for approximately 12% of the GDP of China in 2018. In
the future, the Greater Bay Area will play an important role as one
of the core engines of economic growth in China.

Shenzhen is the largest city in terms of GDP in the Greater Bay
Area and one of the core cities under the strategic plan to develop
the region. In August 2019, the PRC Government promulgated
its “Opinions on Supporting Shenzhen in Building a Pioneering
Demonstration Zone for Socialism with Chinese Characteristics’
promoting Shenzhen as a comprehensive international science
and technology innovation centre in the Greater Bay Area.
The Chinese Government has launched eight initiatives to
attract talent and professionals from Hong Kong and Macao to
Shenzhen and this will stimulate additional demand for office and
commercial space in the region over the medium term.

Located in the western part of the Shenzhen Special Economic
Zone, Shekou started as an industrial zone in 1979, and gradually
transformed into a well-developed high-tech and service-oriented
business district. Shekou, as a part of the Qianhai-Shekou Pilot
Free Trade Zone, serves as a hub of scientific and technological
innovation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN wmeA DT

OVERVIEW (continued)

Our assets are in Shekou Shenzhen because of our core strategy
of capitalizing on the development of the Greater Bay Area; this
prime footprint and the comprehensive support provided by China
Merchants Group allowed China Merchants Commercial REIT
to achieve strong revenue growth. Through competitive leasing
programmes and judicious management by the REIT Manager, the
forecast set out in the Offering Circular was exceeded.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B WD

INDUSTRY REVIEW

Shenzhen

In 2019, leasing demand for Grade A office space in Shenzhen
was comparatively soft, and rental levels weakened. Due to
operational difficulties and pessimism over prospects and
profitability, small and medium-sized enterprises tightened
control over costs and tended to lease premises in sub-areas of
the central business district (CDB) or Grade B offices because of
their lower rental rates.

New supply of 536,000 sq.m. was recorded in Shenzhen for the
year, of which 40% was located in the Qianhai sub-district. Due
to the sluggish demand for space, the vacancy rate for office
properties increased, reaching 22.04% by the end of the year
(Source: Cushman & Wakefield, January 2020). The prevailing
economic slowdown combined with the large supply of new
buildings intensified competition in the leasing market. Property
owners tended to accept lower rental rates in a bid to achieve
their targeted occupancy rate for the end of the year, resulting
in a substantial drop in rental levels, especially in the central
business district of Futian where there was intense competition
among quality projects. The peripheral district of Houhai was
well supported by industry clustering and rental levels there were
relatively stable and declined only marginally.

The demand for retail space in Shenzhen remained stable in 2019.
New supply of 786,000 sg.m. of prime retail space was recorded
for the year, 66% of which were located in new areas under
development (Source: Cushman & Wakefield, January 2020).
There was however a healthy rate of new store openings, and this
prevented the retail vacancy rate from rising. There were 9 new
projects for the year and 90% of new supply came online in the
second half of the year. By the end of the year, the occupation
rate was almost full for most of the new projects, and the massive
and concentrated supply exerted no material upward pressure on
vacancy rates. In 2019, the overall vacancy rate of retail properties
at 4% was similar to that of 2018 (Source: Cushman & Wakefield,
January 2020).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B WED

INDUSTRY REVIEW (continued)

Shekou

In 2019, the huge supply and low absorption of new supply of
Grade A office space in Shekou increased office vacancy rates. The
new supply of Grade A office buildings was 96,167 sq.m. while
absorption was approximately 40,000 sqg.m., resulting in a rise in
vacancy rate from 18% in 2018 to 30% in 2019. Unlike for the
Grade A office market, there was much less imbalance between
supply and demand for Grade B office buildings in Shekou, due
primarily to the fact that there was no new supply of Grade B
office buildings in Shekou from 2016 to 2019. Demand has been
relatively steady, and there was only a slight increase in the Grade
B vacancy rate to 15% in 2019. Due to the continuous new supply
in Grade A office buildings, and the decline in demand due to
short-term factors (e.g. the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic)
and medium-term factors (e.g. downward economic cycle and the
trade war between China and U.S.), the Grade A vacancy rate will
continue to rise and remain high in the coming two to three years.
On the other hand, Grade B office building market will experience
less fluctuation due to limited supply and any spillover effect from
the Grade A office market.

In 2019, the vacancy rate of retail properties in Shekou was
maintained at around 5%. New supply included the 50,000 sg.m.
Huigang 2, which had yet to begin business operations in 2019.
In light of the orderly supply and different positioning of shopping
centers, and Shekou’s comprehensive supporting infrastructure,
steady growth in retail rentals was maintained. Although the
outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic will suppress retail absorption
in the short-term, upon the end of virus outbreak, the continuous
inflow in population and further infrastructural improvement are
expected to cap retail vacancy rates at healthy levels over the
coming two to three years even as rental rates resume their stable
growth (Source: Knight Frank, January 2020).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B WD

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO

Property Overview

China Merchants Commercial REIT's portfolio comprises the
following five properties (the “Properties”) in Shekou, Shenzhen,
all of which are (i) well-served by public transportation and
(i) equipped with car parking spaces:

New Times Plaza

a Grade A office building with an aggregate Gross Floor Area
(“Gross Floor Area”) of 87,337.0 sq.m. that is adjacent to the
Sea World commercial area and near to Prince Bay, an emerging
office and retail commercial district;

Cyberport Building, Technology Building and Technology
Building 2

three office complexes with an aggregate Gross Floor Area of
124,545.0 sq.m. repurposed from buildings technically zoned
for industrial use. They are located in the Shekou Net Valley,
a business hub for high-tech companies and startups that has
been earmarked by the Nanshan Government for promoting
e-commerce and other emerging technology industries;

Garden City Shopping Centre

the first large-scale integrated commercial complex featuring
shopping, dining, lifestyle and entertainment facilities in Shekou.
The complex has an aggregate Gross Floor Area of 50,496.9 sg.m.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B WED

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO (continued)

Particulars of the Properties

MEAE @)
YEFE

Occupancy rate

hrgii B
Total

rental income Average
Actual as at  Previous as at (during the Gross monthly
31 December 30 September Reporting rentable rental per
2019 2019 Period) area leased sq.m.
BBR2019%F  BER20195F REEHH BHASTAK
124318 9A308 WHEUARE - THEAEER HTSARE
RMB'000 sg.m. RMB/sq.m.
ARBT ¥k AR/ FHK
New Times Plaza HRRES 96.4% 76.3% 8,413 67,600.0 164.3
Cyberport Building E YN 74.0% 84.1% 2,493 40,4413 108.3
Technology Building BEAE 100.0% 100.0% 2,866 41,546.3 87.2
Technology Building 2 MEAE—H 92.6% 88.0% 2,712 43,093.5 100.5
Garden City Shopping Centre TR 76.0% 79.1% 6,429 57,321.8 173.8

Total Property Portfolio ESIEEH 88.0% 84.1% 22,913 250,002.9

The overall occupancy rate of the property portfolio increased
from 84.1% as at 30 September 2019 to 88.0% as at 31
December 2019, representing an increase of 3.9%. Technology
Building maintained a 100% occupancy rate, while the occupancy
rate of New Times Plaza increased from 76.3% to 96.4%.

BEYEEAMETHEH2019F9A308H84.1%18
INZE2019412 A31HH88.0% » 1#£113.9% - Bl A
EHF100% R EHEE - MR ESNTEAER
76.3%38%96.4% °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B WD

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO (continued)

Property Valuation

A valuation of the properties as of 31 December 2019 was
carried out by Cushman & Wakefield Limited, an independent
property valuer and the REIT's principal valuer, and the updated
market value was approximately RMB6,609 million. The following
table shows the valuation of each individual property as of 31
December 2019, 30 September 2019 and 31 December 2018:

WEES @)

MEMLE

M20195F12A31H - MEHBETMEMLEMRET
BEEMBERTERABETHE  MEEST
BEHNAAREE6,609BET - FTRBMMN2019F12 A
31H - 201949 H30H K2018F 12 A3 1B EY %
KIfE1E -

Difference
£8
31 December 30 September
Valuation as at Valuation as at Valuation as at 2019 vs 2019 vs
31 December 30 September 31 December 30 September 31 December
Name of Property ESE:! 2019 2019 2018 2019 2018
2019% 2019%
#2019% R20195 R2018%F 12A31H 9A30A
128318 9A30H 128318 20195 #2018%
Wi HWEE HitE 9A30A 12A318
RMB million RMB million RMB million
ARBEER ARBEER ARBEER
New Times Plaza HERES 2,061 2,046 1,990 0.7% 2.8%
Cyberport Building YBAE 1,039 1,038 962 0.1% 7.9%
Technology Building BHRAE 868 867 801 0.1% 8.2%
Technology Building 2 REAEZH 1,082 1,079 1,004 0.3% 7.5%
Garden City Shopping Centre B 1,559 1,549 1,378 0.6% 12.4%
Total @i 6,609 6,579 6,135 0.5% 7.2%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO (continued)

Tenant’s Industry Profile

The following pie charts depict the industry profile of our tenants
by reference to their Gross Rentable Area as a percentage of the
total Gross Rentable Area as at 31 December 2019, and their
percentage contribution to Gross Rental Income in December
2019:

Percentage of Gross Rentable Area
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Notes:

(1) The Tenants’ industry sector are based on the classification of the REIT
Manager.

(2)  Manufacturing includes tenants who engage in the business of manufacturing
electronics and digital products. They use their leased premises as office.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB WD

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO (continued)

Lease Expiry

The following charts set out the tenant expiry profile of the
properties with respect to their Gross Rentable Area as of 31
December 2019 and Gross Rental Income in December 2019:

Percentage of Gross Rentable Area
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO (continued)

New Times Plaza

New Times Plaza was completed in 1997 and is a Grade A office
building with a total Gross Rentable Area of 67,600 sg.m. It
comprises (a) a 2-storey podium; (b) a 34-storey office tower; and
(c) 212 car parking spaces. New Times Plaza is acclaimed for the
excellence of its architectural design and the high quality of its
construction and workmanship. It has received numerous awards
through the years, such as:

e the China Construction Engineering Luban Prize bestowed
by the Ministry of Construction of the PRC (currently known
as the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of
the PRC) and the China Construction Industry Association in
1999;

e the Shenzhen Outstanding Building for Property
Management from the Housing and Construction Bureau of
Shenzhen in 1999;

e recognition as a Building of National Standard because
of its building management quality, from the Ministry of
Construction of the PRC (currently known as the Ministry of
Housing and Urban-Rural Development of the PRC) in 2000;
and

e recognition as a Garden Style Building (Development) by
the Shenzhen Municipal People's Government Municipality
Administration Office) and the Housing Bureau of Shenzhen
Municipality in 2001.

New Times Plaza is located on the eastern side of Nanhai Avenue
in the Sea World commercial area, a dense commercial and
recreational district. Near New Times Plaza one can find reputable
hotels and banks, a large international convention centre (with
its own guest rooms and apartments), office buildings, and
abundant food and beverage outlets. The area is well-served by
public transportation and New Times Plaza is approximately a
5-minute'walk from the Sea World Station of Metro Line 2. The
same station will serve Metro Line 12 when the line commences
operations in 2022.
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO (continued)
New Times Plaza (¥785{X/E35) (continued)
Tenant Profile

Industry

Percentage of Gross Rentable Area

HAHERAEENES
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Others®? =g
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A
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i
19.1%

Note 1. The tenants’ industry sectors are based on the classification of the REIT
Manager.

Note 2: Others include tenants who engage in the hotel management, trading,
technology, construction, engineering, supermarket and food and beverage

industry sectors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO (continued)
New Times Plaza (378X &%) (continued)
Tenant Profile (continued)

Duration of the Tenancy Agreements

Percentage of Gross Rentable Area
EAHEREENES

50

40.7%

Expiry Period
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Bl Year ending 31 December 2020
B 12020512 A31HIEEE

B Year ending 31 December 2021 B Vacant
HI2021F12A31HIEFE TE
[ Year ending 31 December 2022
B1E20224F12 A31ALEEFE
Cyberport Building

Cyberport Building was completed in 2009. It is a Grade B office
building complex with a total Gross Rentable Area of 40,441.3 sq.m.
comprising (a) a 9-storey office building and a 6-storey office building
connected on Levels 1 and 2; (b) commercial space for retail units
located at Level 1; and (c) 255 car parking spaces. Cyberport Building
features a central garden between its two buildings and glass facades
that allow natural sunlight to penetrate into the property, creating an
airy and spacious environment for tenants.

Cyberport Building is located on the western side of Nanhai Avenue,
in a district designated for e-commerce. There is a kindergarten,
a large scale hypermarket, a shopping centre, reputable banks
and a local hospital nearby, and these surrounding amenities
form a sustainable complimentary community that provides great
convenience to its tenants. The area is also well-served by public
transportation; Cyberport Building is a 10-minute walk from Shuiwan
Station of Metro Line 2 and when Metro Line 12 commences
operations in 2022, it will take only 1 minute to walk to Sihai Station
of Line 12.
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO (continued)
Cyberport Building (continued)
Tenant Profile

Industry

Percentage of Gross Rentable Area
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Note 1: The tenants' industry sectors are based on the classification of the REIT  ##7 - FAFTEIVUEAEEBANDBAEE -

Note 2:

Note 3:

Manager.

Commerce include tenants who engage in commercial service, retail and  i#2 - FEBREXREHERS - TERBSTENRL -

wholesale industry sectors.

Others include tenants who engage in sports, finance, real estate and ~ ##3: HihBENLEES - @/  BHENYEEESTENR

property management industry sectors.
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO (continued)
Cyberport Building (continued)

Tenant Profile (continued)

Duration of the Tenancy Agreements

Percentage of Gross Rentable Area
EAHEREENE S
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Technology Building

Technology Building was completed in 2002. It is a Grade B
office building complex with a total Gross Rentable Area of
41,546.3 sq.m. The building complex comprises (a) a 7-storey
main building; (b) a 6-storey annex building; and (c) 110 car
parking spaces. Technology Building is a building focusing on
tenants from high-tech industries in Shekou. Technology Building
adopts a clean and sleek design with glass facades and from time
to time organises networking events to support its high-tech
industry tenants. Since 30 September 2019, Technology Building
has expanded its Gross Rentable Area by 12 sg.m.
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO (continued)

Technology Building (continued)

Technology Building is located on the western side of Nanhai Avenue
in the Shekou Net Valley, an e-commerce area integrated with
high-tech and cultural industries including publishing, the fine arts,
advertising and design. Schools, hotels, restaurants, food streets
and reputable banks are nearby. Technology Building and these
surrounding amenities form a sustainable complimentary community
that is of great convenience to tenants. The area is well-served by
public transportation; Technology Building is a 15-minute walk from
Shuiwan Station of Metro Line 2 and when Metro Line 12 commences
operations in 2022, it will take approximately 5 minutes to walk to
Gongye 6th Road Station of Metro Line 12.

Tenant Profile
Industry

Percentage of Gross Rentable Area
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Note 1: The tenants’ industry sectors are based on the classification of the REIT
Manager.

Note 2: Others include industry sectors such as business service, finance and
supermarket.
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO (continued) I ESER=NE )
Technology Building (continued) BB KE(#)
Tenant Profile (continued) HEBR (&)
Duration of the Tenancy Agreements HE AR
Percentage of Gross Rentable Area Percentage of Total Monthly Income
EAHEREENE S EEARABENESL
50 50
40 40
31.8% 32.2%

Expiry Period

=Rl
Bl Year ending 31 December 2020 Year ending 31 December 2023 and beyond
B1E20205F12A31BIEFE B 12023512 A31 HIEFE kAL

[l Year ending 31 December 2021
#H1E2021F12A31HIEFE

[ Year ending 31 December 2022
E1E2022F12A31 AL E
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO (continued)

Technology Building 2

Technology Building 2 was completed in 2010. It is a Grade B office
building complex. Technology Building 2 has a total Gross Rentable
Area of 43,093.5 sq.m. The complex comprises (a) two 6-storey
industrial workshops; and (b) 220 car parking spaces.

Technology Building 2 is located at the western side of Nanhai Avenue
in Shekou Net Valley. The surroundings of office building complex
are similar to those of Technology Building. There are schools, hotels,
restaurants, food streets and reputable banks near the complex and
these community amenities provide great convenience to tenants. The
area is well-served by public transportation; Technology Building 2 is
15 minutes on foot from Shuiwan Station of Metro Line 2 and when
Metro Line 12 commences operations in 2022, it will take a minute to
walk to Gongye 6th Road Station of Metro Line 12.

Tenant Profile

Industry
Percentage of Gross Rentable Area
HAHERAEENES
Others?  Vacant
Hipo &
Business service 6.49% 7.4%
BRI ES
5.5%
Manufacturing
8.0%
Financial
investment
ﬁfgﬂg%nﬁ Scientific and
’ information
technology
[RE I
BB

62.7%

Note 1. The tenants’ industry sectors are based on the classification of the REIT

Manager.

Note 2: Others include industry sectors such as food and beverages and real estate.
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mgREy 0%
7.0%

Manufacturing

ESCES
9.6%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO (continued)
Technology Building 2 (continued)
Tenant Profile (continued)

Duration of the Tenancy Agreements

Percentage of Gross Rentable Area
EAHEREENE S

50
45.0%

40

32.5%

Expiry Period

Ji& v B

B Year ending 31 December 2020
B1F20206F12 A318 IEFE

[l Year ending 31 December 2021
HI2021F12A31HIEFE

@ Year ending 31 December 2022
H1E2022F12A31B L FE

MEARSE &)
BEKXKE=H#)
R ()
HEZHR

Percentage of Total Monthly Income

EEARABENE DL

50
44.6%

40 37.2%

30

20

10 g4% 8%

Year ending 31 December 2023 and beyond
B1E20235F12 A31 A ILFE RIAE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO (continued)

Garden City Shopping Centre

Garden City Shopping Centre was completed in 2006 and is
the first large-scale integrated commercial complex featuring
shopping, dining, lifestyle and entertainment activities in the
Shekou sub-district. Garden City Shopping Centre has a total
Gross Rentable Area of 57,321.8 sq.m. and comprises (a)
5-storeys or retail shops; (b) 644 car parking spaces; and (c) a
2-storey basement with ancillary facilities that enhance the retail
experience of shoppers at the complex.

Garden City Shopping Centre is located at the eastern side of
Nanhai Avenue and the southern side of Dong Bin Tunnel. There
are hotels, restaurants, reputable banks and a hypermarket
nearby and it is a one minute walk from Garden City Shopping
Centre to the neighbouring residential complex via a footbridge.
The complex is located in a commercial cum residential area that is
well-served by public transportation such as franchised buses and
taxis. One of the exits of Metro Line 12, expected to commence
operations in 2022, will be directly connected to Garden City
Shopping Centre.

Tenant Profile
Industry

Percentage of Gross Rentable Area

A HERAEENE S
Others®
Supermarket® Hi @
BB @ o e
10.5% Vacant
=B

24%
Life services?

HER @
20.1%

Department store
BEHE

Food and beverage 23.6%
2

=
22.4%

Note 1: The tenants’ industry sectors are based on the classification of the REIT
Manager

Note 2: Life services industry consists of those in the entertainment, education,
beauty and wellness industry sectors.

Note 3: Supermarket consists of sports shops and digital hypermarkets etc.

Note 4: Others consist of those in the banking industry sector.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO (continued) I ESER=NE )
Garden City Shopping Centre (/&) (continued) TEEW ()
Tenant Profile (continued) HEBR (&)
Duration of the Tenancy Agreements T E 7 RR

Percentage of Gross Rentable Area Percentage of Total Monthly Income

EAHEREENE S HEARALENE DL
50 50
40 40 38.9%

30 30
24.4% 24.0%

224% 22.9%

20

Expiry Period

Ji& vk HA

[l Year ending 31 December 2020 Year ending 31 December 2023 and beyond
#1E20205F12 A31BIEFE #1E20235F12 A31HILFE RIAE

[l Year ending 31 December 2021 B Vacant
12021512 A31BIEFE =B

@ Year ending 31 December 2022
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FUTURE STRATEGIES

The REIT Manager’s key objectives for China Merchants
Commercial REIT are to provide Unitholders with stable
distributions, sustainable and long-term distribution growth.
To achieve this, the prime task of the management team in the
next three years is to focus on ways to increase the operating
income of the five existing properties, including the plan on asset
enhancement as referred to in the Offering Circular. The REIT
Manager will develop a results-oriented plan with the onshore
operations team, incorporating a detailed completion timeline
and individual accountability. It is expected that the completion
of asset enhancement initiatives together with the approaching
launch of Metro Line 12 in 2022 will promote the overall
rental level of the properties year by year. Leases are managed
effectively and proactively, improving the degree of refinement in
tenant composition and professionalism of value-added services.
For the acquisition of new assets, the REIT Manager will search for
special investment opportunities in addition to actively screening
the assets of China Merchants Group for suitable injections into
China Merchants Commercial REIT.

PREVENTION OF COVID-19

Since the outbreak of COVID-19, the REIT Manager has actively
implemented a series of prevention and control measures to
strengthen the hygiene standards. Thanks to the low-density
community nature of the property portfolio of China Merchants
Commercial REIT, the operation and activities of staff and tenants
have fully resumed. Besides, the REIT Manager has also launched
flexible tenancy strategies and maintained good relationship with
tenants during the outbreak of COVID-19 in a bid to realise a
diversified and stable tenant structure in the future.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Annual Distributable Income for the Reporting Period was
approximately RMB12,245,000, which represents an annualised
provisional distribution yield of 6.1%, based on the closing
price of the Units on 31 December 2019 (being HK$3.33). The
operation of China Merchants Commercial REIT remained stable
during the Reporting Period, with smooth rental collection and no
rental delinquencies during the Reporting Period.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (continued)

The rent and occupancy rate of the five properties under China
Merchants Commercial REIT achieved a steady growth during
the Reporting Period. The total revenue of China Merchants
Commercial REIT for the Reporting Period was approximately
RMB28,759,000, which is 20.6% higher than the forecast
for the same period set out in the Offering Circular. The total
rental income for China Merchants Commercial REIT reached
approximately RMB22,913,000 which is 12.7% higher than the
forecast in the Offering Circular.

The property operating expenses of China Merchants Commercial
REIT for the Reporting Period were RMB11,071,000. Property tax
and other taxes contributed to 19.5% of the property operating
expenses; while property management and operations manager’s
fee contributed to 57.5% of the property operating expenses.
The net property income was RMB17,688,000 for the Reporting
Period.

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2019, the total asset value of China Merchants
Commercial REIT was RMB8,078 million, which includes
RMB1,461 million of cash. Such cash includes RMB956 million
which has been earmarked to repay the Unassigned Frontier
Payables (as defined in the Offering Circular) by April 2020.
The cash is mainly denominated in Renminbi, and no currency
hedge was employed. The gearing ratio of China Merchants
Commercial REIT (representing a ratio of total net borrowings
of RMB1,888 million to total asset value of RMB8,078 million)
was approximately 23.4%, which is lower than the permitted
limit of 45% as required by the Code on Real Estate Investment
Trusts (the “REIT Code”). The total net borrowings of RMB1,888
million represent 26.5% of the total gross asset value if the
Unassigned Frontier Payables and the cash earmarked to repay
the Unassigned Frontier Payables are disregarded. Pursuant to
the onshore facility agreement and offshore facility agreement
entered into between the banks and the PRC Property Companies
(as defined in the Offering Circular) in November 2019, China
Merchants Commercial REIT has obtained onshore loan facility
and offshore loan facility of RMB100 million and RMB2,400
million, respectively. As at 31 December 2019, China Merchants
Commercial REIT has drawn down an amount of RMB1,901
million from the abovementioned offshore loan facility, which is
repayable on 15 December 2022.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (continued) Bt &R\ ()
Net Assets Attributable to Unitholders EeBNRBFEARKEERE
As at 31 December 2019, net assets attributable to Unitholders 720195128310 » A2 B FAAEGEAESEE
amounted to RMB3,787 million or RMB3.36 per Unit. BARBI78S7TEE T BEESEMARKI36
7TE °
The Top 5 Real Estate Agents and Contractors EREHERERAERE
Value of contract/
Real estate agents and contractors Nature commission paid Percentage
EHERERAESH RS2 EHEE /EAES Bk
RMB
AR¥®T
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Property management 1,173,000 18.3%
Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd." MEEE R
RO tEER(RINBRAF
A REWGEHERRAT) Leasing 711,000 11.1%
e
AT EIRAR AT Renovation and maintenance 500,000 7.8%
REREE
ERBEESERBRAR Renovation and maintenance 446,000 6.9%
REREE
FYMIeBREEHIRERAA Renovation and maintenance 400,000 6.2%
REREE
Total 3,230,000 50.3%
st
* The English names are for identification only * B EHEHRSE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (“ESG") REVIEW

RS -HEREGHE

China Merchants Commercial REIT is managed by the REIT
Manager who in turn has delegated the functions of property
management to China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Management
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. and Shenzhen Investment Promotion
Real Estate Management Co., Ltd. pursuant to the Operations
Management Agreement and the Property Management
Agreements. (China Merchants Commercial REIT, the REIT
Manager and parties who have been delegated functions are
collectively referred to as “we” hereinafter) With the greater
concerns of the climate change, resources scarcity and energy
use in worldwide, embedding sustainability in our business
development strategy is the crux of driving the business growth
and enable us to effectively address the environmental and social
risks along the day-to-day operation. With the implementation of
various environmental initiatives and the green building features
in our managed properties, we strive to minimise the adverse
impacts on the environment regarding to waste disposal and to
increase the efficiency of resources use in particularly to energy
and water conservation, in order to reduce the overall carbon
footprint in our property operations.

In adherence to the core value of customer first, courageousness,
coordinating and creating a win-win situation, we strive to
offer a safe, inclusive and motivated working environment to
our employees. We place emphasis on the personal growth and
career development of our employees. We encourage continuous
learning and provide a series of training programmes for the
employees based on the position level to acquire professional
knowledge and technical skills, in order to support and achieve
the goals of corporate business development.

We aim to gain the highest customer satisfaction and trust,
by delivering the standardised, professional and attentive
property management services and intelligent service innovation.
Through the periodic tenant visits and surveys, we regularly
communicate with our customers regarding the service provision
and performance, which enable us to appropriately identify and
address their evolving needs, concerns and expectations on our
property services. With close cooperation and engagement with
our tenants, we continue to make improvements on the standard
of property management services.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (“ESG”) REVIEW
RE - HEREAHME

We maintain fair and transparent relationships with our suppliers P4t EE Lk REEA BB REAFEBMNEIE - £
and service contractors. We have standardised procedure in  HEREABEEEMRBZEED - RIFIRBIEEL
supplier & contractor selection and tendering management, which 2% » UERHEEEERMENIRBELZER LR
ensure their qualifications and capabilities in delivering quality 7% - BMFHEEKFOREESNE - SRERED ZR
products and services. To uphold the highest standard of business HEBEAEASBEHAMETRANREBRHEFER °
integrity, we require our suppliers and service contractors to

observe our anti-corruption and anti-competitive practices in our

business partnerships.

For details of the environmental, social and governance HARRE HEeREAETENFEE  BFL2HEERTIR
matters, please refer to the individual environmental, social and AERZE=ANTIHNBIRE L REER
governance report that will be published within three months 4 -

after the publication of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERB|E

With the objectives of establishing and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance, policies and procedures have
been put in place to promote the operation of China Merchants
Commercial REIT (“the Trust”) in a transparent manner and
with built-in checks and balances. The corporate governance
policies of the Trust have been adopted having due regard to
the requirements under Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Listing Rules”), with necessary changes as if those rules
were applicable to REITs. Set out below is a summary of the key
components of the corporate governance policies that have been
adopted and will be followed by the REIT Manager and the Trust.
Such policies may be amended by a simple majority vote of all of
the directors.

AUTHORISATION STRUCTURE

China Merchants Commercial REIT is a collective investment
scheme authorised by the Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong (“the SFC”) under section 104 of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
("the SFO") and regulated by certain laws, regulations and
documents including the Code on Real Estate Investment Trusts
("REIT Code”). The REIT Manager has been authorised by the SFC
under section 116 of the SFO to conduct the regulated activity of
asset management. The REIT Manager has three persons who are
approved as Responsible Officers pursuant to the requirements of
the SFO and the REIT Code. They are Mr. Guo Jin, the Executive
Director of the REIT Manager, Mr. Choo Chong Yao, Patrick and
Mr. Zhong Ning.

The Trustee is registered as a trust company under section 77 of
the Trustee Ordinance. The Trustee is qualified to act as a trustee
for collective investment schemes authorized under the SFO
pursuant to the REIT Code.
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ROLES OF THE TRUSTEE AND REIT MANAGER

The Trustee and the REIT Manager are independent of each other.

The Trustee is responsible under the Trust Deed for the safe
custody of the assets of the Trust on behalf of Unitholders and for
overseeing the activities of the REIT Manager for compliance with
the relevant constitutive documents of, and applicable regulatory
requirements applicable to China Merchants Commercial REIT.

The REIT Manager’s role under the Trust Deed is to manage the
Trust and its assets in accordance with the Trust Deed, and in
particular to ensure that the financial and economic aspects of
the Trust's assets are professionally managed in the sole interests
of the Unitholders. In accordance with the REIT Code, the REIT
Manager is required to act in the best interests of Unitholders, to
whom it owes a fiduciary duty.

FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD

As at 31 December 2019, the Board of Directors of the REIT
Manager (“the Board”) comprises seven members, three of
whom are independent non-executive directors. The Board
oversees the management of the REIT Manager’s affairs and
the conduct of its business and is responsible for the overall
governance of the REIT Manager. The Board exercises its general
powers within the limits defined by its constitutional documents,
with a view to ensuring that management discharges its duties
and is compensated appropriately, and that sound internal control
policies and risk management systems are maintained. The Board
will also review major financial decisions and the performance of
the REIT Manager.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board composition will be reviewed regularly to ensure that
the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience and
that the directors being appointed have the relevant expertise and
experience in discharging their duties.

The composition of the Board is determined using the following
principles:

. the Chairman of the Board should be a non-executive
director;

e the Board should have a balance of skill, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate for the requirements of
the Trust’s business and should ensure that changes to its
composition can be managed without undue disruption;

e the Board should have a balanced composition of executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive directors so
that there is a strong independent element on the Board
which can effectively exercise independent judgement;

e the Board should have a policy concerning diversity of the
board members which is appropriate for the requirements of
the Trust’s business, and shall disclose the policy on diversity
or a summary of the policy in the corporate governance
report;

e at least one-third of the Board and a minimum of three
members of the Board should be independent non-executive
directors and at least one independent non-executive
director must have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise; and

e the re-election and further appointment of any independent
non-executive director serving on the Board for nine years
shall be subject to a separate Unitholders’ resolution.
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BOARD COMPOSITION (continued)

Roles of the Key Board Members

The positions of Chairman and the Executive Director are held by
separate persons in order to maintain an effective segregation of
duties.

The Chairman leads the Board discussions and deliberations and
is responsible for setting the meeting agenda of Board meetings.
He ensures that Board meetings are held when necessary. He
promotes high standards of corporate governance and the
maintenance of effective communications with Unitholders.

The Executive Director is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the REIT Manager and China Merchants
Commercial REIT. The Executive Director executes the strategic
plans set out by the Board and ensures that the directors are
kept updated and informed of the Trust's business through
management reports.

Board Diversity Policy

The board diversity policy of the REIT Manager ensures that
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of the Board is
maintained. Selection of candidates is based on a number of
factors, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, gender, knowledge, length of service and
professional experience or skills. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.
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Years as
Members of the Board Position Gender Age Director
ExgpE Bz 5l Fie EEESFH
Huang Junlong Chairman and Non-executive Director Male 54 <1
"EE TRFIFNTES e 545% DR
Guo Jin Executive Director Male 51 <1
g WITES 2 515% DR E
Liu Ning Non-executive Director Female 51 <1
2%z JEITES z 515% DR E
Yu Zhiliang Non-executive Director Male 41 <1
RER FEHITES eS| 415% DR
Lin Hua Independent Non-executive Director Male 44 <1
MEE B IFMITE S =2 445% DRF
Lin Chen Independent Non-executive Director Male 41 <1
WM& B IFRITES = 415% DRE
Lau Sze Wan, Serena Independent Non-executive Director Female 51 <1
2558 BUIFMITES z 515% ENIE:S

50 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2019



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERB|E

BOARD MEETINGS

Board meetings will normally be held at least four times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals. To ensure that directors
will be given sufficient time to consider the issues to be tabled
at the various Board meetings, details of the venue, time and
agenda of the meeting are required to be given at least 10 clear
days in advance of the meeting (except if there are exceptional
circumstances or if the majority of directors agree to a shorter
period of notice).

No Board meeting, or any adjourned Board meeting, will be
quorate unless a simple majority of directors are present at
the time when the relevant business is transacted. If a director
who, whether directly or indirectly, has a material interest in a
contract or proposed contract with the REIT Manager which is
of significance to the REIT Manager’s business, he must declare
the nature of his interest during the Board meeting or by giving
a general notice to the Board, whichever is earlier before the
question of entering into the contract is taken into consideration
on behalf of the REIT Manager. A director who is prohibited from
voting by reason of a conflict of interest or that the REIT Manager
has excluded from voting will not be counted for the purposes of
establishing the necessary quorum for the meeting.

Matters to be considered by the Board will be adopted on the
basis of a simple majority of votes.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has the power to delegate to committees consisting
of such numbers of its body as it thinks fit. Four committees
have been established to assist the Board in discharging its
responsibilities. The committees of the Board have been set up
with clear terms of reference to review specific issues or items
and then to submit their findings and recommendations to the
full Board for consideration and endorsement. Unless the decision
making power has been vested in the relevant committee by the
Board, the ultimate responsibility for making final decisions rests
with the full Board and not the committees. The committees of
the Board are currently as follows:

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee comprises, the Chief Investment and
Asset Management Officer and two directors one of whom shall
be an independent non-executive director. As at the date of this
report, the members of the Investment Committee are Mr. Yu
Zhiliang, Mr. Guo Jin and Mr. Lin Hua. Mr. YU Zhiliang is the
current chairman of the committee.

The Investment Committee is responsible for, among other
matters, evaluating and making recommendations on proposed
acquisitions and disposals of assets, approving budgets and
reviewing actual expenses on all key expenditures and reviewing
quarterly financial performance, forecasts and annual financial
plans of the REIT Manager and China Merchants Commercial REIT.
The Investment Committee also reviews and recommends changes
to delegated authority, policies or procedures in areas such as
accounting, taxes, treasury, distribution payout, investment
appraisal, management and statutory reporting.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises at least three members
appointed by the Board from among the non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors. A majority of the
members of the Audit Committee shall be independent non-
executive directors and at least one of them shall have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Audit Committee must be chaired
by an independent non-executive director. As at the date of this
report, the members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Lin Hua, Mr.
Lin Chen and Ms. Liu Ning. Mr. Lin Hua, is the current chairman of
the committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee is responsible for establishing and
maintaining an adequate internal control structure, effective
financial reporting and risk management systems and ensuring
the quality and integrity of financial statements. The Audit
Committee is also responsible for the nomination of independent
external auditors and reviewing the adequacy of external audits
in respect of cost, scope and performance. The Audit Committee
also ensures the existence and working of an effective system of
internal control and risk management, in respect of both the REIT
Manager and China Merchants Commercial REIT.

The Audit Committee’s responsibilities also include:

e reviewing dealings of the REIT Manager and the directors on
a half-yearly basis;

e reviewing all financial statements and all external audit
reports and developing and implementing a policy on
the engagement of external auditors to supply non-audit
services;

e ensuring the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and guiding the management to take appropriate actions to
remedy any faults or deficiencies in internal controls which
may be identified;

e assisting the Board in its monitoring of the entity’s overall
risk management profile and setting guidelines and policies
to govern risk assessment and risk management;

e periodically reviewing and monitoring all connected party
transactions and related party transactions; and

e reviewing the REIT Manager and The Trust’s compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements on a regular basis.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is appointed
by the Board from among the directors. A majority of the
members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall
be independent non-executive directors. The chairman of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall be the Chairman
or an independent non-executive director. As at the date of
this report, the members of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee are Mr. Huang Junlong, Mr. Lin Chen and Ms. Lau Sze
Wan, Serena. Mr. Huang Junlong is the current chairman of the
committee.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities
include, among other things:

e reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and its
committees at least annually and making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
REIT Manager’s corporate strategy;

e developing the criteria for identifying and assessing the
qualifications of and evaluating candidates for directorship;

e identifying individuals who are qualified/suitable to
become a member of the Board and selecting or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships;

e reviewing the terms and conditions of employment of
all staff and directors and recommend the manpower
deployment plan (including the succession plan for the
management and the Board), remuneration and retirement
policies and packages;

e assessing the independence of independent non-executive
directors to determine their eligibility;

e  reviewing, monitoring and reporting on the REIT Manager's
board diversity policy;

e making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment or removal of directors and succession
planning for directors; and

e making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
and retirement policies and packages for directors and
ensuring that no director is involved in deciding his own
remuneration.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Disclosures Committee

The Disclosures Committee is appointed by the Board from
among the directors. The Disclosures Committee consists of
three directors, one of whom shall be an independent non-
executive director. As at the date of this report, the members of
the Disclosures Committee are Ms. Liu Ning, Mr. Guo Jin and Ms.
Lau Sze Wan, Serena. Ms. Liu Ning is the current chairman of the
committee.

The role of the Disclosures Committee includes reviewing matters
relating to the disclosure of information to Unitholders and public
announcements. The Disclosures Committee also works with the
management of the REIT Manager to ensure that the disclosure
of information is accurate, complete and not misleading. The
Disclosures Committee’s responsibilities include:

e regularly reviewing and making recommendations to
the Board on matters of corporate disclosure issues and
announcements regarding (without limitation) financial
reporting, connected party transactions, and potential areas
of conflicts of interest;

e overseeing compliance with applicable legal requirements
and the continuity, accuracy, clarity, completeness and
currency of information disseminated by or on behalf of The
Trust to the public and applicable regulatory agencies;

e reviewing and approving all material non-public information
and all public regulatory filings of or on behalf of The Trust
prior to such information being disseminated to the public or
filed with applicable regulatory agencies, as applicable;

° reviewing periodic and current reports, proxy statements,
information statements, registration statements and any
other information filed with regulatory bodies;

e reviewing press releases containing financial information,
information about material acquisitions or dispositions or
other information material to the Unitholders; and

e reviewing correspondence containing financial information
disseminated to the Unitholders.

BEEZEEwm)

WEZEE
BEZEEREMEFEAEFTE(L c RESES
H-REEER AP RAABYIERTEE - R
AWEEH REZBEMMBAZEL L - Bk
ERBEELT c AEL T ARBEEE QAL -

KREZEENRECRBENNESEMIFA ARE?
HEAARBERAMNEBEE - WEZEERE
AEEANEEEBAE  BREENENSER <
EEEREKRD - WEZEENEIRE

L

T S

e THEMHAREREFE REBETRRN)E
BHE  BEALXZRAURFAMNEEHRE
BHDh U biEEREESREER

s EEEAIEARETEREIEZRTNENR
UEEARARIERNEE#RBEMENNE
B BRI JBMTIE - SERMERERIE

s RERAIEKRRAARBMAMERNWEEH
BREIBE(WER) A - BERIEMRBIER
HEREHEMBRAREEFE

. EBNARERBREIOTHRDNES KX
EERP  AHESY  BREARCARMLE
oK

o EHMMEAMBER FREREBIHENE
M ESEUREAMEBEANEMER
EVETE M &

. BUAESEGREABGREVBERNE
e

SEoNESH RERBERERES 55



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

ATTENDANCE

i R 8%

The REIT Manager held one Board meeting over the period from EFEEE AR2019F11822H=2019F12A31H
when the Board of Directors was formed on 22 November 2019 KU EESHHLET - REZTSSHE - SESM
to 31 December 2019. The attendance of individual directors at ZBHENEFEeEMNSEETZESSRNHELEN
Board Meetings and various Board Committee Meetings convened T :
is as follows:
Committee
Z8g
Nomination &
Directors Board Meeting Investment Audit Remuneration Disclosures
= EEEER RE FiZ RAEARFH wE
Huang Junlong 11 - - - -
=HE
Guo Jin 171 - - - -
Bl
Liu Ning 1M1 _ _ _ _
Gl
Yu Zhiliang 171 - - - -
RER
Lin Hua 171 - - - -
I
Lin Chen 1/1 - - - -
wE
Lau Sze Wan, Serena 11 - - - -
23
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST %Uéﬁifﬂ
All conflicts of interest shall be managed by the Board in SAREBEETEE AWBSEZMANERE
accordance with the articles of association of the REIT Manager @ EHRRROIEEFRBNEER - FrEEREAAR
and applicable laws, rules and regulations. The REIT Manager shall  RFFE EREFEABNNREEDESIE LFER - BLit
ensure that all conflicts of interest relating to The Trust shall be  Z&HEUT I

managed and avoided. The following measures are taken in this
regard:

e the REIT Manager will be a dedicated manager to China
Merchants Commercial REIT and, unless with the approval of
the SFC, the REIT Manager will not manage any REIT other
than China Merchants Commercial REIT nor manage other
real estate assets other than those in which The Trust has an
ownership interest or investment;

e the REIT Manager will ensure that it will be able to function
independently from its shareholders and all senior executives
and officers will be employed by the REIT Manager or the
Onshore Manager Subsidiary on a full time basis and solely
be dedicated to the operations of The Trust;

56 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2019

EREREAAHEREXRTESERER
/\ BIEEFESHE  TARBELEEREART
EERERRERREERUINNEMNEME
iﬁfxﬁ,\faﬁgﬁ NP EERETHEER
FRENEHEEENIIMIEMEEERE

%%%EA%ﬁ%ETﬁ P E R AT B

CFHBEEEAEEANERE %%AW%@
z%%%mm@ﬁﬁAE&alﬂiémﬁﬁ
R ETSEE



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST (continued)

the REIT Manager has established procedures to deal with
conflicts of interest under its compliance manual;

the REIT Manager has established internal control systems
to ensure that connected party transactions between China
Merchants Commercial REIT and its connected persons are
monitored and undertaken according to procedures and/or
on terms in compliance with the REIT Code (or where
applicable, in compliance with the waiver conditions imposed
by the SFC) and that other potential conflicts of interest that
may arise are monitored;

all conflicts of interest involving a Significant Unitholder or a
director, or a connected person through such entities, will be
managed by a physical Board meeting rather than through
a written resolution and all independent non-executive
directors who, and whose associates, have no material
interest in the matter should be present at such Board
meeting; and

a director who has material interests in a matter which is the
subject of a resolution proposed at a Board meeting of the
REIT Manager shall abstain from voting on the resolution
concerned.

The REIT Manager has established an internal control system
intended to ensure that connected party transactions between
China Merchants Commercial REIT and its connected persons are
monitored and are undertaken on terms in compliance with the
REIT Code. All connected party transactions must be:

carried out at arm’s length, on normal commercial terms and
in an open and transparent manner;

valued, in relation to a property transaction, by an
independent property valuer;

consistent with The Trust’'s investment objectives and
strategy;
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CONFLICTS OF INTEREST (continued)

e in the best interests of Unitholders;
e properly disclosed to Unitholders; and

e approved by the independent non-executive directors of the
REIT Manager (or a committee thereof) and, where the prior
approval of Unitholders is required, the independent non-
executive directors of the REIT Manager (or a committee
thereof) shall confirm, in a letter set out in the circular
to Unitholders, whether the terms and conditions of the
transaction are fair and reasonable and in the best interests
of Unitholders and whether Unitholders should vote in favour
of the resolution.

The REIT Manager must demonstrate to the independent non-
executive directors and the Audit Committee that all connected
party transactions satisfy the foregoing criteria, which may entail
(where practicable) obtaining quotations from independent
third parties, or obtaining one or more valuation letters from
independent professional valuers.

Prior approval of Unitholders is required for connected party
transactions where the value of the transaction is five percent
or more of the latest Net Asset Value of China Merchants
Commercial REIT, subject to any waivers granted by the SFC. Save
for the appointment or removal of the REIT Manager, a Unitholder
is prohibited from voting its Units at, or being part of a quorum
for, any meeting of Unitholders convened to approve any matter
in which the Unitholder has a material interest in the business to
be conducted and that interest is different from the interest of
other Unitholders.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for overseeing the risk
management and internal control systems of the Trust and
ensuring that these systems are effectively maintained. Various
risk areas relevant to real estate investment trusts will be analysed
regularly and monitored by the REIT Manager, including tenant
concentration risk, property damage risk, currency risk, interest
rate risk, debt refinancing risk, regulatory risk, litigation risk and
operational risk. The Board will meet semi-annually to review
the risks to the assets and business of The Trust and discuss the
implementation of risk mitigations measures.

The internal auditor of the REIT Manager (the “Internal Auditor”)
conducts independent reviews to ensure the adequacy,
effectiveness and efficiency of operational processes and internal
controls. The Board will consider and, if appropriate, act upon any
recommendations from the Internal Auditor. Based on a three-
year strategic audit plan approved by the Audit Committee, the
Internal Auditor conducts financial, operations and compliance
reviews, recurring and ad-hoc audits, fraud investigation and
process efficiency reviews. A summary report with key findings,
improvement recommendations and implementation status is
provided to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. As China
Merchants Commercial REIT was listed on the Stock Exchange on
10 December 2019, the Board has not conducted a review of the
risk management and internal control of the REIT Manager during
the Reporting Period.

The REIT Manager has adopted a Compliance Manual which sets
out corporate governance policies as well as the responsibilities
and functions of each key officer. The Compliance Manual also
clearly defines reporting channels, workflows, and specifies
procedures and forms designed to facilitate the compliance of the
REIT Manager with various provisions of the Trust Deed, the SFO,
the REIT Code and other relevant rules and regulations. During
the period under review, the REIT Manager has in material terms
complied with the provisions of the Compliance Manual.
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GENERAL MEETINGS

China Merchants Commercial REIT will in each calendar year
hold an annual general meeting in addition to any other general
meetings in that year. The Trustee or the REIT Manager may at
any time convene a meeting of Unitholders. The REIT Manager
will also convene a meeting of Unitholders if requested in writing
by not less than two Unitholders registered as holding together
not less than 10% of the Units in issue. Notice of at least 21
days, will be given to Unitholders for an annual general meeting
or where a Special Resolution is proposed for consideration at
such meeting, and notice of 14 days or 10 clear business days
(whichever is longer) at the least will be given to Unitholders for
other meetings, and such notice will specify the time and place of
the meeting and the terms of any resolutions to be proposed.

Two or more Unitholders present in person or by proxy registered
as holding together not less than 10% of the Units for the
time being in issue and outstanding will form a quorum for the
transaction of all business, except for the purpose of passing a
Special Resolution. The quorum for passing a Special Resolution
will be two or more Unitholders present in person or by proxy
registered as holding together not less than 25% of the Units in
issue and outstanding. The quorum for an adjourned meeting
shall be such number of Unitholders who are present in person or
by proxy, regardless of the number of Units held by them.

REPORTING AND TRANSPARENCY

The Trust will prepare its accounts in accordance with IFRS with
a financial year end of 31st December and a financial half-year
end of 30th June. In accordance with the REIT Code, the annual
report and accounts for The Trust will be published and sent to
the Unitholders and filed with the SFC no later than four months
following each financial year-end of The Trust. Semi-annual
reports will be published and sent to the Unitholders and filed
with the SFC no later than two months following the end of each
financial half-year.

The REIT Manager shall ensure that a full valuation of each of
the Trust’s properties shall be conducted by a principal valuer
appointed in accordance with the Trust Deed at least once a
year, and may require the principal valuer to carry out additional
valuations or inspections in any other circumstance prescribed by
the REIT Code and at such occasions as the REIT Manager may
determine is necessary.
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TEERB|E

REPORTING AND TRANSPARENCY (continued)

The REIT Manager shall keep the Unitholders informed of any
material information pertaining to the Trust in a timely and
transparent manner as required by the REIT Code and the
provisions of Part XIVA of the SFO shall have effect, mutatis
mutandis, as if China Merchants Commercial REIT is a ‘listed
corporation’ and as if the Board of Directors of the REIT Manager
are the Board of Directors of a ‘listed corporation’. As required
by the REIT Code, the REIT Manager will inform Unitholders as
soon as reasonably practicable of any information or transaction
concerning The Trust which:

e is necessary to enable Unitholders to appraise the position of
The Trust; or

. is necessary to avoid a false market in the Units; or

e might be reasonably expected to materially affect market
activity or the price of Units of China Merchants Commercial
REIT; or

e requires Unitholders’ approval.

DISTRIBUTION POLICY

Under the Trust Deed at least one distribution shall be made in
respect of each financial year and paid no later than five months
after the distribution calculation date for the relevant distribution
period. China Merchants Commercial REIT's present distribution
policy is make two distributions in respect of each year, being
distributions with respect to the six-month periods ending 30th
June and 31st December. Distributions to Unitholders will be
declared and paid in Hong Kong dollars. In accordance with the
REIT Code, the REIT Manager’s will distribute to Unitholders an
amount of no less than 90% of The Trust’'s Annual Distributable
Income for each financial year.

Under the terms of the Trust Deed, “Annual Distributable
Income” for a financial year is the amount calculated by the REIT
Manager to be the consolidated audited Net Profit After Tax of
the Trust and its subsidiaries for that financial year, adjusted for
various non-cash gains/losses or expenses including:

e unrealised property revaluation gain and losses, including
impairment provisions and reversals of impairment
provisions;

e goodwill impairment (charged) and/or negative goodwill
(credited);
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DISTRIBUTION POLICY (continued) D IRBUR (47)

differences between financial costs recognised on the
financial statements and interest paid and payable in
accordance with contractual obligations during that financial
year or that distribution period (as the case may be);

realised gains or losses on the disposal of financial
instruments or the disposal of properties and/or disposal of
the Special Purpose Vehicle which holds such properties;

fair value gains and losses on financial instruments;

deferred tax charges/credits in respect of property valuation
movements, fair value changes on financial instruments
and commercial building allowances/capital allowances,
withholding tax on retained profits to be distributed and
other tax losses or other deductions claimed;

allocation of statutory reserve as required by applicable laws;

the portion of the REIT Manager’s fee that is paid in the form
of Units;

non-cash foreign exchange gains or losses;

costs of any public offering of Units, Convertible Instruments
or other forms of debt and/or securities that are expensed
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income but are funded by proceeds from
the issuance of such Units, Convertible Instruments or other
forms of debt and/or securities;

depreciation and amortisation in respect of a real estate
directly or indirectly owned by The Trust, and its ancillary
machinery, equipment and other fixed assets;

the effects of any amount paid to the Trust for the express
purpose of distribution to Unitholders; and

other material non-cash gains/losses, in each case as
recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income for the financial year.
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TEERB|E

DISTRIBUTION POLICY (continued)

For the avoidance of doubt, the Annual Distributable Income is
calculated after accounting for the Base Fee and the Variable
Fee payable to the REIT Manager and excludes any additional
discretionary distributions out of capital.

The REIT Manager has the discretion to direct the Trustee to
make distributions over and above the minimum 90% of Annual
Distributable Income if and to the extent The Trust, in the
opinion of the REIT Manager, has funds surplus to its business
requirements. The present policy is to distribute 100% of the
Annual Distributable Income.

The Trustee, the REIT Manager and Eureka Investment Company
Ltd (“Eureka”), a wholly owned subsidiary of China Merchants
Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co. Ltd., have entered into an
agreement where Eureka will make cash payments as necessary to
the Trustee for the benefit of China Merchants Commercial REIT
such that when such cash is paid out to Unitholders in addition
to the Annual Distributable Income, the DPU of China Merchants
Commercial REIT will be no less than the amounts specified here:

Relevant Period
ERHE

D IRBUR (47)
ARGER  EEAMESERAESERNETEE
AREARE B RTEE R EHE R A ETAEING
BB ERDIE -

HWETERARRETHRABLEENEEBEHMTNE
ERBI AW ARR - FREEEAANRIZEREE
BRXEAELBANSREEAHIIREAZD
%MK » FREBEARMBYIKEHFEAHD
IR

XA FREEALEREREEXZAERAR ([
B BB IXEEREOHDBRARNZEM
BRBAI LG BlhESRUESSBARERR
EEAESNNERAZFEAERRSNR - BRRE
EeBUBEAMERFEATESIRKRARINOB R
ENIRE - BERBEEAESNEESEM YIRS
MERATFriE & -

Committed DPU
BESEMND KA

Listing Date to 31 December 2019
T HEIZE2019F12A31H

F/Y ending 31 December 2020
BZE2020F12 831 B LB E
F/Y ending 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B LI BFE
F/Y ending 31 December 2022
BHZE2022F12A31 B ILHBEE

Pursuant to the agreement between the three parties, the REIT
Manager intends to distribute to Unitholders all of such payments
received from Eureka.

Distribution Entitlement

The Trust’s first distribution will comprise the distribution for
the period from and including the Listing Date to 31 December
2019 and the interim distribution for the six months ending 30
June 2020, which will be paid together no later than the end of
November 2020.

HK$0.0142 per Unit
BESEM0.014287T
HK$0.2360 per Unit
BESB(0.2360/87T
HK$0.2541 per Unit
BELBEM0.25418 7T
HK$0.2614 per Unit
BESEM0.2614%8 T
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ISSUANCE OF FURTHER UNITS

To minimise the possible material dilution of holdings of
Unitholders, any issue of Units will need to comply with the pre-
emption provisions contained in the REIT Code, the Trust Deed
and any other applicable laws and regulations. The REIT Code
provisions require that issues of Units be first offered on a pro rata
pre-emptive basis to existing Unitholders except that Units may be
issued

e  free of such pre-emption rights up to an aggregate maximum
in any financial year of 20% of the number of Units
outstanding at the end of the previous financial year; and

e free of pre-emption rights in other circumstances provided
that the approval of Unitholders by way of an Ordinary
Resolution is obtained.

Subject thereto, Units may be issued as consideration for the
acquisition of additional real estate.

Unitholders’ approval is required for all issues of new Units to
connected persons unless a waiver has been granted by the SFC.
The SFC has granted, a waiver that allows the REIT Manager to
issue new Units to a connected person under these situations:

e arights issue or as part of any offer made to all Unitholders
on a pro rata basis;

e 3 capitalisation issue in so far as such issue is offered to the
Unitholders on a pro rata basis;

e anissue of Units in respect of re-investment of a distribution
to Unitholders;

e the connected person receives a pro rata entitlement to Units
and/or Convertible Instruments in its capacity as a Unitholder
(provided that such issue will not increase the market
capitalisation of The Trust by more than 50%);

e top-up subscription by a connected person to facilitate a
placing of Units and/or Convertible Instruments to other
parties, subject to certain restrictions.
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ISSUANCE OF FURTHER UNITS (continued)

Where Unitholders” approval is required for an issue of new Units
to a connected person, both the connected person subscriber and
any other person who has a material interest in the resolution
to approve such issue, and that interest is different from that of
other Unitholders, shall abstain from voting on such resolution.

During the Period under Review, there were no new Units issued.

INTERESTS OF, AND DEALINGS IN UNITS BY
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

To monitor and supervise any dealings of Units, the REIT Manager
has adopted a code containing rules on dealings by the directors
and the REIT Manager equivalent to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing
Rules. Pursuant to this code, all directors and employees of
the REIT Manager, subsidiaries of the REIT Manager or Special
Purpose Vehicles of the Trust who, because of his/her office or
employment is likely to be in possession of unpublished price
sensitive information in relation the Trust (“Management
Persons”) wishing to deal in securities of China Merchants
Commercial REIT must first have regard to provisions in Parts XilI
and XIV of the SFO with respect to insider dealing and market
misconduct as if those provisions applied to the securities of the
Trust. In addition, a Management Person must not make any
unauthorised disclosure of confidential information or make any
use of such information for the advantage of himself/herself or
others.

Management Persons who are aware of or privy to any
negotiations or agreements related to intended acquisitions or
disposals which are notifiable transactions under Chapter 14 of
the Listing Rules as if applicable to The Trust or any connected
party transactions under the REIT Code or any inside information
must refrain from dealing in the securities of China Merchants
Commercial REIT as soon as they become aware of them or privy
to them until proper disclosure of the information in accordance
all applicable rules and regulations. Management Persons who
are privy to relevant negotiations or agreements or any inside
information should caution those Management Persons who are
not so privy that there may be inside information and that they
must not deal in the securities of the Trust for a similar period.
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INTERESTS OF, AND DEALINGS IN UNITS BY
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

(continued)

A Management Person must not, unless the circumstances are
exceptional, deal in any of the securities of China Merchants
Commercial REIT on any day on which The Trust’s financial results
are published and:

e during the period of 60 days immediately preceding the
publication date of the annual results or, if shorter, the
period from the end of the relevant financial year up to the
publication date of the results; and

e during the period of 30 days immediately preceding the
publication date of the quarterly results (if any) or half-yearly
results or, if shorter, the period from the end of the relevant
quarterly or half-year period up to the publication date of the
results.

The REIT Manager is subject to the same dealing requirements as
the directors, mutatis mutandis.

The provisions of Part XV of the SFO with respect to disclosure of
interests are deemed to apply to the REIT Manager, the directors
of the REIT Manager and each Unitholder and all persons claiming
through or under him. The REIT Manager has adopted procedures
for the monitoring of disclosure of interests by directors of the
REIT Manager, and the REIT Manager.

Under the Trust Deed, Unitholders with a holding of 5% or more
of the Units in issue, and the directors of the REIT Manager with
an interest in the Units, will have a notifiable interest and will
be required to notify the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the
REIT Manager of their holdings in China Merchants Commercial
REIT. The REIT Manager shall keep a register for these purposes
and it shall record in the register, against a person’s name, the
particulars provided pursuant to the notification and the date
of entry of such record. The said register shall be available for
inspection by the Trustee and any Unitholder at any time during
business hours upon reasonable notice to the REIT Manager. In
addition, the REIT Manager shall cause copies of all disclosure
notices received to be promptly posted to the website of China
Merchants Commercial REIT.
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INTERESTS OF, AND DEALINGS IN UNITS BY
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

(continued)

Confirmation of Compliance with Dealing Code
Specific enquiry has been made of all directors and all of them
have confirmed that they have complied with The Trust's rules on
dealings by directors which are equivalent to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Other than as disclosed in this report and previous disclosures
(including announcements, circulars and Offering Circular) issued
by the REIT Manager, there are no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significant subsisting during or at the end of the
Reporting Period in which a Director or any entity connected
with a Director is or was materially interested, whether directly or
indirectly.

MATTERS TO BE DECIDED BY UNITHOLDERS
BY SPECIAL RESOLUTION

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, decisions with respect to certain
matters require specific prior approval of Unitholders by way of
Special Resolution. Such matters include:

e changes in the REIT Manager’s investment policies or
strategies for The Trust;

e disposal of any of real estate investments which have been
held for less than two years;

e any increase in the rate above the permitted limit or change
in structure of the REIT Manager’s or Trustee's fees;

e certain modifications of the Trust Deed;
. termination or merger of China Merchants Commercial REIT;

Unitholders may also, by way of a Special Resolution, remove the
Trustee or appoint new auditors in place of the existing auditors.
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EMPLOYEES ==

China Merchants Commercial REIT is an externally managed trust EEBH¥ETESAIITERES - WEFEBEM
and does not employ any staff. 8T

PUBLIC FLOAT NRERE

Based on the information that is publicly available and as far as RIEAFHAISER RIEELER AN - R20194
the REIT Manager is aware, not less than 25% of the outstanding 12A318 > BERPEEETESOEITETENN
units in issue of China Merchants Commercial REIT were held in  AZFHETENR25% o

public hands as of 31st December 2019.

AUDITORS ¥ BEm

The final results of China Merchants Commercial REIT for HEEREEAESREFENRIFEECDHBILIZ
the Reporting Year have been audited by the independent #Hi{E%) ¢ FAER S @ IEHKMEZLHESSR
auditor Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and reviewed by the BZEE@NBEZRZESRIEZSEMNBEGREER -
Disclosures Committee and the Audit Committee of the Board in

accordance with their respective terms of reference.
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REPORT OF THE TRUSTEE
REARSE

TRUSTEE REPORT TO UNITHOLDERS HESEURAEANZIREARS

We hereby confirm that, in our opinion, the Manager of China EBEZENIiER  BEZRA  HHEBRHEREMERSTER
Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust has, in all ©2Z&®E AR2019F12H10HE2019412A31H
material respects, managed the China Merchants Commercial IF3R&HM  E&EZHECEE2019F11 8158
Real Estate Investment Trust in accordance with the provisions of IV 7 EAZYNE T EEEEARERMESTHE
the Trust Deed dated 15 November 2019 for the reporting period & -

from 10 December 2019 to 31 December 2019.

DB TRUSTEES (HONG KONG) LIMITED EREEE(FB)ERLA
(in its capacity as the trustee of China Merchants Commercial Real — (UEEARBEBEERMEEFARES Z A1)
Estate Investment Trust)

Hong Kong, 10 March 2020 &% 0 202037108
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

BAEALRS

The REIT Code contains rules on connected party transaction
governing transactions between the China Merchants Commercial
REIT Group and its connected persons (as defined in paragraph
8.1 of the REIT Code). Such transactions will constitute
“connected party transactions” for the purposes of the REIT
Code.

In addition to “Significant Unitholders” (that is, holders of 10%
or more of the outstanding Units within the meaning of the REIT
Code), China Merchants Commercial REIT's “connected persons”
will include, among others:

(1) the controlling entities, holding companies, subsidiaries
and associated companies of the “Significant Unitholders”,
and associates of the “Significant Unitholders” within the
meaning of the REIT Code;

(2) the REIT Manager as well as controlling entities, holding
companies, subsidiaries and associated companies of the
REIT Manager within the meaning of the REIT Code;

(3) the Trustee as well as controlling entities, holding companies,
subsidiaries and associated companies of the Trustee within
the meaning of the REIT Code. As a result, the list of
“connected persons” of China Merchants Commercial REIT
shall include Deutsche Bank AG (which indirectly wholly
owns the Trustee) and other members of the DB Group; and

(4) the directors, senior executives and officers of the REIT
Manager and Trustee, and their respective associates within
the meaning of the REIT Code.
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

BAEALRS

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SIGNIFICANT UNITHOLDERS GROUP

The following sets out information on connected party
transactions between China Merchants Commercial REIT and its
connected persons (as defined in paragraph 8.1 of the REIT Code):

Connected Party Transaction - Income

BEALRZ -BA

REAESENVRAARENEEAL
%5
TSR AEREER RS REMEAL(E
EERMEREERES TS B NEEALS
SER

Income for
Relationship with China Nature of the Reporting
Name of connected party Merchants Commercial REIT connected transactions Period
BEALER HEEREEETESNER BEXZUE BESHBABA
(RMB’'000)
ARBTT
Shekou TV* Associated company of CMSK Rental Income 9
wHERE AEwONEELR HelA
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Rental Income 322
BERITROERRF AEwONBELRT HE WA
China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Rental Income 390
BrERRERRNHARRQF e DR E R E HeWA
Sinotrans Shipping Limited Associated company of CMSK Rental Income 440
FINEYIRBRA R AEwONBELR HelA
China Merchants Shekou Asset Subsidiary of CMSK Rental Income 410
Management Co., Ltd.
AINTHERAEEEEERAA BEwAKF AR HE WA
China Merchants Real Subsidiary of CMSK Rental Income 2,427
Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
RIBEEERR AR BEEOHFRA HelA
China Merchants Shekou Holding company of a Significant Rental Income 694
Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. Unitholder
BERE O IERERRHER AT BEREQEMFEANERAT HE WA
China Merchants Life Insurance Associated company of CMSK Rental Income 119
Company Limited
BARCMASRRROERLDA AEwONBELR HelA
China Merchants Commercial Property Subsidiary of CMSK Rental Income 705
Investment (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
RIBEBEREER AT BEwAKF AR HE WA
China Merchants International Information Associated company of CMSK Rental Income 200

Technology Co., Ltd.
AHRERESRMERAR

BERONHELR

HEWRA
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

BAEALRS

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SIGNIFICANT UNITHOLDERS GROUP (continued)

Connected Party Transaction — Income (continued)

HEAXESENBEASEENBEAL
10 )
BEALTRS — WA #)

Income for
Relationship with China Nature of the Reporting
Name of connected party Merchants Commercial REIT connected transactions Period
BEALER HEBRBEETESHER HEXSZHE BEHBRRA
(RMB’000)
ARBTT
Sinotrans Shipping Limited Associated company of CMSK Building management 70
fee income
FOMNEMIRAR LA BEEANBERR] EFERBURA
Sinotrans Shipping Limited Associated company of CMSK Car parking fees income 10
FONEMIRAR LA ARGt O MBS N T FEBKRA
Sinotrans Shipping Limited Associated company of CMSK Other income 5
FONEMIRAR DA Brge O g EE QT H b A
China Merchants Shekou Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 44
Asset Management Co., Ltd.* fee income
RIMAEERNEEERERAR BAEAHFRA BFEREURA
China Merchants Shekou Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 3
Asset Management Co., Ltd.*
AR EEERERAR BRERANTFAR Heb g A
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Building management 44
fee income
BARTROBELRAF BEEANBERR EFEEBUA
China Merchants Shekou Holding company of a Significant Building management 10
Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. Unitholder fee income
BERE O IEEERRHERAR] BRESBEUHAE ANERAT BFEEBRA
China Merchants Shekou Holding company of a Significant Other income 5
Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. Unitholder
BERE O IEEERRHERAR BRELENFHEANERARA Hi A
China Merchants Real Estate Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 194
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. fee income
RYBAFHEERAA ABAEEOHTFRA BFERBRA
China Merchants Real Estate Subsidiary of CMSK Car parking fees income 9

(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
FNBEEHERR AR

BrEkAmF AT
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
BAEALRS

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SIGNIFICANT UNITHOLDERS GROUP (continued)

Connected Party Transaction — Income (continued)

HEAXESENBEASEENBEEAL
X3 #)
BEALTRS - WA )

Income for
Relationship with China Nature of the Reporting
Name of connected party Merchants Commercial REIT connected transactions Period
BMEALTER HEHREHEETESHER HEXSHE BEABRBA
(RMB’000)
ARETT
China Merchants Real Estate Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 26
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
RINBEEHERRAR] BErEOrFAa HA A
China Merchants Energy Shipping Associated company of CMSK Building management 70
Co., Ltd. fee income
BERERERRHDERAF] B OMBE AR BFEEBRA
China Merchants Energy Shipping Associated company of CMSK Other income 9
Co., Ltd.
AERERESRHARAR g OMEE AT Hi A
China Merchants Commercial Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 50
Property Investment (Shenzhen) fee income
Co., Ltd.
RYBHEERERRAR ErEOrFAF BFEEBRA
China Merchants Commercial Property Subsidiary of CMSK Car parking fees income 1
Investment (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
RIBEREREER AT BEwOrF AR FEERA
China Merchants Commercial Property Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 7
Investment (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
RIBEBHEREER AR BAXOHFRA H A A
Shekou TV* Associated company of CMSK Building management 1
fee income
wHERE BErONHERF BFEEBRA
China Merchants International Associated company of CMSK Building management 18
Information Technology Co., Ltd.* fee income
A RERE S RMAERA A Bt NH B E QT BFEEBRA
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK Interest income 282
BERTROEELRF B OmBE AR FLEHA
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

BAEALRS

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SIGNIFICANT UNITHOLDERS GROUP (continued)

Connected Party Transaction — Expenses

HEAXESENBEASEENBEAL
X3 &)
BMEALRS -XH

Income for
Relationship with China Nature of the Reporting
Name of connected party Merchants Commercial REIT connected transactions Period
BEALEE EREREERTESNER BEXSMLE BEHENIH
(RMB'000)
ARBEF T
Shenzhen Investment Promotion Subsidiary of CMSK Property management 5,188
Real Estate Management Co., Ltd expenses
RINBEMEBTEERAR] BE AT AR MEETERT
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Subsidiary of CMSK Operations management 1,173
Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* expenses
AR hEERORDERAR BErE 0K FAF BREEEERS

* The English names are for identification only

Waiver from Strict Compliance with the Requirements

The REIT Manager has applied for, and the SFC has granted
a waiver from strict compliance with, the disclosure and
Unitholders’ approvals requirements under Chapter 8 of the REIT
Code in respect of Leasing transactions, Operations Management
Agreement and Property Management Agreements of connected
party transactions between the China Merchants Commercial
REIT Group on the one hand and the persons who are connected
persons of China Merchants Commercial REIT by virtue of their
relationships (including but not limited to directors, controlling
entities, holding companies, subsidiaries or associated companies)
with CMSK (being the holding company of a Significant
Unitholder) or the REIT Manager (the “CM Connected Persons
Group”) on the other hand (*CM Continuing CPTs"”). The
waiver is subject to annual caps, auditor’s review in each relevant
financial period, annual review by the Audit Committee and the
Independent Non-Executive Directors (the “INEDs”) and other
terms and conditions. Information of the waiver and its detailed
terms and conditions have been set out in the Offering Circular.
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

BAEALRS

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SIGNIFICANT UNITHOLDERS GROUP (continued)

Connected Party Transaction — Expenses (continued)

During the Relevant Period, China Merchants Commercial REIT
has complied with the requisite Waiver Conditions. The aggregate
transaction value of the CM Continuing CPTs shall not exceed the
following annual caps set for the relevant period:

HEAXESENBEASEENBEEAL
X3 #)
BEALRG X H(#E)

RERYRE BERAXERES HEETLE
Rt HRRsEHEALRINERSEE
TEEETIREHENFEE LR

For the year For the year For the year

ending 31 ending 31 ending 31

December December December

2019 2020 2021

BE BE BE

20195 2020 20214

12A31H 12A31H 12A31H

LLFE LLFE LFE

RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Categories of CM Continuing CPTs BRBEREATRSZER ARBTRT AR®BTRT AR%®TR

Transactions under the CM Tenancies BEHEETHNRS 78,070,281 112,040,080 125,476,039
Transaction under the Operations BEEEHEET

Management Agreement W% 4,137,001 27,440,639 31,377,611
Transaction under the Property MEEEBHZET

Management Agreements M5 57,345,161 64,228,223 71,250,393

The annual caps set out in the table above should not be taken
as the anticipated growth projections or indicators of the future
performance of China Merchants Commercial REIT.

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH REIT
MANAGER

REIT Manager’s Fees

The REIT Manager was incorporated in Hong Kong on 22 June
2019, with a sole purpose of managing the assets of China
Merchants Commercial REIT. The REIT Manager is an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of China Merchants Land Limited (stock
code: 00978).

The REIT Manager’s fees amounted to RMB1,361,000 in relation
to the services provided for the Reporting Period.

ERAAFEE LRI REERRAREEES
RRRIRAFAIIE RIBRI IR -

HEETEEANBEALRS

EXEEAEH
EAEEAR2019F6 A22 BB B MK - M—
ENATREERRERTESNEE - BrtBIEA
REBEREMBR AR (RMMRS - 00978)HEES
EWE AT -

RREBEREENEBERENETEEAERAAR
#1,361,0007T °
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

BAEALRS

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH REIT
MANAGER (continued)

REIT Manager’s Fees (continued)

The REIT Manager’s fee includes a base fee, variable fee,
acquisition fee and divestment fee. For the Reporting Period, no
variable fee, acquisition fee and divestment fee were incurred or
payable. 10.0% of the base fee distributable income is calculated
based on the audited financial statements of China Merchants
Commercial REIT for the Reporting Period. The base fee will be
paid to the REIT Manager in cash.

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
TRUSTEE AND/OR TRUSTEE CONNECTED
PERSONS GROUP

Trustee’s Fees

During the Reporting Period, the trustee’s fee of approximately
RMB271,000 was incurred for services provided by DB Trustees
(Hong Kong) Limited as the trustee of the China Merchants
Commercial REIT.

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS WITH
OTHER CONNECTED PERSONS

Principal Valuer’s Fee

During the Reporting Period, the valuation fee of approximately
RMB90,000 was incurred for services provided by Cushman &
Wakefield Limited in the capacity as the principal valuer of China
Merchants Commercial REIT.

CONFIRMATION BY INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive directors has confirmed that have
reviewed the terms of all connected party transactions and are
satisfied that these transactions have been entered into:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of China
Merchants Commercial REIT;

(b) on normal commercial terms (to the extent that there are
comparable transactions) or, where there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on
normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to
China Merchants Commercial REIT than terms available to or
from (as appropriate) independent third parties; and

() in accordance with the relevant agreement and the internal
policy governing such transaction by China Merchants
Commercial REIT on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of Unitholders as a whole.
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

BAEALRS

AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE CONNECTED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has been engaged as the auditor of
China Merchants Commercial REIT, and report on the continuing
connected transactions of the Group in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” issued by the HKICPA and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Letter issued by auditor on
continuing connected transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules”. In accordance with the waiver granted by the SFC to
strictly comply with the disclosure requirements of Chapter 8
of the REIT Code, the auditor has issued an unqualified opinion
letter on continuing connected transactions relating to rental
income, building management fee income and general banking
and financial services, containing the findings and summary of the
continuing connected transactions. A copy of the relevant auditor's
letter has been provided by the REIT Manager to the SFC.

RBMBRE THEEALRZNERE

Y BERTSHMITEERFRAEHNRAEERR
ESOZRHBE  YRBEEFEBSFAMASHLNEL
R XERISE 30005 (BIERT) [ Bt K EBDBEM B R
TSN E R IA RS EEAESIF 7405 [ =&
BRIEER LT RIS ERER S EHNER A
EREENSERERS  ZBMCREHEES
IR THEEBETEMERERERTESTAFESE
MREREZRR  BEEEERA - KEEEEW
AR—RRITRERBRENFEMER S HAERE
BERER  ZERLHBAREMEIFINBEERR
B EREBADHEBZEMERNEAXERE

o

8
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
Rl E

INTEREST OF SIGNIFICANT UNITHOLDERS
Based on the information available to the REIT Manager as at the
Listing Date (10 December 2019) and 31 December 2019, each of
the following persons was considered as a significant Unitholder
and hence a connected person of China Merchants Commercial
REIT under the REIT Code and, so far as the REIT Manager is
aware, held or was interested in the Units of China Merchants
Commercial REIT as follow:

As at 10 December 2019

EXESEBENEEARS
RIEFTERAR ETHE2019F12810H %2019
F1I2A3MBAEMNER - THZFATREBEHER
BEAESTIHRAERESEMFAA » AL
WRARERRXETESHNBEEAL  MEFTE
BAFH  HEEHERBESTESNES BN K
REFREEERNOT

As at 31 December 2019

R20195125108 R2019%12A31H
Approximate Approximate Percentage
Number percentage Number of percentage change in
Name of significant unitholder of Units of interests Units of interests equity held
BRES BR R B2
ERESENRAALH RAEESEN Bl FEESEN BAL Bl
EUREKA INVESTMENT 377,819,549 33.50% 377,819,549 33.50% -

COMPANY LIMITED

Premium Capital Profits Limited 146,198,000 12.96% 146,198,000 12.96% -
Pacific Asset Management Co., Ltd. 137,192,000 12.16% 137,192,000 12.16% -

INTERESTS HELD BY DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF THE REIT MANAGER
Pursuant to the REIT Code, China Merchants Commercial REIT's
connected party is required to disclose its interests in the Units.
Besides, the trust deed is deemed to be applicable to, among
other things, the REIT Manager, the directors of the REIT Manager
in virtue of the provisions of Part XV of the SFO.

INTERESTS HELD BY OTHER CONNECTED
PERSONS

Saved as disclosed above, the REIT Manager is not aware of any
other connected persons of CMC REIT, including the Trustee
and the Principal Valuer, who are interested (or deemed to be
interested) in any Units as at the Listing Date and 31 December
2019.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
R E

The interests of the REIT Manager's directors in the Units recorded EREEAZBERHELEEATENE MDD

in the register maintained by the REIT Manager are as follows: EoBuEmNT :
As at 10 December 2019 As at 31 December 2019
20195128108 #2019%12H31H

Approximate Approximate Percentage
Number of percentage Number of percentage change in
Name of director Units of interests Units of interests equity held
BHER BHER PR
EEpE FEESEN BO RAEESEN B -E =R
Huang Junlong &5 Nil & - Nil & = -
Guo Jin $5 Nil & = Nil & = -
Liu Ning 22 Nil & - Nil 2 = -
Yu Zhiliang &7 Nil & = Nil = -
Lin Hua #2E Nil & - Nil 2 = -
Lin Chen #f& Nil 2 - Nil 2 = -
Lau Sze Wan, Serena 2I5¥#8 Nil & - Nil & - -

INTERESTS HELD BY SENIOR EXECUTIVE OF EEBEANSRITHRAEMEES

THE MANAGER

The interests of the senior executives of the REIT Manager (being FIREEBAGRITRAE(BIHERBEEAESH
the connected persons of China Merchants Commercial REIT) in ~ BEA L) FHEES B ERNT -

the Units are as follows:

As at 10 December 2019 As at 31 December 2019
12019F12H10H #2019F12H31H
Approximate Approximate Percentage
Number of percentage Number of percentage change in
Name of senior executive Units of interests Units of interests equity held
B ER BHER Frisrs
SRITRABR S REESEN Bk REESEN Bt - IR 3o
Zhong Ning $£% Nil 2 - Nil 2 = -
Choo Chong Yao, Patrick 2k {#22 Nil & - Nil & - -
Xiong Jing B&&H Nil & - Nil 2 - -
Chen Yan 3% Nil Z - Nil 2 = -
INTERESTS OF THE REIT MANAGER EEE ARLS
As at 31 December 2019, the REIT Manager did not hold any Units ~ 720195124310 » BREB AT EREHREHE
in China Merchants Commercial REIT. ¥EESHNERER -
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VALUATION REPORT
MIREERS

China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited BERBEHEERRAR
(in its capacity as REIT Manager of China Merchants Commercial (XA EABBEEEESHEREETHZeFAEE
Real Estate Investment Trust) ABI517)
Room 2603-2606, 26/F, B
China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, T8+ 168-200%%
Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central, EFEERPLBERAE
Hong Kong 2612260352606 %
DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited ERLEETE(EB)BRLT
(in its capacity as trustee of China Merchants Commercial Real —(UB(EAHEBHEEMEREZFESTIEAL
Estate Investment Trust) F13)
52/F International Commerce Centre, S
1 Austin Road West, Kowloon, NEER L EEF 19
Hong Kong RIS 5 E%55218
10 March 2020 202043 H10H
Dear Sirs, HRCE
Re: China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment B : BERAEXEHERECSTEES(BEREE
Trust (the “China Merchants Commercial REIT") ERES ) URPEAREMBEEREFII
Valuation of 5 properties located in Nanshan District, THELUENSENE(YWE)NEE

Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province, the People’s
Republic of China (the “Properties”)

Instructions, Purpose & We refer to the instructions from China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited
Valuation Date (the “REIT Manager”) for us to prepare market valuations of the Properties located in the
R BNRMGERDS People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") (as detailed in the attached valuation report). We
confirm that we have carried out inspections, made relevant enquiries and obtained such
further information as we consider necessary for the purpose of providing you with our
opinion of the market values of the Properties as at 31 December 2019 (the “Valuation
Date”) for the purpose of accounting reference.
EERIABEBREMNEEARAR([ERAEEADNET  GRANFEARLE (] H
BOMENTSEEGRAMGERS)  E5HA EFCREVE  FLHEBEEHN
EBSESRAVENHEMER - UM B TREESHYEN2019F128318([“ER
BNzHEZER  MEREGHEE -

Basis of Valuation Our valuation of each of the Properties represents its market value which in accordance

fHEEE with HKIS Valuation Standards 2017 published by The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
("HKIS") is defined as “the estimated amount for which an asset or liability should
exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an
arm’s length transaction, after proper marketing and where the parties had each acted
knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion”.
EEUEMELHETEETE  EABAEMEe((EBAUEMBE ) MEMZEEA
BRIS2gMELER2017ZEEME - NEIEEXEBBELEZETSHER  AERERER
BERNMEGEBBRENS  FERTXBEAZBEATERZ ARG 2% ] -
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VALUATION REPORT
MIREERS

Compliance In valuing the Properties, we have complied with the requirements in accordance with

=¥ Chapter 6.8 of the Code on Real Estate Investment Trust (the “REIT Code”) published by
the Securities and Futures Commission and HKIS Valuation Standards 2017.
RETMRZEER  EEEETESFRAESBERZERMEN B EREFETEE
TA((EHEREETEESTA D FSERTAINEMBSHBEER0M7AERTE °

Valuation Assumptions Our valuations of each of the Properties exclude an estimated price inflated or deflated by

HE/RK special terms or circumstances such as atypical financing, sale and leaseback arrangement,
special considerations or concessions granted by anyone associated with the sale, or any
element of value available only to a specific owner or purchaser.
EEURAEYMENGELEZERGRIER (NFRVHE  SREDZH - HEMN
BATGETHRRREXETHNEFNERETHEEBAXEINEERER) 5IHNMEE
Frik -

In the course of our valuations of the Properties situated in the PRC, we have prepared our
valuations on the basis that transferable land use right in respect of each of the Properties
for its specific term at nominal annual land use fees have been granted and that any
premium payable have already been fully paid. We have relied on the information and
advice given by the REIT Manager regarding the titles and the interests in the Properties. In
valuing the Properties, we have prepared our valuations on the basis that the owners have
enforceable titles to the Properties and have free and uninterrupted right to use, occupy or
assign the Properties for the whole of the unexpired terms as granted.
NEFHUNTEOYEETEHER  ESEUARAEFEIHERELZSEYWENEM
BN T FHRANAEET MERERERBANEAEMNERERMETHE - TFK
BEAEEARHNEENENREREGZEHEER - EFHYEETHER B
BEAEYEGAIANTHERE  TARBEEKEMAERFRAN T TRMEHE
- GRS EENERERMEITEHE -

No allowances have been made in our valuations for any charges, mortgages or amounts
owing on the Properties nor any expenses or taxation which may be incurred in effecting a
sale. Unless otherwise stated, it is assumed that the Properties are free from encumbrances,
restrictions and outgoings of any onerous nature which could affect their values.
EEZHELEZEEMEZEMER  RBIRZ - AHERAIEELE Z ERFHH
E-BRIEAEHAN EEBRTEVELEBAICEHEECEEEEAE  RHILXH -

We are not aware of any significant overseas taxes expected to be charged in respect of the

Properties.
FEW A FAETE A E W EE R E R GIMIIA »
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VALUATION REPORT
MIREERS

Method of Valuation In valuing the Property Nos. 1 to 4, we have adopted the Income Capitalisation Method

HEA % and cross-checked by the Market Comparison Method. Income Capitalisation Method
is appropriate for valuations of the Properties with relatively uniform tenancy terms and
conditions.

M E1ZAFMEETHRENS  EFRAREEDMMOEL AT B LEORETINRE -
WaREMOEHR AARG - HERRRGFHENOMENGETN S BEE -

In valuing the Property No. 5, we have adopted the Discounted Cash Flow Method and
cross-checked by the Market Comparison Method. Discounted Cash Flow Method is
appropriate for valuation of the Property with variances in tenancy terms and conditions.
MEBESHFYEETHENS @ EFHAURRREREEZLATISLLEORETZIXIRE - Bh
BReREBEFENRAEATRBEEGRLRGHNDENEENSBEES -

Income Capitalisation Method

L€ 3N (A7

Income Capitalisation Method estimates the values of the Properties on a market basis
by capitalising the existing rental of all lettable units of each of the Properties for the
respective unexpired terms of contractual tenancies whilst vacant units are assumed to be
let at their respective market rents as at the Valuation Date. Upon expiry of the existing
tenancies, each unit is assumed to be let at its market rent as at the Valuation Date, which
is in turn capitalised for the unexpired term of the land use right under which the Property
is held. The summation of the capitalised value of the term rental for the leased portion,
the capitalised value of the reversion market rental as appropriately deferred for the leased
portion and the capitalised value of the vacant portion provides the market value of each of
the Properties.

WREMOEEBEEEAMENRBEAIEEEMCNRAESWARENBORBFHANT
NERE MEBESELGRARIJRZGEERHERNTEES EHRTISELEGAMENE
B - RREANERN  SESEUSEERIIREANGERRSBENTEBSLE @ WiRE
ZIEMENLHERRENRBRFRTAERE - SEMENTEESREHEITHHEHARMAE
SHENMCER  BREEBSELHESELNERTSHSENMEBAEAREETHNER
{LEBENEN -

Discounted Cash Flow (“DCF”) Method
HRERSRE((HEREREZE

DCF Method involves discounting future net cash flow after urban real estate tax, land
use tax and value-added tax of each of the Properties until the end of the unexpired land
use term to its present value by using an appropriate discount rate that reflects the rate of
return required by a third party investor for an investment of this type. We have prepared a
10-year cash flow forecast with reference to the current and anticipated market conditions.
Details of the key assumptions of our DCF valuations are set out in the valuation report of
each of the Properties contained herein.

BIRMEMEES MR ERER L ERFRTERN  SEYEWBRFER - £HE
AHREBERENRKRBECREFANREHLRE  MRATRIXASSEUNRBRE=7K
BESRUEREMFTORE - EEC2RBANERTARRIOFHANRSRERD - &
BESHRASRELEMEAN T ERROFBEANET LA SBEYENHERS
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VALUATION REPORT
MIREERS

Market Comparison Method
WIFLLBE

For cross-checking of the valuations arrived from DCF Method or Income Capitalisation
Method, we have also made reference to comparable sales evidence of properties with
similar characteristics as available in the relevant market.
HRXXBERFRRRERNEZIRAEERMOEBHNEENS - EFT2RE@T ST A
ZEBRUSEN YR L HERRE -

Source of Information  We have relied to a very considerable extent on the information given by the REIT Manager

B RIHRR and have accepted advice given to us on such matters as planning approvals, statutory
notices, easements, tenures, identification of land and buildings, particulars of occupancy,
operation accounts, tenancy details, site and floor areas, site and floor plans, number of
units, interests attributable to China Merchants Commercial REIT and all other relevant
matters.
EERAEE THRBEEEEAMRHNER  UTEEMARBEBAREEN EZERE 1
"HE - FH - THRBFEF  ERAFE - KERE  BAOFE  MRREEEE - e
REETHEHE  BUSE  BHREEETESERORR; —VEMEESEELGTEEH
2R o

Dimensions, measurements and areas are based on the copies of documents or other
information provided to us by the REIT Manager and are therefore only approximations.
No on-site measurement has been carried out. We have had no reason to doubt the
truth and accuracy of the information provided by the REIT Manager which is material to
the valuations. We were also advised that no material facts have been omitted from the
information provided to us.

R -EERAEBENUEEEERBARMTESENXHEASIHEMBEREE  WERLD
Yo FEEWEMAETEWARE - EEVREHEREATEANTERHEBENEREE
ZEMNEEERERE - EENEEHN  IRRENEHNTSERANENEE -

We would point out that the copies of document provided to us are mainly compiled in
Chinese characters and the transliteration into English represents our understanding of the
contents. We would therefore advise the REIT Manager to make reference to the original
Chinese edition of the documents and consult your legal advisors regarding the legality and
interpretation of such document.

EERLEL  EEERHEAOXGAAIZNPXNGER  FHEREAREEHATHE
g A ESFZAEAEEAZM XTI XRX I BITHAERBERBEBAREXMHNE
EMENEE -
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VALUATION REPORT
MIREERS

Title Investigation We have been provided with copies of the title documents relating to the Properties
EERE but have not carried out any title searches. However, we have not searched the original
documents to verify ownership or to ascertain any amendments. All documents have been
used for reference only and all dimensions, measurements and areas are approximate.
EME?@%}%{ BAMEERE 2 XHEIER W RETEREREM - A EFLESEH
1¢E$LAV:‘%%&%%‘M§ FEMIER] - TAXHERSE - MAERT - EEKREEE

Site Inspection Our Shenzhen Office valuation team, including Joanna J J Deng (China Real Estate
EihiR R Appraiser of 20 years’ valuation experience), have inspected the exterior and, where

possible, the interior of the Properties. No structural survey has been made, but in the
course of our inspection, we did not note any serious defects. We are, however, not able
to report that the Properties are free of rot, infestation or other structural defects. No test
was carried out on any of the services. Our valuations are prepared on the assumption that
these aspects are satisfactory. Unless otherwise stated, we have not carried out detailed on-
site measurements to verify the site and floor areas of the Properties and we have assumed
that the areas shown on the documents handed to us are correct.

EENRYIPERGEEERRK @%é‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ(%ﬁzoﬁmﬁm%ﬁﬁ’ﬂﬂlb‘%i‘ﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂi) 2R
RWERNINBRBAIRERAEANL - SFWEETEBAUE - EERRABREF jrﬂ%‘*éiﬁ&
AEREEE - A - EFBEE i&%%ﬁ&ﬁﬁfﬁ S0 SR B M AE S IR o B H 0 AR
*ﬁﬁﬂé&iﬁ@ c BEZHENERZETEEBE A EANREMER ﬁitﬁ*ﬁqﬂﬁﬂ Rl

FEWFETFANRSRAEUZEDFENOMBREERRE  BEFERBEITEER

SC#Fﬁ%ZE’]ﬁﬁEIEﬁﬁ
Currency Unless otherwise stated, all sums stated in our valuation report are in Renminbi (“RMB"),
gk the official currency of the PRC.

BIERBHA  BERESAMISREGUPBEEZEEEARBE((ARE]ZS -

Remarks The existing use of the Properties are considered as the highest and best uses. We have
s not carried out any valuation on redevelopment basis, nor the study of possible alternative
options.

MEZBERAERERESNRERS - EEUEABERASEMETEMNGHERE I
A — T ABERETHR

We have been provided with the tenancy schedules, a standard Tenancy Agreement and a
Licence Agreement by the REIT Manager. We have not examined the tenancy documents
for each specific tenancy and our valuations are based on the basis that all tenancy
agreements are executed and are in accordance with the provisions stated in the tenancy
schedules provided to us. Moreover, we assume that the tenancies are valid, binding and
enforceable.

EEEREAERBAREHERBRX  REHERZERITAHE - ESUAEHZERETE
HEMBEXH - BHEHR 1&1@75%%%7@?&%%**5ETZH??Q%QZ%%T#E’J?E 5 B ]
RPTEHER o o - EFERBEOBAYR - ABEORNRAHIT

We hereby certify that we have neither present nor prospective interest in the REIT or the

valuation reported.

EEENER  EENEHEREEEECHIMERNAETHEEMRAREENS -
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Non-publication &
Savings Clause

F DR RARE R

We are independent of the REIT, the trustee and the manager and each of the significant
shareholders of the scheme within the paragraph 6.5 of the REIT Code. Mr. Philip C Y Tsang
has no potential conflict of interest and is able to provide objective and unbiased valuations
for the Properties.

EEBUNREHEREGTES XTAREBEAURBHEREGFETESTAIE6.5K
HEANFENEZME - BEBEESTBEENMNRER  IR/YERHETHELAENMR
B

The conclusions of market value are based on generally accepted valuation procedures and
practices that rely extensively on the use of numerous assumptions and the consideration of
many uncertainties, not all of which can be easily quantified or ascertained. This valuation
report is prepared on fair and unbiased basis subject to our general assumptions and
limitation conditions.

MEEEDERARGERF LEN  KkEEZEAAERERZEEFZIEERE - M
WIMERBZLARAANESGEBHKBETE - AMEERSDHREBEEEF 2 —MREBR LR
% BATFREEERFE o

We enclose herewith a summary of valuations and our valuation report for your attention.

PEKMIEMEMRERGERS  # BTHE-

Neither the whole nor any part of this report or any reference thereto may be included in
any document, circular or statement without our prior written approval of the form and
context in which it will appear.

AEESFFLAEERLE  ARENEMHEME D HEEM S - AT AR RAE R &
RNBMAEE M - BEKER -

Finally and in accordance with our standard practice, we must state that this report is for
the use only of the party to whom it is addressed and no responsibility is accepted to any
third party for the whole or any part of its contents.

& REBETSENEEEN TSV ERPARRSERKEAER - BB TEE 2T
D ABMEERE=FAEEE -

We enclose herewith a summary of valuations and our valuation BERMEGEME REERE - # B THE -

report for your attention.

Yours faithfully, &

For and on behalf of HERTERAA
Cushman & Wakefield Limited BHRE

Philip C Y Tsang aAffEEAEm(EFNE8)
Registered Professional Surveyor (General Practice) o B SR A L EE A (E A
Registered China Real Estate Appraiser MSc, MHKIS

MSc, MHKIS FE

Director 2R
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SUMMARY OF VALUATIONS

RESE
Market value
in existing
Market value state attribute
in existing to the Group
state as at Interest as at
31 December attribute 31 December
Property 2019 to the Group 2019
M2019512831H
M2019512831H BE5E BRAT E£E
LIS BRTHTE R EETE
(RMB) (%) (RMB)
(AR®T) (%) (AR®T)
1. New Times Plaza, 2,061,000,000 100 2,061,000,000
No. 1, Taizi Road, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province,
the PRC
mEEREFNT
FILERFRIRIERES
2. Cyberport Building, 1,039,000,000 100 1,039,000,000
No. 1079, Nanhai Avenue,
Nanshan District, Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC
RREERERIT
B ILE R KB 10795 BB K B
3. Technology Building, 868,000,000 100 868,000,000
No. 1067, Nanhai Avenue,
Nanshan District, Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC
REERERIm
BLERmEREI067RE R AE
4.  Technology Building 2, 1,082,000,000 100 1,082,000,000
No. 1057, Nanhai Avenue,
Nanshan District, Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC
PREIERE FIH
ALl 8 KB 10575k BHE A B — 5
5. Garden City Shopping Centre, 1,559,000,000 100 1,559,000,000

No. 1086 Nanhai Avenue,
Nanshan District, Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC
HRERERYIT
BILERREARE 10865 A

Grand Total (rounded):
M (W)

6,609,000,000

6,609,000,000
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Property
L/ES

VALUATION REPORT
EERE

Description and tenure

BREEH

Particulars of
occupancy

ERFE

Market value
in existing
state as at

31 December

2019
2019 12A31H
BRT2ZmE

1. New Times Plaza,
No. 1, Taizi Road,
Nanshan District,
Shenzhen City,

Guangdong Province,

the PRC

R
ERAF)mELE
KFEIH
HRRES

New Times Plaza is an office building which comprises
2-storey commercial area (Level 1 to Level 2), 34-storey
office (Level 3 to Level 33, Level 35, 36 and 38) and 212 car
parking spaces in the basement. The Property was erected
on a parcel of land with a site area of 8,642.45 sq.m. and
was completed in 1997.

MK ESHE—EIE2ERER(1BE2E) RIAERNE(3
BE3312 - 3512 - 3612 23818 ) A RIE212AF S 2 BF
AR o ZMERRIEEIEAS,642.45F 7 KA R 2 £
ER1997F KT

The Property has a total Gross Floor Area of 87,336.98
sg.m. with details as follows:
FWE 2 BEHEERST,336.98F K  FEMT

Portion Approximate Approximate
i Gross Floor Gross
Area Rentable Area
BARE BATHE
[k BHEE
(sg.m.) (sg.m.)
(F k) (FAK)
Office (Level 82,591.17 62,654.42
3 to Level 38)
WG (3EE38E)
Commercial 4,745.81 4,945 .81
(Level 1 to Level 2)
AER(12E2E)
212 car parking N/A N/A
spaces T TEA
212{EF B
Total: 87,336.98 67,600.03
Fohy

Note: The Gross Floor Area relates to Real Estate Title Certificate; the Gross
Rentable Area relates to rent receivable.

frzt - BEBAREHEEEAR  IHERERERKESER -

The land use right of the Property have been granted for
a term of 50 years due to expire on 27 January 2045 for
commercial office use.

ZYE LERECKLEBRM ARG - RES0F
7204551 A27B 218 -

As at the Valuation Date,
part of the commercial
area with a total Gross
Rentable Area of

RMB2,061,000,000
(RENMINBI
TWO BILLION

SIXTY ONE MILLION)

approximately 4,621.72  AK#¥2,061,000,0007T

sg.m. has been leased
under various tenancies
with the majority that
expires within 13 years,
yielding a total monthly
rent of approximately
RMB763,000, exclusive
of management fee and
value-added tax.
REEBE - ZWE2HH
HARz A AEEAEE
4k4,621.72F 5K BiR
BLEBEOEE  RHPHH
KRM3EREE - §RAMA
SHRBHBARKT63,000
%_]Z/ ABEEREREE
R o

Part of the office with a
total Gross Rentable Area
of approximately 60,540.04
sg.m. has been leased
under various tenancies
with the majority that
expires within 3 years,
yielding total monthly

rent of approximately
RMB9,853,000, exclusive of
management fee and value-
added tax.
HAWAE & AHE
BEEL /60,540.04F 75
K BREZEEOLE
RABABEHRIFREE -
BAHSEENORARE
9,853,0007T * MEIEEE
BRILEN -

A total Gross Rentable Area
of approximately 2,438.27
$g.m. was vacant.
AFAHERERAR
243821 F FRREE °

SEoNETHE RERBERERES 87

(ARERRE
EFERETLE)

(Based on the said

total monthly rent as
at the Valuation Date,

the estimated net
property yield of the
Property is 6.18%.)
(EpME(E B BRI A
SAESEE %
MERBETEYE
W EA6.18% ° )
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Notes:

(1

According to Real Estate Title Certificate No. 4000594829 dated 29 July
2014, the land use right of a parcel of land with a site area of approximately
8,642.45 sq.m. have been granted to Shenzhen Shekou New Times Real Estate
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (FIIT O FHREXETEARAA)
for a term of 50 years due to expire on 27 January 2045 for commercial office
use. The legal title of the Property is vested in Shenzhen Shekou New Times

et -

B A 4201497 298 2 B E & (554000594829
5% 0 BRI RS 40 5 8,642.45F J5 K RUMI IR 2 1 b (6 R A
ERFPARIMEAHEASETEARAA - ERERA
i - BEIS0F - A2045F 1827 AEIH - ZEz@E
EE 4 587,336.98F 7 K + HIAE £ERBNRYIT
WOFHREXEEERAAET  ERARBELA

Real Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (R ie OFEER B X2 W&o
AR /A7) with a total Gross Floor Area of approximately 87,336.98 sq.m. for
office and commercial culture use.

(2)  According to Business Licence No. 914403003059177335 dated 4 April 2019, (2)
Shenzhen Shekou New Times Real Estate Investment and Management Co.,
Ltd. (RN OFEREEE IR AR A A]) was established on 23 April 2014 as
a limited liability company.

BB A9F4A48 28 EHRB(E
914403003059177335%5%) AT AR EXEE
BRATIN2014F4A23A0KZAER AT

(3)  Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy (3)
information provided by the REIT Manager is set out below:

REFTEEARRZEOEN  BFHREBOHRZ
DITEHIAT

Occupancy Profile & AR
Approximate
Gross Rentable
Area % of Total
Type Rl BATHEAEE HEmENES L
(sg.m.)
CFHK)
Leased Skl 65,161.76 96.4
Vacant RE 2,438.27 3.6
Total: et 67,600.03 100.0
Lease Commencement Profile THERAERN
Approximate
Gross % of *Monthly % of No. of % of
Rentable Area Total Rental Total Tenancies Total
BATHEE LA *§ A Rz bk ) FEES )
Year FH BEE Aot e Aot #A Aot
(sq.m.) (RMB)
(F7K) (AR¥7TT)
2011 20114 975.16 1.5 224,689.30 2.1 1 1.1
2016 20164 2,140.77 3.3 409,752.38 3.9 3 3.4
2017 20174 11,532.93 17.7 1,654,972.95 15.6 13 14.6
2018 20184 9,278.14 14.2 1,660,020.00 15.6 22 24.7
2019 20194 41,234.76 63.3 6,667,040.03 62.8 50 56.2
Total: o 65,161.76 100.0 10,616,474.66 100.0 89 100.0
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Note: (continued)

(3)  (continued)
Occupancy Profile (continued)
Lease Expiry Profile

Approximate

Mt - (%)

3)

(%)
16 PR ()
HETHER

Gross % of Monthly % of No. of % of
Rentable Area Total Rental Total Tenancies Total
BATHEE TLBEEN 8A Rz EizE| BB
Year F5 BEE Aot e Aot #A Aot
(sq.m.) (RMB)
CF7K) (AR¥TT)
2019 20194 430.73 0.7 74,304.99 0.7 3 3.4
2020 20204 19,558.43 30.0 3,474,886.02 32.7 43 48.4
2021 20214 13,518.57 20.7 2,332,574.17 22.0 21 23.6
2022 20224 27,420.93 421 4,268,729.48 40.2 18 20.2
2023 20234 516.39 0.8 70,411.43 0.7 1 1.1
2024 2024%F 454.76 0.7 53,553.33 0.5 2 2.2
2032 20324 3,261.95 5.0 342,015.24 3.2 1 1.1
Total: #Et 65,161.76 100.0 10,616,474.66 100.0 89 100.0
Lease Duration Profile TEEEER
Approximate
Gross % of Monthly % of No. of % of
Rentable Area Total Rental Total Tenancies Total
BHTHEHE (HEEEHN &R RN =R THEBE
Year F1p BEE Aot e Aotk #A Aotk
(sg.m.) (RMB)
(FF77K) (AR¥TT)
Up to 1 year TiEBB1F 2,835.33 4.3 470,598.75 4.4 23 25.8
More than 1 year and 15 HE
up to 2 years TR 19,361.06 29.7 3,319,331.41 31.3 20 22.5
More than 2 years and 2F A LR
up to 3 years THBIA3F 26,560.22 40.8 4,456,451.77 42.0 31 34.8
More than 3 years and 3FLAERE
up to 4 years THB@aT 2,270.26 3.5 424,318.10 4.0 2 2.2
More than 4 years and 4F A B
up to 5 years T HBB5F 9,766.10 15.0 1,360,044.38 12.8 10 11.2
More than 5 years and SELAEE
up to 6 years THBIA6F 131.68 0.2 19,025.71 0.2 1 1.1
More than 9 years and 9 LA FE
up to 10 years THEHE105F 975.16 1.5 224,689.30 2.1 1 1.1
More than 12 years and 12F LA H1B
up to 13 years THB@134E 3,261.95 5.0 342,015.24 32 1 1.1
Total: et 65,161.76 100.0 10,616,474.66 100.0 89 100.0
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Note: (continued)

(4)  We have prepared our valuation on the following assumptions:

(i) Shenzhen Shekou New Times Plaza Real Estate Investment and
Management Co., Ltd. (FRYITTR AFEREZEE AR AQF) is in
possession of a proper legal title to the Property and is entitled to
transfer the Property with the residual term of its land use right at
no extra land premium or other onerous payment payable to the
government;

(i) All land premium and other costs of public utilities, ancillary and
infrastructure fees have been fully settled;

(iii)  The design and construction of the Property have been approved by the
relevant government departments; and

(iv)  The Property may be freely disposed of to the purchasers at nil
encumbrances.

(5)  In accordance with the information provided by the REIT Manager, the status
of title and grant of major approvals and licences are as follows:

Real Estate Ownership Certificate Yes (above ground)
Business Licence Yes

(6)  In valuing the Property, we have adopted the Income Capitalisation Method
and cross-checked by the Market Comparison Method. Our key assumptions

EEENATRERETHRE -
(i) RINTEROMEREXERARIFAEEZMED
ERETEHRE  AREEZMEERE T ME

HVER T BT B RS SNABR T AT D R e s A
MEEHR

(i)  FIALMHES R AWK - SR R AR R
HHAE A EEEE

(i) ZWENR FEREEARERF LIS &

(iv) ZPEAEEERAENBEATERLETED -

RIEEHEERARGZ AR - FRRARET 2 B
RHTEMT :

5 b EE AR BOBEEAL)
BENR =l

B B LA PATH

REZMEETHER  BEE
BEERBBEEBEMOASEF RSB

BHEEETRXRE -

used in the Income Capitalisation Method Valuation are summarised as below: ZEFERBHMMAOT
Income Capitalisation Method L6~ -E:X (473
Monthly Reversionary
Market Rent Term Yield Yield
Use Jizk=d SATHHES FH R EREH=E
(RMB/sq.m.)
(AR#T/
FITK)
Office b N 165 4% 4.5%
Commercial [GEIS 180-300 4% 4.5%
Car Parking Spaces {FEBAL 488 4.5%

*  Monthly market rent is exclusive of management fee and value-added tax.
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VALUATION REPORT
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Market value

in existing

state as at

Particulars of 31 December

Property Description and tenure occupancy 2019
R2019%12831H

LIES BRREH LRFE BRTzmE

2. Cyberport Building, Cyberport Building is an office building technically zoned  As at the Valuation RMB1,039,000,000
No. 1079, for industrial use which comprises a 9-storey office building Date, portion of the (RENMINBI
Nanhai Avenue, and a 6-storey office building, connected by a corridor at ~ Property with a total ONE BILLION

Nanshan District,
Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC
FRIERERYImAE L
&8 KB 107955 815
RE

Level 1 and 2 respectively. The Property also comprises

Gross Rentable Area of

THIRTY NINE MILLION)

commercial units located at Level 1 and 255 car parking
spaces in the basement. The Property was erected on a

parcel of land with a site area of 15,561.45 sg.m. and was

completed in 2009.

BYEEAE (I EEIRTRAE) M AEh— EH
TIOEMAENCOERAR  WEA—BL _BEBNEE
AR - ZMENE— 25 EHEEM RN E255
EEAARK - ZMEENBEEA15,561.45F F KK
7 FWER2009F KT -

The Property has a total Gross Floor Area of 40,435.09
sg.m. with details as follows: \
ZME 7 BEAERAA0,435.09F K - FEET :

approximately 29,928.44 AR#1,039,000,0007T

sq.m. has been leased (ARERE

under various tenancies 2FUEETLE)

with the majority that

expires within 4 years, (Based on the said

yielding a total monthly ~ total monthly rent as
at the Valuation Date,

rent of approximately
RMB3,421,000, exclusive the estimated net
yield of the Property

of management fee and

value-added tax. i5$3.95%.)
NMEERE  ZWE—8 (ERMEEDMRL
D2 aEFTAEEREEY AMEEBE  Z
/529,928 44F 71K+ B MEMEEFIE
BEZERNEE - AH  KEEH3.95% )

Portion Approximate Approximate DHANAFREIE -
;o Gross Floor Gross AHEGEEHAARE
Area Rentable Are  3,421,0007T * T~BEE
BAZHE BATTHE BERZERH -
[ BEE
(sg.m.) (sg.m.)  The remaining part of the
(FAXK) (F7K)  Property was vacant.
ZMENRTBOEE -
Office 38,957.55 37,455.41
/N
Commercial 1,477.54 2,985.84
BXER
255 car parking N/A N/A
spaces TER NiEA
255(E
Total: 40,435.09 40,441.25
@t

Note: The Gross Floor Area relates to Real Estate Title Certificate; the Gross
Rentable Area relates to rent receivable.

The Gross Rentable Area is larger than the Gross Floor Area because,
as per the tenancy details provided to us, some common area are also
devoted for leasing to achieve rent receivable.
Mzt - BEEBREENEREER  HEARBREEKESHR -
AEEREEANEREE RESREAESMEENEEHS -
ETALRENBERE - UBSEKESE o

The land use right of the Property have been granted
for a term of 50 years due to expire on 22 May 2057 for
industrial use.

ZE L HEREERLETERE - RH505F - 1
205795220 58 -
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Notes:

(1

According to Real Estate Title Certificate No. 4000595164 dated 5 August
2014, the land use right of a parcel of land with a site area of approximately
15,561.45 sq.m. have been granted to Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real
Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. CRYITEBEAEEEXEEERA
7)) for a term of 50 years due to expire on 22 May 2057 for industrial use. The
legal title of the Property is vested in Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real Estate

et -

BIEBER201458 A58 2 BHIE#F (54000595164
98) o HERTIEAYA15,561.45F 7 KR 8 2 4 o fh Al
ERTFRIMBBAEELEEFRAR  FLERS
BHIS0F - R2057F5A228 8 - ZxEZREREE
#)/40,435.09F 75K + HIAE EEH BRI EIEA
EBXERBRARAT  EARREERS -

Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (RIITEIBEBAEEEEEEAR QT
with a total Gross Floor Area of approximately 40,435.09 sq.m. for research
and production use.

(2)  According to Business Licence No. 914403003059178641 dated 14 February (2)
2019, Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real Estate Investment and Management
Co., Ltd. (RYITHEE XN E B 2 EEBPR A R]) was established on 23 April 2014
as a limited liability company.

BIEBBHA2019F2 A48 28 EHE(F
9144030030591786415%) * FYIMBHAEEXEES
RARIN2014F4F238BRILABR AT -

REFTEEARBIEOEN  BFHREBOHBRZ
DT

(3)  Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy (3)
information provided by the REIT Manager is set out below:

Occupancy Profile 1 PR
Approximate
Gross Rentable
Area % of Total
Type k- Eid) BRHEEEEE HEEENED L
(sq.m.)
(FF7K)
Leased B 29,928.44 74.0
Vacant HE 10,512.81 26.0
Total: b 40,441.25 100.0
Lease Commencement Profile TEERIAERN
Approximate
Gross % of *Monthly % of No. of % of
Rentable Area Total Rental Total Tenancies Total
BATHEE TREEEN *8 A LB iRy LEEH
Year F6 REE B bk Epild #A Pl
(sg.m.) (RMB)
(FF7K) (AR#TT)
2015 20154 2,525.89 8.4 254,393.21 7.4 1 2.9
2016 20164 338.18 1.1 60,181.88 1.8 2 5.7
2017 20174 3,010.86 10.1 359,107.07 10.5 5 14.3
2018 20184 14,304.17 47.8 1,719,048.65 50.2 16 45.7
2019 20194 9,749.34 32.6 1,028,360.88 30.1 1 31.4
Total: wt 29,928.44 100.0 3,421,091.69 100.0 35 100.0
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Note: (continued)

(3)  (continued)
Occupancy Profile (continued)
Lease Expiry Profile

Approximate

Mt - (%)

3)

(%)
HRABR (&)
HETHER

Gross % of Monthly % of No. of % of
Rentable Area Total Rental Total Tenancies Total
BOTHE TLBEEN 8A hiBREN EizE| hBEH
Year F5 BEE Aot e Aot #A Aot
(sq.m.) (RMB)
CF7K) (AR¥TT)
2020 20204 4,970.12 16.7 565,081.37 16.5 9 25.7
2021 20214 5,625.20 18.8 650,077.21 19.0 7 20.0
2022 20224 10,155.10 33.9 1,135.691.54 33.2 9 25.7
2023 20234 6,532.76 21.8 806,176.05 23.6 8 22.9
2024 20244 2,645.26 8.8 264,065.52 7.7 2 5.7
Total: #at 29,928.44 100.0 3,421,091.69 100.0 35 100.0
Lease Duration Profile HEFHHR
Approximate
Gross % of Monthly % of No. of % of
Rentable Area Total Rental Total Tenancies Total
BATHE HAmEN &R LBER HH TLBHH
Year F4 BER B ik EE:4 #A Bt
(sg.m.) (RMB)
(FF7K) (AR#%TT)
Up to 1 year THBiB14F 896.12 3.0 101,779.43 3.0 2 5.7
More than 1 year and 16 A LB
up to 2 years N2 1,428.50 4.8 171,186.94 5.0 2 5.7
More than 2 years and 2 B
up to 3 years TBIE3EF 10,126.00 33.8 1,116,522.97 32.6 13 37.1
More than 3 years and 3FL LR
up to 4 years TiEBiBAE 2,780.44 9.3 361,221.19 10.6 6 17.2
More than 4 years and 4FL EE
up to 5 years RS E 14,697.38 49.1 1,670,381.16 48.8 12 34.3
Total: #at 29,928.44 100.0  3,421,091.69 100.0 35 100.0
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Note: (continued)
(4)  We have prepared our valuation on the following assumptions:

(i) Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real Estate Investment and Management
Co., Ltd. (FIITEHBAES EEEHRRAF) is in possession of a proper
legal title to the Property and is entitled to transfer the Property with
the residual term of land use right at no extra land premium or other
onerous payment payable to the government;

(ii) All land premium and other costs of public utilities, ancillary and
infrastructure fees have been fully settled;

(iii)  The design and construction of the Property have been approved by the
relevant government departments; and

(iv)  The Property may be freely disposed of to the purchasers at nil
encumbrances.

(5)  In accordance with the information provided by the REIT Manager, the status
of title and grant of major approvals and licences are as follows:

Real Estate Title Certificate Yes (above ground)
Business Licence Yes

(6) In valuing the Property, we have adopted the Income Capitalisation Method
and cross-checked by the Market Comparison Method. Our key assumptions
used in the Income Capitalisation Method Valuation are summarised as below:

EEENATRERETHRE -
(i) RITEBAEEXEEERARANAERLMENLE
NEEERE  AREERZMEER L L BEREDN

T FH T B RBEINA BRSNS LI S s A
EEFUA

(i) PAIALMHESRAMRNE - HERERERER

MEMERRERES

(i) RYFEO R SRR IERBBUTABPIHEME ¢ K&

(iv) ZPEAIEEERAENBEATERHETED -

REFTEEARRZER  ZEANRETFZTEME
REFFAIEMT ¢

5 b EE HERE HUBEEAL)
BENR =l

REZMEETEER - BFCRMAREEAMORALLAT
BLHEEETRIRE - BENREENMUEHESTRA
ZEBBEHANT

Income Capitalisation Method Wi &AL A

Monthly Reversionary
Market Rent Term Yield Yield
Use Jizk= SATHHES FHRz@E EEERE

(RMB/sq.m.)

(ANRET/

FHAK)
Office /N 120 4.5% 5%
Commercial [SES 172 4.5% 5%
Car Parking Spaces fFEAL 531 5%

* Monthly market rent is exclusive of management fee and value-added tax.
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VALUATION REPORT
MIREERS

VALUATION REPORT
EEHRE

Market value
in existing
state as at

31 December

2019
R2019%12831A8
BRTzHE

Particulars of

Property Description and tenure occupancy

ES BRRERS L AR

As at the Valuation
Date, a total Gross
Rentable Area of
approximately 41,546.3
sg.m. has been leased

RMB868,000,000
(RENMINBI

EIGHT HUNDRED
SIXTY EIGHT MILLION)
AE868,000,0007T

Technology Building is an office building technically zoned
for industrial use which comprises a 7-storey main building
and a 6-storey annex building. The Property also comprises
110 car parking spaces. The Property was erected on a

parcel of land with a site area of 17,563.80 sq.m. and was

3. Technology Building,
No. 1067,
Nanhai Avenue,
Nanshan District,
Shenzhen City,

Guangdong Province, completed in 2002. under various tenancies (ARBHIE
the PRC BYEFAB(RM BRI ERR)NBEAERTES  with the majority that EFAEETE)

THEEREFITEL NTBEAESHBETER - ZWETEE0ERFE
BREARBI067FH R L c ZWERMEREEA17,563.80F KR 2 EF
RE A2002F KT -

expires within 3 years,

yielding a total monthly (Based on the said
rent of approximately total monthly rent as
RMB4,023,000, exclusive at the Valuation Date,
of management fee and the estimated net
value-added tax. yield of the Property

The Property has a total Gross Floor Area of 41,578.51
sg.m. with details as follows:

ZWEZBEEMER A4 578 51F K - FENOT REBERE - 5 AHEE is 5.56%.)
BETEL B41,5463FH (EAEERE
Portion Approximate Approximate KEREBEARML LA - i AfS
B Gross Floor Gross HARHHBHRIFAE B ZWEN
Area Rentable Are Hj - §ALHESHAAR ERPEIEL ErES
BAREH BATHRE  14,023,0007T  FBHE B5.56% ° )
& HAEE TREBEEEW -
(sq.m.) (sq.m.)
(ERXK) (ERXK)
Main building 33,529.22 33,497.01
B
Annex building 8,049.29 8,049.29
fEEF
110 car parking N/A N/A
spaces i NiEA
110{Ef= &L
Total: 41,578.51 41,546.30
#t

Note: The Gross Floor Area relates to Real Estate Title Certificate; the Gross

Rentable Area relates to rent receivable.

Bt EEARERGERERR TEELEREEWESER -

The land use right of the Property have been granted for
a term of 50 years due to expire on 7 January 2051 for

industrial use.

ZEZ LWERRERLIETERE - RHS0%F - B1

20511 A7EER o
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MIREERS

Notes:

According to Real Estate Title Certificate No. 4000595344 dated 7 August
2014, the land use right of a parcel of land with a site area of approximately
17,563.80 sg.m. have been granted to Shenzhen Technology Building Real
Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (RIITRIKBEERERA
7)) for a term of 50 years due to expire on 7 January 2051 for industrial use.
The legal title of the Property is vested in Shenzhen Technology Building Real
Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (RIITTRIABEEEEER A R)
with a total Gross Floor Area of approximately 41,578.51 sg.m. with details as

Byt

RIE A B A2014F8 A7H 2 BHbE# % (854000595344
g8) o WERTIEA)A17,563.80F 7 KR 8 2 4 o fh A
ERTRIMBABEEERRAR - FLERZ - BH
504F - M2051F1A7HEH - ZMEZBEEARELN A
41,578 51 F 5K HATERRBRRYMBIABEEE
BHERAR - FIBEWT :

follows:
Building Name Completion Date Gross Floor Area
BFEER %“IHH S
(sq.m.)
(SF73K)
Technology Building 26 June 2002
MERE 20024F6 A26H 33,529.22
Technology Building 26 June 2002
MEAE 200246 A26H 8,049.29
Total:
et 41,578.51

According to Business Licence No. 91440300305917637U dated 15 February
2019, Shenzhen Technology Building Real Estate Investment and Management
Co., Ltd. (RYITHRI KB EEE AR AF]) was established on 25 April 2014 as a
limited liability company.

Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy
information provided by the REIT Manager is set out below:

B E B B 2219 F2 A15H 2 & ¥ 3 B
(2891440300305917637U%%) * ARIIMBRAEXEEEE
R ABIN2014F4A25BK M ABERAF]

BREFTEBARRIEOEN  EZHRFBOBRZ
DITEIINT

Occupancy Profile IEREUR
Approximate
Gross Rentable
Area % of Total
Type ERid) BATHELAEE HEEENE DL
(sgq.m.)
(F755)
Leased Bl 41,546.30 100.0
Total: st 41,546.30 100.0
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Note: (continued) HiaF - (4)
(3)  (continued) 3) (&)
Occupancy Profile (contfnfgled) 45 IR ()
Lease Commencement Profile A E AR
Approximate
Gross % of *Monthly % of No. of % of
Rentable Area Total Rental Total Tenancies Total
BATHEE HAmEN *8A LB LRy LEEH
Year F4 REE B e AL i ¢=] Epild
(sg.m.) (RMB)
(FFF5K) (AR¥7TT)
2017 20174 2,754.59 6.6 289,504.28 7.2 2 8.0
2018 20184 17,742.46 42.7 1,749,419.90 43.5 9 36.0
2019 20194 21,049.25 50.7 1,984,521.04 49.3 14 56.0
Total: et 41,546.30 100.0  4,023,445.22 100.0 25 100.0
Lease Expiry Profile THEDER
Approximate
Gross % of Monthly % of No. of % of
Rentable Area Total Rental Total Tenancies Total
BOTHE TLBEEN 8A R EEH EiE) [LE8 2§
Year FH AEE Aot He Aot 2R Aot
(sq.m.) (RMB)
(FF7K) (AR¥TT)
2020 20204 7,607.23 18.4 731,600.18 18.2 5 20.0
2021 20214 9,653.20 23.2 965,233.78 24.0 5 20.0
2022 20224 13,201.78 31.8 1,299,046.95 32.3 8 32.0
2023 20234 5,670.63 13.6 576,756.33 14.3 4 16.0
2024 20244 5,413.46 13.0 450,807.98 11.2 3 12.0
Total: et 41,546.30 100.0 4,023,445.22 100.0 25 100.0
Lease Duration Profile THEFER
Approximate
Gross % of Monthly % of No. of % of
Rentable Area Total Rental Total Tenancies Total
BATHEE THBEEN 8A {R4BEEM bk EEEY 2T
Year F14 BEE B He AL #A AL
(sg.m.) (RMB)
(FF77K) (AR¥TT)
Up to 1 year THEE1E 12.00 0.0 2,880.00 0.1 1 4.0
More than 1 year and 1FLA B
up to 2 years TEBiE2F 2,268.89 5.6 244,242.88 6.1 2 8.0
More than 2 years and 2P EB
up to 3 years THB3F 21,416.06 51.5 2,089,738.19 51.9 12 48.0
More than 3 years and 3F LR
up to 4 years TH@aF 7,490.38 18.0 708,121.17 17.6 4 16.0
More than 4 years and 4FE HE
up to 5 years T HBIB5F 10,358.97 24.9 978,462.98 243 6 24.0
Total: MMt 41,546.30 100.0 4,023,445.22 100.0 25 100.0

“TEONFEN BAREEETES
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VALUATION REPORT
MIREERS

Note: (continued)
(4)  We have prepared our valuation on the following assumptions:

(i) Shenzhen Technology Building Real Estate Investment and Management
Co. Ltd. (RINTARIRBXEE AR AR]) is in possession of a proper
legal title to the Property and is entitled to transfer the Property with
the residual term of land use right at no extra land premium or other
onerous payment payable to the government;

(i) All land premium and other costs of public utilities, ancillary and
infrastructure fees have been fully settled;

(iii)  The design and construction of the Property are in compliance with
the local planning regulations and have been approved by the relevant
government departments; and

(iv)  The Property may be freely disposed of to the purchasers at nil
encumbrances.

(5)  In accordance with the information provided by the REIT Manager, the status
of title and grant of major approvals and licences are as follows:

Real Estate Title Certificate Yes (above ground)
Business Licence Yes

(6) In valuing the Property, we have adopted the Income Capitalisation Method
and cross-checked by the Market Comparison Method. Our key assumptions
used in the Income Capitalisation Method Valuation are summarised as below:

EEENATRERETHRE -

(i) RITHAEXEEERATAEZYWENEE
EEE ARERZMEERELIMERENSRT
FHMBAFIABRHN LIRS EMES

IR
(i) PAIALMHESRAMRNE - HERERERER
MEMERRERES
(i) ZVENRARERTEEWRBRE - X OEM
RABUT ERPIHEE + Jo
(iv) ZOEAJEEERAENBEATERLETED -
BEFTEEARTZEH  ERRRAER T2 EBIE
RFAFRIEMT :

P ERERE BOBEEAL)
BEHR =l

REZYFETHER - EEERMREEMOEL AT
BLHEEETRNERE - BENREENMUEGHESTRA
ZEBBEBALNT

Income Capitalisation Method W E R E

Monthly Reversionary
Market Rent Term Yield Yield
Use AR SATEHES FHREE ERE®RE

(RMB/sq.m.)

(AR¥T/

FHHK)
Office WRE 111 4.5% 5%
Car Parking Spaces fFEAL 419 5%

* Monthly market rent is exclusive of management fee and value-added tax.
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VALUATION REPORT

fREHRE

Market value
in existing
state as at
Particulars of 31 December
Property Description and tenure occupancy 2019
R2019%12831H
LIES BRREH LRFE BRTzmE
4. Technology Technology Building 2 is an office building technically As at the Valuation RMB1,082,000,000
Building 2, zoned for industrial use which comprises two 6-storey Date, portion of the (RENMINBI
No. 1057, buildings and 220 car parking spaces in the basement. The Property with a total ONE BILLION
Nanhai Avenue, Property was erected on a parcel of land with a site area of Gross Rentable Area of ~ EIGHTY TWO MILLION)
Nanshan District, 17,232.03 sg.m. and was completed in 2010. approximately 39,886.87 AR#1,082,000,0007T
Shenzhen City, %%%Z?é%‘f(ﬁfht%lz%l%ﬁ%L)E’Jﬂ&ﬁr HI®  sq.m. has been leased (ANREHE
Guangdong Province, 68 THIERME220MEFBAAR o W EAMMBE  under various tenancies AFREETE)

the PRC 8/317,232.03F kMR 2 LW ER2010F KT - with the majority that
HEERERRYIMEL expires within 4 years, (Based on the said
R E5KiE105758 8% The Property has a total Gross Floor Area of 42,531.37 yielding a total monthly  total monthly rent as
REZH sg.m. with details as follows: rent of approximately at the Valuation Date,
HMEBREEERA,531.37FRK  FENT RMB3,955,000, exclusive the estimated net
of management fee and  yield of the Property
Portion Approximate Approximate value-added tax. is4.39%.)
i Gross Floor Gross WEEBRH ZWE—B (ANEERHMAN

Area Rentable Are #ZAFTAIHEELEREL BAMERE 7
BHEH BATHEE 53988687 F 5K B MENBEFME
(G AEE BEZEEOEE KF  WEERAE439% )

(sq.m.) (sq.m) DHEAR4FAZE
(FAXK) (FAk) RAESBEARARE
3,955,000 * TEHEE
Technology 20,991.01 21,080.78 BB RILEF o
Building 2
Building A The remaining part of the
BHE KB Z HIARE Property was vacant.
Technology 21,540.36 22,012.68 ZMENRTHIZEE °
Building 2
Building B
Witf HABE
220 car parking N/A N/A
spaces A TiEH
220{AR AL
Total: 42,531.37 43,093.46
At

Note: The Gross Floor Area relates to Real Estate Title Certificate; the Gross
Rentable Area relates to rent receivable.

The Gross Rentable Area is larger than the Gross Floor Area because,
as per the tenancy details provided to us, some common area are also
devoted for leasing to achieve rent receivable.

fri: EEEREEMEREAR TEEEEEREWESER -

BERBEARNEEEE  REABERESHRHENOHEFE
%%lﬁ[ﬁﬂﬁf’ﬁ% & UBBRKES -

The land use right of the Property have been granted for
a term of 50 years due to expire on 29 June 2057 for
industrial use.

ZNEZ IERECRLEIZRAR - AH505F 1
2057F6H29R 5 -
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MIREERS

Notes:

According to Real Estate Title Certificate No. 4000595343 dated 7 August
2014, the land use right of a parcel of land with a site area of approximately
17,232.03 sq.m. have been granted to Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real
Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. CRIITTRIA—HIBE X ERHR
‘A R)) for a term of 50 years due to expire on 29 June 2057 for industrial use.
The legal title of the Property is vested in Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real
Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. CRIITRIK —HBEXEEER A
7)) with a total Gross Floor Area of approximately 42,531.37 sq.m. with details

et -

BB BHER2014F8 A7 8 2 BHIE# F (54000595343
98) 0 WRTEAA17,232.03F 7 KR8 2 £ o f Al
ERTRIMBA-HMELEEFRAR  FLERS
BHIS0F - R2057F6A29R8 FH - ZMEZREREE
#)/42,531.37F K - REAFEREFBENRITRIAZ
HEXERERARET  FBEWT

as follows:
Building Name Building Use Completion Date Gross Floor Area
BFEER BFEAR ®THH S
(sq.m.)
(SF73K)
Technology Building 2 Building A Industrial 3 February 2010
RECKE — HARE I% 201042 A3H 20,991.01
Technology Building 2 Building B Industrial 3 February 2010
RHRKE ZH3B &% I% 201042 A3H 21,540.36
Total: 42,531.37
#HEt

According to Business Licence No. 914403003059179017 dated 16
April 2019, Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real Estate Investment and
Management Co., Ltd. (RYIT R A ZHIE ¥ E 1B AR A 7)) was established on
24 April 2014 as a limited liability company.

BIEBHAE2019F4 8168 28 EHB(F
9144030030591790175%) » AIIMBRIA—HBXEERE
RARN2014F4 824 BRI ABRAT -

Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy  (3) REBEETEEAREBZHAOER  BEEYUREHOER 2
information provided by the REIT Manager is set out below: AITEIIIAT
Occupancy Profile 1 AR
Approximate
Gross Rentable
Area % of Total
Type ERid) BOUHEAER LHREENE DL
(sg.m.)
CFHXK)
Leased Bl 39,886.87 92.6
Vacant = 3,206.59 7.4
Total: st 43,093.46 100.0
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Note: (continued) HiaF - (4)
(3)  (continued) 3) (&)
Occupancy Profile (contmﬁed) 15 BAESR (4)
Lease Commencement Profile A E AR
Approximate
Gross % of *Monthly % of No. of % of
Rentable Area Total Rental Total Tenancies Total
BATHEE HAmEN *8A LB LRy LEEH
Year F4 REE B e AL i ¢=] Epild
(sg.m.) (RMB)
(FFF5K) (AR¥7TT)
2017 20174 6,574.49 16.5 616,985.00 15.6 4 1.7
2018 20184 19,841.82 49.7 2,033,652.12 51.4 14 41.2
2019 20194 13,470.56 33.8 1,304,585.08 33.0 16 471
Total: et 39,886.87 100.0 3,955,222.20 100.0 34 100.0
Lease Expiry Profile THEDEBR
Approximate
Gross % of Monthly % of No. of % of
Rentable Area Total Rental Total Tenancies Total
BATHEE TLBEEN 8A R EEH EiE) [LE8 2§
Year FH AEE Aot He Aot 2R Aot
(sq.m.) (RMB)
(FF7K) (AR¥TT)
2020 20204 13,999.84 35.1 1,417,324.50 35.8 11 32.4
2021 20214 2,798.08 7.0 319,205.30 8.1 2 5.9
2022 20224 3,697.68 9.3 372,326.45 9.4 5 14.7
2023 20234 16,483.85 41.3 1,527,786.19 38.6 13 38.2
2024 20244 2,907.42 7.3 318,579.76 8.1 3 8.8
Total: et 39,886.87 100.0 3,955,222.20 100.0 34 100.0
Lease Duration Profile THEFER
Approximate
Gross % of Monthly % of No. of % of
Rentable Area Total Rental Total Tenancies Total
BATHEE hHEEmEN 8A {R4BEEM bk EEEY 2T
Year F14 BEE B He AL #A AL
(sq.m.) (RMB)
(FF77K) (AR¥TT)
Up to 1 year THB1F 4,929.77 12.4 531,329.01 13.4 6 17.7
More than 1 year and 1FLA B
up to 2 years T HBiB2F 5,322.29 13.3 521,287.62 13.2 3 8.8
More than 2 years and 26 EE
up to 3 years THBB34F 7,331.61 18.4 787,344.57 19.9 6 17.6
More than 3 years and 3FM LR
up to 4 years THBBATF 6,136.07 15.4 485,007.56 12.3 5 14.7
More than 4 years and 4FE HE
up to 5 years THBB5E 16,167.13 40.5 1,630,253.44 41.2 14 41.2
Total: Fo 39,886.87 100.0 3,955,222.20 100.0 34 100.0
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VALUATION REPORT
MIREERS

Note: (continued)
(4)  We have prepared our valuation on the following assumptions:

(i) Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real Estate Investment and
Management Co., Ltd. CRIITRIAZHEEEEBERAF) is in
possession of a proper legal title to the Property and is entitled to
transfer the Property with the residual term of land use right at no extra
land premium or other onerous payment payable to the government;

(ii) All land premium and other costs of public utilities, ancillary and
infrastructure fees have been fully settled;

(iii)  The design and construction of the Property have been approved by the
relevant government departments; and

(iv) The Property may be freely disposed of to the purchasers at nil
encumbrances.

(5)  In accordance with the information provided by the REIT Manager, the status
of title and grant of major approvals and licences are as follows:

Real Estate Title Certificate Yes (above ground)
Business Licence Yes

(6) In valuing the Property, we have adopted the Income Capitalisation Method
and cross-checked by the Market Comparison Method. Our key assumptions
used in the Income Capitalisation Method Valuation are summarised as below:

EEENATRERETHRE -
(i) RITHA-—HEXERERAFANFERLMENLE
NEEERE  AREERZMEER L L BEREDN

T FH T B RBEINA BRSNS LI S s A
EEFUA

(i) PAIALMHESRAMRNE - HERERERER

MEMERRERES

(i) RYFEO R SRR IERBBUTABPIHEME ¢ K&

(iv) ZPEAIEEERAENBEATERHETED -

REFTEEARRZER  ZEANRETFZTEME
REFFAIEMT ¢

5 b EE HERE HUBEEAL)
BENR =l

REZMEETEER - BFCRMAREEAMORALLAT
BLHEEETRIRE - BENREENMUEHESTRA
ZEBBEHANT

Income Capitalisation Method V&5 -¥: N (A7

Monthly Reversionary
Market Rent Term Yield Yield
Use Az gAMHEES FHKEE BEREIHRE

(RMB/sq.m.)

(AR¥TT/

FHAK)
Office /N 114 4.5% 5%
Commercial EER 235 4.5% 5%
Car Parking Spaces fFEAL 478 5%

* Monthly market rent is exclusive of management fee and value-added tax.
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VALUATION REPORT
EEHRE

Properties held by the Group for investment purposes in the PRC
EXEETERSEERERARNYE

Market value

in existing

state as at

Particulars of 31 December

Property Description and tenure occupancy 2019
R2019F12A31H

mE BRRED ERFE BART2mE

5. Garden City Garden City Shopping Centre is a 5-storey shopping centre As at the Valuation RMB1,559,000,000
Shopping Centre, with various commercial units. The Property also comprises Date, portion of the (RENMINBI

No. 1086 644 car parking spaces and other ancillary facilities in Property with a total ONE BILLION

Nanhai Avenue,
Nanshan District,
Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province,

2-storey basements. The Property was erected on a parcel
of land with a site area of 25,629.40 sg.m. and was
completed in 2006. N
TERA—REERERAEMNSESBNTL - ZM*E

the PRC \ I EEA4ER B A2 BB R B BLE R © &%)
PEERDAIM  REREERA2S5,629.40F KR EWR20065F
FILERGAE BT o

10865 /EE A

The Property has a total Gross Floor Area of 50,496.85
sg.m. with details as follows: 3
AT

ZE 7 BIBEEE A50,496.85F K

Portion Approximate Approximate

i Gross Floor Gross

Area Rentable Are

BAEH BATHE

EE BEE

(sg.m.) (sg.m.)

(F7K) (F77K)

Commercial 50,496.85 57,321,79

i
644 car parking N/A N/A
spaces

6A4{E == TEA TEA

Total: 50,496.85 57,321.79
@Et

Note: The Gross Floor Area relates to Real Estate Title Certificate;
the Gross Rentable Area relates to rent receivable.

The Gross Rentable Area is larger than the Gross Floor Area
because, as per the tenancy details provided to us, some
common area are also devoted for leasing to achieve rent
receivable.

BEEEEEWERESH  AIHERARERERKESR
7 o

T%ﬁ‘ﬂ@wiﬁﬂiﬁﬁi REARRAESHARHENHE
B ETAXRETAERE - LIGEKES -

fitet -

The land use right of the Property have been granted for
a term of 40 years due to expire on 14 April 2044 for
commercial use.

ZMEZ T EREDREEFERS - RE40F - 1
2044F4B14BER °

Gross Rentable Area

of approximately
43,579.71sq.m. has
been leased under
various tenancies with
the majority that expires
within 5 years, yielding
an average total monthly
rent of approximately
RMB7,368,000, exclusive
of management fee and
value-added tax.
REERE - ZWESs
SAMEELEELR
43,579.71F 7 KE)H 7
ERETREHLE K
VN i FO)iNCT S
AE#7,368,0007T
BDREBEREERN -

A total floor area of
11,220.26 sg.m. were
under renovation. The
remaining portion of the
Property was vacant.
BIZEEER11,220.26
?EJRE’JD%EE&Eﬁ@

o HMEMFIGHI D=
E o
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FIVE HUNDRED
FIFTY NINE MILLION)
AR#1,559,000,0007C
(ARERDE
hiTABELE)

(Based on the said
total monthly rent as
at the Valuation Date,
the estimated net
yield of the Property
i55.67%.)

(ERHE B R e
BAMLEE 7
#@J%WEJ@%%
RAB567% ° )
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Notes:

According to Real Estate Title Certificate No. 4000594827 dated 29 July
2014, the land use right of a parcel of land with a site area of approximately
25,629.40 sq.m. have been granted to Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (RIITEEMR B X EEFRAR]) for a
term of 40 years due to expire on 14 April 2044 for commercial use. The legal
title of the Property is vested in Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate Investment
and Management Co., Ltd. (RIITIEERE X E IR ER A A]) with a total
Gross Floor Area of approximately 50,496.85 sq.m. for commercial use.

According to Business Licence No. 91440300305917709L dated 29 November
2018, Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate Investment and Management Co.,
Ltd. ORIITEE B #EE B HR A F]) was established on 24 April 2014 as a
limited liability company.

Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy
information provided by the REIT Manager is set out below:

Byt

BRI BHEIA201457 298 2 B b E 7 (84000594827
5%) ¢ HARFTRAY525,629.40F 7 KA 58 7 £t {F A 48
ERFRINNCEEREXLEEGRAR  EREAE - A
HR404F + M2044F4 140 2)H] - ZEZBEEEELD
£50,496.85F 5K - EUAEEEFBERN AT EERE
¥EEERARET  (FaEAE -

BIEBBHAE218F11 A298 2 4 £HB(F
91440300305917709L5%) « AU ERE M EEEIZER
REIR2014F4 8248 ABER AT -

REFTEEARFIAOEN  BEZYREEOMAZ
DITEIIAT

Occupancy Profile 1 R
Approximate
Gross Rentable
Area % of Total
Type EEid) BAHEEEERE HBEEENED L
(sq.m.)
(FFK)
Leased B 43,579.71 76.0
Vacant =g 13,742.08 24.0
Total: PR 57,321.79 100.0

Note: As at the valuation date, the Gross Rentable Area was 57,321.79 sg.m.
It is expected to be enlarged to 58,590 sq.m. after the renovation of
Zijing City (52F1#).
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Note: (continued) HiaF - (4)

(3)  (continued) (3) (#&)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1 PSR (42 )
Lease Commencement Profile THE AR

Approximate

Gross % of *Monthly % of No. of % of
Rentable Area Total Rental Total Tenancies Total
BATHEE ThBEEN *§ A Rz bk ) JLEE 4]
Year F5 AEE Aot e Aotk #A Aotk
(sq.m.) (RMB)
CFAK) (AR¥TT)
2008 20084 4,101.00 9.5 369,044.34 5.0 1 0.8
2014 20144 291.39 0.7 60,962.49 0.8 1 0.8
2015 20154 3,048.38 7.0 170,521.91 2.3 1 0.8
2016 20164 3,397.94 7.8 547,352.74 7.4 6 4.7
2017 20174 6,512.85 14.9 1,088,546.24 14.8 11 8.5
2018 20184 8,995.51 20.6 1,670,283.80 22.7 30 23.3
2019 20194 17,232.64 39.5 3,461,592.31 47.0 79 61.2
Total: #Et 43,579.71 100.0 7.368,303.82 100.0 129 100.0
Lease Expiry Profile THEDER

Approximate

Gross % of Monthly % of No. of % of
Rentable Area Total Rental Total Tenancies Total
BHTHEHE (HEEEHN &R RN =R THEBE
Year F1p BEE Aot e Aotk #A Aotk
(sq.m.) (RMB)
(FFF5K) (AR¥TT)
2020 20204 13,998.61 32.1 2,896,331.00 39.4 73 56.5
2021 20214 8,199.02 18.8 1,658,277.30 22.6 29 22.5
2022 20224 9,972.23 22.9 1,631,769.63 221 19 14.7
2023 20234 194.00 0.4 38,787.58 0.5 1 0.8
2024 20244 1,261.33 2.9 224,402.69 3.0 3 2.3
2025 20254 382.54 0.9 75,324.68 1.0 1 0.8
2026 20264 4,101.00 9.4 369,044.33 5.0 1 0.8
2027 20274 2,257.23 52 282,704.52 3.8 1 0.8
2028 20284 3,213.65 7.4 191,662.09 2.6 1 0.8
Total: et 43,579.71 100.0 7.368,303.82 100.0 129 100.0
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Note: (continued) Wiz - (&)
(3)  (continued) (3) (#&)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1k AR (&)
Lease Duration Profile THEFEHAR
Approximate
Gross % of Monthly % of No. of % of
Rentable Area Total Rental Total Tenancies Total
BRHEE ThEEEN 8A 1ThBRER EizES| THBEW
Year FH BEE Botk bk Epald #HE Bk
(sg.m.) (RMB)
CF7K) (AR¥T)
Up to 1 year BT 7,298.95 16.6 1,647,278.38 22.5 48 37.2
More than 1 year and 1A LB
up to 2 years THBiE2F 5,602.42 12.9 1,481,148.24 20.1 36 27.9
More than 2 years and 296 LR
up to 3 years THBB3E 7,123.75 163 1,317,386.04 17.9 18 14.0
More than 3 years and 3FEMNEE
up to 4 years THBIBAE 3,953.06 9.1 636,155.43 8.6 10 7.8
More than 4 years and 4F LA B
up to 5 years T EBIESE 9,355.71 21.5 1,306,637.63 17.7 12 9.3
More than 5 years and S EE
up to 6 years TEBiB6E 291.39 0.7 60,962.49 0.8 1 0.8
More than 7 years and TEEE
up to 8 years THBIBSE 382.54 0.9 75,324.68 1.0 1 0.8
More than 9 years and 9F LA LR
up to 10 years BB 10F 5,470.88 12.6 474,366.60 6.4 2 1.6
More than 16 years and 1645 A E1B
up to 17 years THB17F 4,101.00 9.4 369,044.33 5.0 1 0.8
Total: #@at 43,579.71 100.0 7,368,303.82 100.0 129 100.0
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Note: (continued)

(4)

(5)

(6)

We have prepared our valuation on the following assumptions:

(i) Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate Investment and Management Co.,
Ltd. (RIITIEEREXEEGRAR]) is in possession of a proper
legal title to the Property and is entitled to transfer the Property with
the residual term of land use right at no extra land premium or other
onerous payment payable to the government;

(ii) All land premium and other costs of public utilities, ancillary and
infrastructure fees have been fully settled;

(iii)  The design and construction of the Property are in compliance with
the local planning regulations and have been approved by the relevant
government departments; and

(iv)  The Property may be freely disposed of to the purchasers at nil
encumbrances.

In accordance with the information provided by the REIT Manager, the status
of title and grant of major approvals and licences are as follows:

Real Estate Title Certificate Yes (above ground)
Business Licence Yes

In valuing the Property, we have adopted the Discounted Cash Flow Method
and cross-checked by the Market Comparison Method. Our key assumptions
used in the Discounted Cash Flow Method Valuation are summarised as below:

Monthly Market Rent*
Annual Growth in Market Rent

RMB201 per sgq.m.
Year 1-3%; Stabilised at 2%

Occupancy Rate Year 1-87%; Stabilised at 98%

Discount Rate 8.75%
Terminal growth Rate 2%
* Monthly market rent covers the rent of anchor tenants and is exclusive

of management fee and value-added tax.

Mt - (%)

4)

5)

BEEENATRRETHE

()  RITIEEREXERARARNEAZDENER
EEEE - BREEEZMFEREL L EREN
TEHSmMBARINABTES Lt HES A
BERA

(i) PIALMHESRAMRE - HERERERER
WEME RS BB

(i) ZMENRIERTAEHRERE - LS ER
RABURT BBFIHEE « J2

(iv) “PEIEEERAENBEATERLETE. -

BEFTEBARTIEHN  ERRRER T2 BIE
RFFAIEMT -

B EREE BOLEEAL)
BRI =l

REZYFETHER  SZERGRRRERBELN
MHLBEETRINRE - BEERBRB SR EEMHET
KRBz EBRBEROT

SAMERS* FEHKAREE201T
mBHEeFERE BE3%  BEM2%
AR BF87% : IBEEI8%
BhIR 8.75%

KA RE 2%

* BATSHESEEIZEEAFPNES  ETREERE
B RIRET -
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MARKET OVERVIEW

China General Overview

The People’s Republic of China (“PRC") is the world’s second
biggest economic system (in terms of GDP) and the third largest
country (in terms of total area) with a population of approximately
1.4 billion in 2019. Since the reform and opening policies
instituted 41 years ago, the PRC’'s GDP has been continuously
growing. The country had realised double-digit annual growth
until 2007. Since 2010 when recovered from the economic crisis,
PRC's economy has experienced steady growth with a softening
trend. Under the influence of various macro-economic policies,
the PRC’s GDP increased from approximately RMB64 trillion in
2014 to approximately RMB99 trillion in 2019, representing a
CAGR of approximately 9.1%. The growth of the PRC’s booming
economy is supported by the remarkably rising internal demand
and the modestly developing external demand.

Shenzhen City Overview

Shenzhen is one of the four first-tier cities in the PRC. It is situated
at the eastern coast of River Pearl, sitting just across the river from
Hong Kong, with a land area of approximately 1,997.47 square
kilometres. Shenzhen is the first special economic zone in China,
with nine districts and one new zone under its jurisdiction. As one
of the core cities in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area, Shenzhen is playing a strategically important role in the
development of financial service, information technology, trade
and logistics.

Shenzhen Office Market

There are several Grade A office submarkets in Shenzhen,
including Luohu, Futian, Nanshan, Baoan, Longhua and
Longgang. More than 80% of the Grade A office buildings are
located at Futian and Nanshan district.

The Central Business District (CBD) in Futian has the largest
supply of Grade A office buildings in Shenzhen. Many domestic
and multinational corporates, especially those from the finance
sector, choose this area as their priority presence. The Shenzhen
Bay-Houhai area in Nanshan, where many headquarters base, is
playing an increasingly important part in the Shenzhen Grade A
office market. The Qianhai-Shekou Free Trade Area in Nanshan
and Baoan, thanks to the policy, is planned to facilitate the
functions of financial service, international trade, port logistics,
and information technology service, and expected to be the main
source of future office supply.
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MARKET OVERVIEW (continued)

Shenzhen Office Market (continued)

Supply and Demand

The total stock of Grade A office market by the end of 2019
was around 5.52 million sgq.m. New supply of Grade A office in
2019 was approximately 535,590 sg.m., which was mainly from
Nanshan and Futian submarket. For the coming five years, Grade
A office total supply is expected to reach around 8.5 million sq.m.,
and Nanshan, especially Qianhai, will be the main force of supply.

Prevailing economic uncertainty and ongoing deleveraging action
nationwide impacted Shenzhen’s Grade A office market in 2019.
Reflecting this, net absorption amounted to only 101,700 sg.m.
Affected by both new supply and weak demand, the vacancy rate
of Grade A office in Shenzhen increased 6.33 percentage points
y-0-y t0 22.04%.

With the advantage of new supply and lower rent, Nanshan and
Baoan district became the main force of absorption in the Grade
office market, with net absorption of 148,000 sq.m. and 54,200
sg.m. respectively. In contrast, traditional business districts, Luohu
and Futian, recorded a net absorption of -30,164 sq.m. and
-70,458 sq.m.

Rent

In an effort to attract quality tenants during this period of
economic uncertainty, some landlords offered incentives and
adjusted rent, causing the city’'s average rental cost in 2019 to
decrease 12.3% y-o-y to RMB242.5 per sq.m. per month.

By submarket, rent in Futian fell 12.9% g-o0-g to average
RMB268 per sq.m. per month. The decline was driven by office
spaces vacated by financial firms and caution exercised by some
landlords to lease out idle office buildings to risky tenants. Ahead,
competition arising from existing stock and projected new supply
to complete are likely to place downward pressure on Futian’s
average rent. In Nanshan, despite active leasing demand from
TMT and improving business environment, intensive supply
of Grade A office caused fierce competition. Average rent in
Nanshan dropped 8.4% g-o-g to RMB221 per sgq.m. and the
vacancy rate increased to 29.1%. Elsewhere, Luohu’s average
rent edged down to RMB209 per sq.m., while vacancy crept up
to 12.8% following a number of tenants relocating to quality
buildings in alternative areas.

TZHE @)
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HERER

00195 KRR R BFTEMGHBEFLNASS2E T A
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2019F - MITHEETREERZ2EFHBEETD
EEECTHFERINFREFENE - At » F
4N £ EA101,700F 5 K o ZETIEMHE N E KR

BPEE  RYFABTEEERIEFIEME33%E

22.04% -

EHHEREREASNEST BLURELHERS
FREFBRAETH  FRAED R A148,000F
FAKKE54,200F 5K - iR - EHEEERENLE
MBS 1S F WA E D BI-30,164F )5 K }-70,458F 5

e
RZEETBERE - ARSIEBERR BTEER
HEBEELAERS  EWMEM2019FFEHE
AL EF TN E123%EFAETFHRKAR242.5
7TE o

BREMHE D REHSR EFETRI129%EF
HEREFHRARE268TT c BB TRIIEARE R
NEEERABM R ETETZEEROBNES T
BT BERBROES - KK - BRAEERFRBEFAHTIH
PP ERRES RS HRANTFHESHERT
7B - REl - @ETMTOR DA EF KR EHIR
BRE  EFERFRASHEEKSEF - @
FHHEER EFETH84% 2T T RARK221
JL EEEIEE29.1% o REMME - B FIIE
SNEREGTHARARK209T - MRBREHEFE
EEMMRNEEETER  EEXTE12.8% -

—TNFEH RERERERES 109



VALUATION REPORT
MIREERS

MARKET OVERVIEW (continued)

Shenzhen Office Market (continued)

Market Trend

In 2020, the new supply of Grade A office is expected to reach
1.78 million sgq.m. The sheer amount of volume is likely to cause
competition to stiffen. But should trade frictions diminish, the
leasing market is expected to rebound thanks to the broad
industry demand for office space.

Shenzhen Industrial Park Overview

The supply of Shenzhen industrial parks is not only from old
factory renovation, but also from new completion on the new
industrial land (MO0). Shenzhen industrial parks can be found in
eight areas, but most of them are located at Nanshan, Baoan,
Longhua and Longgang.

Typical industrial parks include High-tech park and Shekou Net
Valley in Nanshan, Vanke Spark Online in Longgang, Baoneng
Tech-park in Longhua, and Taihua Wutongdao in Baoan. These
industrial parks have attracted companies from the sector of
internet, e-commerce, telecommunication, computer, cultural
creativity and data centre etc.

Supply and Demand

Currently there are over 3,600 sizable industrial parks in
Shenzhen, and 95% of listed technology companies settled in
these parks. The vacancy rate of prime industrial parks citywide
was recorded at around 10% in the third quarter of 2019.

The high-tech park in Nanshan is a typical area for industrial parks
in Shenzhen. By the end of 2019, total supply of industrial parks
in the area reached 3.54 million sq.m. Influenced by the softening
trend of the overall economy, the demand of prime industrial
parks was shrinking, resulting in a decline in net absorption. The
occupancy rate in the high-tech part was around 90% to 95%.

Shekou Net Valley is a successful case of renovation, with
approximately 420,000 sq.m. supply of both renovated factories
and newly built office buildings. The occupancy rate in the area is
around 85% to 90%.
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MARKET OVERVIEW (continued)

Shenzhen Industrial Park Overview (continued)

Rent

The average rent of prime industrial park in 2018 was around 55
per sg.m. The figure covered samples in developed area, such as
Nanshan, where the sample rent ranged from RMB80 to 180 per
sg.m., and developing area like Longgang, where rent was only at
RMB40 per sq.m.

The current asking rent of prime industrial parks in Nanshan high-
tech parks ranges from RMB100 to 180 per sq.m., and rent in
Shekou Net Valley is around RMB80 to 150 per sq.m.

Market Trend

The external environment offers a great prospect for the future
development of industrial park. The government sector has
carried out various policies on both city renovation and new
industrial land supply to support the development of the industrial
parks. Meanwhile, as the technology peer in the Greater Bay
Area, Shenzhen is expected to attract more and more technology
companies, thus stimulating the demand for R&D office and
continuously taking up more supply of the industrial parks.

Shenzhen Retail Overview

Shenzhen prime retail properties can be found in districts with
a considerable resident base, such as Luohu, Futian, Nanshan,
Baoan, Longhua and Longgang, and most of the prime shopping
centres are in Futian and Nanshan.

Supply and Demand

Shenzhen’s prime retail stock rose to 4.6 million sq.m. by the
end of 2019. New supply of prime shopping centres in 2019
amounted to 786,000 sg.m., 66% of which are located in the
emerging submarkets, such as Baoan, Guangming and Longhua
district.

Thanks to improving transportation, prime malls in the emerging
submarkets enjoyed a sizeable resident base and attracted busy
traffic, while malls in the mature submarket actively restructured
their tenant profile to achieve stagger competition. Therefore,
despite a y-o-y increase of 52% in new retail supply, the citywide
vacancy rate stabilized at 4% by the end of 2019.
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MARKET OVERVIEW (continued)

Shenzhen Retail Overview (continued)

Rent

New landmark projects are helping to develop Shenzhen’s retail
market, and, supported by convenient transport connections, an
increasing number of Hong Kong residents visited, particularly for
F&B. Promotion activities supported by the Shenzhen Shopping
Festival also boosted traffic. Therefore, regardless of competitive
rentals in new completions, the city’s average rent (of retail
stores at the best floor) in the fourth quarter of 2019 mounted
to RMB902.5 per sq.m. per month, a y-o-y increase of 3.7% from
the end of previous year.

Market Trend

The market is expected to add 675,000 sqg.m. of new retail supply
through 2020, with around 60.7% of the new malls slated for
mature submarkets. New completions should cause further
competition in the core areas. Meanwhile, emerging submarkets
that enjoy a sizeable resident base, including Longhua and Xili, are
expected to grow further as new prime retail supply comes online
this year.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B RHERE

Deloitte

TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL
REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST

(a Hong Kong collective investment scheme authorised under
section 104 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong))

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (“China
Merchants Commercial REIT”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 121 to 201, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in net assets attributable to unitholders, distribution statement
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the period from
15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December
2019, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial disposition of the Group as at 31
December 2019 and of its financial transactions and cash flows
for the period then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standard Board (“IASB").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code"”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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B BB E

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

REMBRRFITRSE @

HRETSER
BREFFESREBERMANEZHE - R REANHHE
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PIEF R ES M BRI IR AR REEE - M
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consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Valuation of investment properties

BREYMRME

We have identified the valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
balance to the consolidated financial statements, as

a whole, combined with the significant judgments
associated with determining the fair value.

As disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s office buildings and a shopping
centre located in Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") which are classified as investment
properties amounted to RMB6,609,000,000, representing
approximately 82% of the Group’s total assets, with

its change in fair value included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. During the period, an increase in fair value of
investment properties amounted to RMB28,533,000.
ERREMEREEREGESUBERRBRCERM - /I
FEEAABESRERAG - HFKEZMNABERET
ESE
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ETFTNAEERARETSR

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

HZHEREEMEEEZRFERE

e  Evaluating the competence, capabilities, and
objectivity of the Valuer;
FHEHEMZ B - se ) REEIM

e Understanding the Valuer's valuation process and
methodology, the performance of the property
markets in Shenzhen, the PRC, significant
assumptions adopted, critical judgmental areas and
key inputs used in the valuations;
BRLEMZHERRERTE  PERIIMETISZ
KB AEMRRA 2 ERMRE - PR 2 B H R
REBHAZIE

e  Evaluating the appropriateness of the methodology
and assumptions against industry norms with
reference to market research report or other similar
properties;

DEMISMEMEREMBOYE - FHHITERE 2
TERRER & @
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)
Valuation of investment properties
(continued)

REWXMLE(H)

The Group's investment properties are carried at fair value
based on the valuations performed by an independent
qualified professional valuer (the “Valuer”) who adopted
income approach - income capitalisation method or
discounted cash flow analysis to arrive the valuation of
investment properties as at 31 December 2019. Details
of the valuation techniques, significant assumptions and
key inputs, namely discount rate, monthly term rental,
term yield, reversionary yield and reversionary rental,
used in the valuations are disclosed in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements. China Merchants
Land Asset Management Co., Limited, the manager of
China Merchants Commercial REIT (the “Manager”) has
reviewed and exercised its judgment on the key inputs to
the valuations and results on valuations.
EEEREMERBBE IS ERBERMEM([HER])E
ﬁWE{EE’AﬁFTﬁ@J o fHERMERAKRAE - R E R
A RBR S ME DT AEBN2019F12A31BKRE
MERGEE o HEFMRBNMGERN EARIZREARK
REBEIRE - A€ - FHEHRX EHRLHKRERER
He)ZFBEREEMBHRERMT13RE - BRB/EER
AECHNERAHBREMEERRARTERANEE
BIEER = 2 ABER MGEAER - Wtk fED &

mEMB/RREFTRSE @

BRESTBH@
How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(continued)

RMWENAEEBRRETBH(E)

e Assessing the reasonableness of key inputs used
in the valuations by (i) checking the details of
monthly term rental on a sample basis to the
respective underlying existing tenancy agreements;
(i) comparing them to relevant market information
on prices, rentals achieved, term yield, reversionary
yield and reversionary rental adopted in other similar
properties in the neighbourhood;
FR()HEREREAERERERREAESFHS ¢ (i)
Eﬁ%%ﬁﬁ@*ﬂ&%%%)ﬂ BER - e - FHRER
EEHEEREARERFHES 2 HAETISERETL
" %1}51&@%%%25xim)\%{?ﬁze\.f@ M

e Assessing the reasonableness of the assumptions and
inputs used by the Valuer in determining the discount
rates by benchmarking to market data; and
VAT 35 BU8 A B ERT (i (i (B A 7 7 X8 B 3R R B P ER 4
ZRERBMABBZAEE &

e Challenging the Manager’s sensitivity analyses to
evaluate the adequacy of disclosures about those
key estimates and judgements to which the outcome
of the valuation is most sensitive in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BREE AN HARZSEHGRS P BERRM T 13696
BEERRAFRNBREA RABGEESER S WEN
BRE D -

—NFFER BARAEETESE 115



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B BB E

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)

Other Information

The Manager is responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Manager and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Manager is responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB, and for such internal control as
the Manager determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Manager
is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Manager either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B RBEN RS

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)

Responsibilities of the Manager and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements (continued)

In addition, the Manager is required to ensure that the
consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with the relevant provisions of the deed of trust
dated 15 November 2019, as amended from time to time (the
“Trust Deed”) and the relevant disclosure provisions of Appendix
C of the Code on Real Estate Investment Trusts (the “REIT Code”)
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Appendix C of the REIT Code, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements. In addition,
we are required to assess whether the consolidated financial
statements of the Group have been prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Trust
Deed and the relevant disclosure provisions of Appendix C of the
REIT Code.

REMBRRFITRSE @

ERARAEERGEMBRRARENER
(&)

R BEEABEREASVBRRERABF2019
FNMAENEARO(ETEER) (EERH))
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Al DMSCANBRREGRXZZRE

REERREEE AESENMBHREREE -

RBETR B G MBRRARENEM

I B R ERA M RRERIE NEEANK
RS FR R MMM EASERRANS S BRE - LR
REMEREEREESTAMECER HTHAE
ERMELOZBERSE - R ZIMREREEA
BH) - HMAU TR ARENATAEMEMALTESR
FAEEME - AEFRERRKFORE - ETRERE
HRBABZEEETHERHEREERBRNERR
o $EARERAAIA R ERFF SRR AR 5 - AR A B TAH
HEB R e BIRA sER B A MR REKHE
AR A WIS ERER PTIE VA EDRE - RIB B RO #5 AR R A
ARBRIEER o o) - HFERE BESENGARM
BHRERERBERNTHEER D REFTRONMERBIGE K
i EREEFTE S T I M8 C PR & 7O A8 B8 4K 55 16 XX

“TNFER BARAEETESE 117



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BY RBE RS

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Manager.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager’s use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B RBEN RS

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BY RBE RS

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)

Report on matters under the relevant provisions of
the Trust Deed and the relevant disclosure provisions
of Appendix C of the REIT Code

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Trust Deed and the relevant disclosure
provisions of Appendix C of the REIT Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Li Man Kei.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

10 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GeEakAMEZEKER

For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019

2019411 /158 (A2 HR]) 22019412 431H 1 BifE]

Notes RMB’000
MtaF AR¥T T
Revenue U =5 5 28,759
Property operating expenses MELEFRE 6 (11,071)
Net property income L E Gyt 17,688
Exchange gain PE 5 e 6,963
Other income E A g A 7 935
Increase in fair value of investment properties BEMENRBEEM 28,533
Manager's fee EIEANE A 8 (1,361)
Trust and other expenses EREREARX (2,031)
Listing expenses EmAX (7,305)
Finance costs BhE AN 9 (2,378)
Profit before tax and distribution to unitholders Rt RBERERELMLFFEAD KA REF 10 41,044
Income taxes Frig#i 11 (12,526)
Profit for the period, before distribution to Kt RESBAIFE AD R EREF
unitholders 28,518
Distribution to unitholders EeBUIFEADIK (12,245)
Profit for the period, after distribution to KA RESBEMFA AD IR EN G
unitholders 16,273
Total comprehensive income for the period, e REEPBMIFEARSER
after transactions with unitholders AW S A% 16,273
RMBO0.03
Basic earnings per unit BESBENERRET 12 AK¥0.037T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PRIR R

As at 31 December 2019
20194 12H31H

Notes RMB’000
k=3 ARBT T
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investment properties wEYZE 13 6,609,000
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB KkEE 291
6,609,291
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 R HE M EIGRIE 14 748
Amounts due from related companies FE Uk BB A B3R IE 27 6,206
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRKRE R 15 1,461,377
1,468,331
Total assets BEHRE 8,077,622
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables E 5 R H A FER FRIA 16 83,852
Amounts due to related companies iRk NGIE ) 27 1,277,199
Distribution payable FER 9k 14,371
Tax payables FERTREIE 44,279
1,419,701
Non-current liabilities, excluding net assets FRBEE(TEEESEMZEEAA
attributable to unitholders EhEEFHE)
Secured bank borrowings BEPIRITIE X 17 1,887,632
Deferred tax liabilities RIER T B (E 18 982,988
Total non-current liabilities, excluding net kRBEBEB(TEEESENREA
assets attributable to unitholders EEEEFE) 2,870,620
Total liabilities, excluding net assets EEAR(TEEESENEEAEN
attributable to unitholders EEFHEH) 4,290,321
Net assets attributable to unitholders ESBURFEARLEESRE 3,787,301
Number of units in issue (‘000) ERTESENEHE (TE) 19 1,127,820
Net asset value per unit BESENEERE RMB3.36

20 AR¥3.367T

The consolidated financial statements on pages 121 to 201 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of
China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited, as the
Manager of China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment
Trust (“China Merchants Commercial REIT”), on 10 March 2020

and were signed on its behalf by:

Guo Jin
SpEE
DIRECTOR
3

122 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2019

FI1212E201 BEMERE BB HTN202063 A 10
ERARRESHEREFETES((BARNERT
E2 ) NEBARBRENEEERATNESSH
HERIRETE  WATIHIATRERES

Yu Zhiliang
RER
DIRECTOR
EF



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS
HREESENBAARGEEFEEDR

For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019
2019115158 (K7 HA]) 22019412 A31H 11 AfE

Profit
Issued Other less
units reserve distribution Total
BT
HEeB N Hivfs BFARE2R st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥®TR AR¥Tn AR®Tx
(note 19)
(Kt:#19)
Units issued for acquisition of BB AR B TE S B
subsidiaries 1,162,025 - - 1,162,025
Units issued for initial offering on FAR2019F 12 A10H BIREE
10 December 2019 BITEESEN 2,305,934 - - 2,305,934
Unit issue costs HE BABTKA (76,430) - - (76,430)
Excess of fair value of the Acquired ~ BUEMBAR(ZEE
Subsidiaries (as defined in note 23)  ff523) A5 BEHEE
over acquisition cost (note /) WA 2 =58 (M) = 379,499 = 379,499
Deemed contribution from —REARESBEMIFEAN
a significant unitholder (note ij) BIEEE (Hiatii) - 2,126 - 2,126
Profit for the period, before Rt RE® BAFA AD KA
distribution to unitholders HI 4 A - - 28,518 28,518
Distribution declared BEEIRDIK - = (12,245) (12,245)
Distribution commitment from —HERESBMEEAN
a significant unitholder (note ii) IR (W aEi) - (2,126) - (2,126)
Net assets attributable to unitholders #2019 12 A31BE S B
as at 31 December 2019 RAEANEEEERE 3,391,529 379,499 16,273 3,787,301
Notes: Htat -

)

(if)

Upon completion of the acquisition, China Merchants Commercial REIT owns
the property holding companies established in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC") through Frontier Shekou Commercial Holdings Limited (“Frontier
Shekou”). The amount represents excess of fair value of the Acquired
Subsidiaries over acquisition costs amounting to RMB379,499,000 during the
period. Details are set out in note 23.

Pursuant to the DPU commitment deed as descripted in note iv of distribution
statement, Eureka Investment Company Limited (“Eureka”), a company with
significant influence over China Merchants Commercial REIT, shall make a
cash payment to the DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Trustee”) for
the benefit of China Merchants Commercial REIT of an amount equal to the
shortfall multiplied by the number of units at the record date. The cash to be
received from Eureka for the distribution commitment is considered as deemed
contribution from an unitholder.

(i)

(i)

RUEETER IR - BB B X EEE R & BFrontier Shekou
Commercial Holdings Limited([Frontier Shekou])#&K
REAREMBE(THEDKZODEZERAT - Z&5EIE
HABWENBAR AL BEBLEKER A 2 ZBARE
379,499,0007T ° HIGEIHIFE23 ©

BB IRKRM IV S E S BM D IREAEZE - Y17
ARNEFRESBRABSAYENNHRREBERARA
Az EARERREREEESNMNBAEEEET
(BFR)ERARA([ZRADERREMNR - SBHEERE
BRANRCH A RNESELEE - B0 IRARE B s
WHRRSHRE S —BESBLFEANRELE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER

For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019

2019411 /158 (A7 AH]) 22019412 431H 1 BifE

Note RMB’000
HiaE AR®T

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

REEE

Profit before tax and distribution to unitholders Rt RBERESELFEAD KSR 41,044
Adjustments for: HATEBEIELHFAE

Increase in fair value of investment properties KEMENREBEEM (28,533)

Depreciation e 3

Interest income FLEMA (632)

Interest expenses FERXE 2,178

Amortisation of upfront payments B FRIB 5 200

Listing expenses paid by related companies BB AR ETE R 6,862

Exchange gain g (6,963)
Operating cash flow before movements LERCHFPINCEHERE

in working capital 14,159
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 N H Ath e U FIE R 7,285
Decrease in amounts due from related companies & U A A 728 13,948
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 N2 F M FE A IR (23,539)
Decrease in amounts due to related companies i NGIE O =D (3,929)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETHRBELSTE 7,924
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries W R H B A A1 RIE 23 (2,705,597)
Addition to investment properties RBEREME (1,467)
Interest received AN 632
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETBHIARSTE (2,706,432)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES il SE B
Proceed from issue of units BIESBEMMSHRIE 2,305,934
New bank loans raised FESRITENK 1,906,714
Loan front-end fee paid ENERAIEHER (14,400)
Issue costs TR AN (40,444)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEBBESTE 4,157,804
Net increase in cash and cash equivalent Re RN EEBYILINFEEE 1,459,296
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT HNREREESZEY

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD -
Effect of foreign exchange rate change AN =R Bl ) o 28 2,081
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HABESRBSZEY S

AT END OF PERIOD,
represented by bank balances and cash BMR1TAAR RIS 1,461,377
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DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT
N
DIRER
For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019
20194118158 (B 7 HEI) 22019412 531H 1 Hif4

RMB’000
AR®T
Profit for the period, before distribution R RESBUIFEAD RN REF
to unitholders 28,518
Adjustments: AR
Increase in fair value of investment properties REMER A BEEM (28,533)
Non-cash finance costs FREREME 2,378
Exchange gain ERAl e (6,963)
Depreciation e 3
Listing expenses EmRx 7,305
Deferred tax BRI 9,537
Total distributable income to unitholders (note (ii)) AEELENTIEE A DR BEE (H (i) 12,245
Payout ratio 2K =& 100%
Distributions per unit ("DPU") BELBUSRK(BESENSIK])
Proposed final distribution per unit to be paid BEYNNBESEMNSRDIR
Before taking into account the effect of the R R AR B2 H (H 3Ziii) RMB0.0109
distribution commitment (note Jii) AKR%0.0109T
After taking into account the effect of the St RARAEER 2R (H i) RMB0.0127
distribution commitment (note iv) AR¥0.0127
Notes: Mt -

BIRETERY  BEAREERTESR LA BREND IR
£22019F12 4108 ([ LT REA)Z=20194F 12 A31 8 HifE
B BZDIRAR2019F IR EARELAE—DIK

(i) Pursuant to the Trust Deed, China Merchants Commercial REIT's distribution (i)
after the listing date relates to the period from 10 December 2019 (the
“Listing Date”) to 31 December 2019 and is the only distribution to be made
for the financial period of 2019.

RIFEFERL - AT RBABRBERARGTRESEMFE A

DIROEARER - WAAFABLERIIAEBFERES B

REMEPEKERNOFAE(BRREERON)NZE - B8

RE*EAESARNES EMLFEE ADIKE S EH B M

T\Q\ﬁé%%ﬂ’ﬂﬂ%i)ﬂ&)\ ° BRANBRBRAES EF

ADEKBEREEETESNE ETHEE2022512
ﬁ31 HEERERE100%FE A5 RKABE - mEE

REEMBFERE D DIRFREAIME D REALER0% °

(i)  Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the total distributable income is profit for the (ii)
period, before distribution to unitholders as adjusted to eliminate the effects
of Adjustments (as set out in the Trust Deed) which have been recorded
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income statement for the relevant year. China Merchants Commercial REIT
is required to distribute to unitholders not less than 90% of its distributable
income of each financial period. The Manager’s policy is to distribute to the
Unitholders an amount of 100% of annual total distributable income of China
Merchants Commercial REIT for each relevant period from the Listing Date to
31 December 2022, and at least 90% of the total annual distributable income
for each financial year thereafter.

(iii)

The proposed final distribution per unit of RMB0.0109 for the period ended HZE2019F12A31 B L IR GRS EMNEZRR DK

(iii)

31 December 2019 is calculated based on the final distribution to be paid to
unitholders of RMB12,245,000 for the period and 1,127,819,549 units in issue
as at 31 December 2019.

AR#0.01097T HiRIEEA A M E S BRI A A HREK
2k A R#12,245,0007T % 2019412 A31 BB HITHE
£ 871,127,819,549@+ & -
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DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT
N

DIRER

For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019

20194118150 (B 7 HEI) 22019412 531 H 1F Hif4

Notes: (continued)

(iv)

Pursuant to the DPU commitment deed entered into among, Eureka, China
Merchants Commercial REIT and the Trustee, Eureka has undertaken to make a
payment to the Trustee for the benefit of China Merchants Commercial REIT if
the annualised provisional DPU is less than the annualised committed DPU for
the relevant periods as set out below:

Relevant period

HEEAE

Hiat - ()

(iv) REHZE BHRRHEARRESERTAMILNEGES
BRUDIKEAHRL  hREARFLCEESESBEMLDIR
ER B SR F L ERES BN IREAHERRZFEAER
NROABERRESTESRZEA)MT

Annualised
committed DPU
FBELENDIREHE

Listing Date to 31 December 2019
T REIE2019512A31H

12 months ending 31 December 2020
#E2020F12 8318 1E12{E A

12 months ending 31 December 2021
BE2021F12A3181E12(8A

12 months ending 31 December 2022
#HZ=2022612 831811218 A

HK$0.2360 per unit
FHESE(10.2360/57T
HK$0.2360 per unit
FES EM10.2360/7T
HK$0.2541 per unit
BEEH(70.2541787T
HK$0.2614 per unit
BESEN0.261487T

The final DPU after taking into account the effect of the distribution
commitment is RMB0.0127 (equivalent to HK$0.0142). Pursuant to the Trust
Deed, the distribution for the period from and including the Listing Date to 31
December 2019 and the interim distribution as of 30 June 2020 will be paid
together to the individuals regarded as unitholders on the record date of the
interim distribution for 1 January to 30 June 2020. The first distribution will be
made no later than 30 November 2020. All distributions will be paid in Hong
Kong dollars.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MR

For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019
20194118158 (B 7 HEI) 22019412 531H 1 Hif4

GENERAL

China Merchants Commercial REIT is a Hong Kong collective
investment scheme authorised under section 104 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and its units are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKSE"”). China
Merchants Commercial REIT is governed by the deed of trust
dated 15 November 2019, as amended from time to time
(the “Trust Deed"”), entered into between China Merchants
Land Assets Management Co., Limited (the “Manager”) and
DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Trustee”), and the
Code on Real Estate Investment Trusts (the “REIT Code”)
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong
Kong.

The principal activity of China Merchants Commercial REIT is
investment holding and the entities controlled by it own and
invest in income-producing commercial properties in Shekou,
Shenzhen, the PRC, with the objective of producing stable
and sustainable distributions to unitholders and to achieve
long term growth in the net asset value per unit. The address
of the registered office of the Manager and the Trustee, is
Room 2603 to 2606, 26/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak
Centre, Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the same as the functional
currency of China Merchants Commercial REIT.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019
20194118150 (B 7 HEI) 22019412 531 H 1F Hif4

1. GENERAL (continued) 1.
China Merchants Commercial REIT and the entities controlled
by it (collectively the “Group”) have entered into various
service agreements in relation to the management of China
Merchants Commercial REIT and its property operations. The
fee structures of these services are as follows:

(i) Manager’s fees
Under the Trust Deed, the Manager will receive:

(@) from the Listing Date and on a semi-annual basis,
a base fee of 10.0% per annum of the base fee
distributable income; and

(b) from the Listing Date and on an annual basis,
a variable fee of 25.0% per annum of the
difference in DPU in a financial year compared
to the preceding financial year, multiplied by the
weighted average number of units in issue for
such financial year (for the purpose of calculating
the variable fee only, the DPU shall be calculated
before accounting for the variable fee but after
accounting for the base fee for the relevant
financial year). No variable fee will be payable for
the period from the Listing Date to 31 December
2022.

(ii) Trustee’s fees

China Merchants Commercial REIT pays the Trustee an
one-off acceptance fee of HK$180,000 upon Listing.
Regular trustee’s fee is calculated and paid semi-
annually as an ongoing fee of not more than 0.025%
per annum of the value of the investment properties
(which may be increased up to a maximum of 0.06%
per annum of the value of the investment properties)
subject to @ minimum of RMB56,000 per month.
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201911 /15 (K7 AE]) 22019412 H31H 1 Hi/E

1.

GENERAL (continued)

(iii) Operations manager’s fees

Under the operations management agreement, China
Merchants Shekou Enterprise Management (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd.* (B AREEE ORI BR A7) (the
“Operations Manager”) is entitled to receive from the
PRC subsidiaries of China Merchants Commercial REIT
(“the PRC Subsidiaries”): (i) an amount equivalent
to 5.0% of the monthly rental income of the PRC
Subsidiaries, payable on a monthly basis; and (ii) an
amount equivalent to 2.5% of the PRC Subsidiaries
semi-annual capital expenditure for refurbishment and
renovation of the Properties, payable on a semi-annual
basis.

(iv) Property manager’s fees

Under the property management agreements, Shenzhen
China Merchants Property Holding Management Co.,
Ltd.* CRYIBrE Y EEE B R A A) (the "Property
Manager”) is entitled to receive from the designated
account jointly maintained by the relevant PRC
Subsidiaries and the Property Manager: (a) with respect
to Garden City Shopping Centre, a fixed monthly fee
of RMB54,167 (totaling RMB650,000 per annum); and
(b) with respect to the other properties, a monthly fee
equivalent to 12.0% of the sum of the fees and charges
(except air-conditioning charges and promotional fees)
and car parking fees they have collected.

The English names are for identification only.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSS")

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective.
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’
Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business?
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current®
Amendments to Definition of Material*
IAS 1 and IAS 8

Amendments to IFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform*
IAS 39 and IFRS 7

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021

2 Effective for business combinations and asset
acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on or after
the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

In addition to the above new and amendments to IFRSs,
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, “the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in IFRS Standards”, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the amendments to IFRSs and the revised
Conceptual Framework mentioned below, the Manager
anticipates that the application of other new and
amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on
the results and the financial position of the Group in the
foreseeable future.

Amendments to IFRS 3 “Definition of a Business”
The amendments:

e add an optional concentration test that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The election on
whether to apply the optional concentration test is
available on transaction-by-transaction basis;

° clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired
set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum,
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs;
and

e narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by
focusing on goods and services provided to customers
and by removing the reference to an ability to reduce
costs.

The amendments are applied prospectively to all business
combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition
date is on or after the first annual reporting period beginning
on or after 1 January 2020, with early application permitted.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 “Definition of Material”

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations
in making materiality judgments. In particular, the
amendments:

e include the concept of “obscuring” material
information in which the effect is similar to omitting or
misstating the information;

e replace threshold for materiality influencing users from
“could influence” to “could reasonably be expected to
influence”; and

e include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather
than simply referring to “users” which was considered
too broad when deciding what information to disclose
in the financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all IFRSs
and will be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 January 2020. The application of the
amendments is not expected to have significant impact on
the financial position and performance of the Group but may
affect the presentation and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 “Definition of Material”
(continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“New Framework"”) and the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards

The New Framework:
e reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

e introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights
and a new liability definition that is likely to be broader
than the definition it replaces, but does not change the
distinction between a liability and an equity instrument;

e discusses historical cost and current value measures,
and provides additional guidance on how to select a
measurement basis for a particular asset or liability;

e states that the primary measure of financial
performance is profit or loss, and that only in
exceptional circumstances other comprehensive income
will be used and only for income or expenses that
arise from a change in the current value of an asset or
liability; and

. discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account,
the reporting entity and combined financial statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that
references in certain IFRSs have been updated to the New
Framework, whilst some IFRSs are still referred to the
previous versions of the framework. These amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020, with earlier application permitted. Other than specific
standards which still refer to the previous versions of the
framework, the Group will rely on the New Framework on
its effective date in determining the accounting policies
especially for transactions, events or conditions that are not
otherwise dealt with under the accounting standards.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include the relevant provisions of the Trust
Deed, the REIT Code and the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the HKSE.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for investment properties,
which are measured at fair values, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
the consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis. except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with IFRS
16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS
2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

For investment properties which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for the financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

e Llevel 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of China Merchants Commercial REIT
and the entities controlled by China Merchants Commercial
REIT. Control is achieved when China Merchants Commercial
REIT:

e has the power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a controlled entity begins when the
Group obtains control over the controlled entity and ceases
when the Group loses control of the controlled entity.
Specifically, income and expenses of controlled entities
acquired or disposed of during the period are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
controls until the date when the Group ceases to control the
controlled entity.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised
in profit or loss as incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEBBE @@
(continued)
Business combinations (continued) ESVIXeTE )
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and PR - FTREER BRI EERAAEAE
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, RARBETIARER M

except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS
12 “Income Taxes” and IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”
respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-
based payment arrangements of the Group entered
into to replace share-based payment arrangements of
the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2
“Share-based Payment” at the acquisition date;

e  assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

e lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in IFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new
leases at the acquisition date. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount as the
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relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable LE &R B TS AR ©
or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with
market terms.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’'s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

If control of the service transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019
20194118158 (B 7 HEI) 22019412 531H 1 Hif4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Over time revenue recognition: measurement

of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group's performance completed to date, the
Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the Group
has the right to invoice.

Property management services

The Group provides property management services to the
tenants of the properties. Since customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits when service provided,
revenue from providing services is recognised over time in
the period in which the services are rendered. As the Group
acts as principal and is primary responsible for providing the
property management services to the tenants, the Group
recognises the fee received or receivable from tenants as its
revenue.

Advertising income and air conditioning income are
recognised over time in the period in which the services are
rendered.

BEREFBE @)

REFFEHHWEE)
EREEBEIANS  TEZRENRBHNE
E

EUHE
TRBEHNEBNEZDRBELEZHE - EH
AERBIES RIEBRET PR mIRF AL
REKNFEENFGEmIRBNEENEE
AAEERNE  RHRERRAEEEZEE MK
ARIS TR BRI JTOE

ERAITTRENE  WASER KIS ENA
EREAEELSE ERENBEERBRELY
RE AXRKEZASEERHAZZENSE
R ES o

VR E IR
AEBRMERFPRHYMEEERS - ART
PR S BIHR AR5 70 3@ A2 P 7 B 3% W S 0B 7%
Mg - B ER AR & R 10 B2 41 AR 7% BRI BE
RREESER AR AREER/REA B
BEREFPREMEEERY  AEEKEK
SN F B AR AE RS -

JE& 2 N e 2 A T 17 42 fE R 75 A e B By

“ToNFER BARAEETESE 139



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR AR MR

For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019

201911 /150 (B AE) 22019412 H31H 1 i/

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs in relation to non-qualifying assets are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rental and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at their fair values. All of the Group’s property interests
held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation purposes are classified and accounted for as
investment properties and are measured using the fair value
model. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s carrying
amount only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when
incurred.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property
is derecognised.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
period. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
periods and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group'’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MR

For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period when the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

For the purposes of measuring deferred for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
business objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration. The Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under IFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessor

Rental income (including rental income from office buildings
and a shopping centre) from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and such costs are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except
for investment properties measured under fair value model.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as income when they arise.

Rental income which is derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business is presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
The Group applies IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with
customers” (“IFRS 15"”) to allocate consideration in a
contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the
new lease.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit losses (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including
trade receivables, amounts due from related companies
and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for lease
receivables (including trade related amounts due from
related companies). The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

3. EXSFBE @

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on bank balances has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if are determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk when
it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment
grade” as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(ii) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

e abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

e it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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20194118158 (B 7 HEI) 22019412 531H 1 Hif4

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liguidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a
lease receivable, the cash flows used for determining
the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used in
measuring the lease receivable in accordance with IFRS
16.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when the Group transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definition of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

In accordance with the Trust Deed, China Merchants
Commercial REIT is required to distribute to unitholders not
less than 90% of its distributable income for each financial
period and has a limited life of 80 years less one day from
the date of its establishment. Therefore, in addition to the
contractual distribution to unitholders, the units issued by
China Merchants Commercial REIT contain a contractual
obligation upon its termination to distribute a share of all
net cash proceeds derived from the sale or realisation of
its assets less any liabilities to its unitholders in accordance
with their proportionate interests in China Merchants
Commercial REIT at the date of its termination. Accordingly,
the units issued by China Merchants Commercial REIT are
compound instruments that contain both liability and equity
components.

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
distribution payable, amount due to related companies and
secured bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
it liabilities. Instruments, or components of instruments,
that impose on the China Merchants Commercial REIT an
obligation to deliver to the holders a pro-rata share of the net
assets only on liquidation are presented as equity only when
certain specific criteria are met.

Unit issue costs are the transaction costs relating to initial
public offering and listing of units of China Merchants
Commercial REIT are accounted for as a deduction from the
proceeds raised to the extent they are incremental costs
directly attributable to the transaction that otherwise would
have been avoided. Other transaction costs are recognised as
an expense.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the Manager is required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgment, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Manager has
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the Manager has reviewed the Group's
investment property portfolios and concluded that the
Group's investment properties are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in determining the Group's deferred tax on investment
properties, the Manager has determined that the
presumption of investment properties measured using
the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is
rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised deferred tax
on changes in fair value of investment properties using EIT
rate at 25%.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumption concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next twelve months.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value measurements and valuation processes

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages an
independent qualified professional valuer (the “Valuer”) to
perform the valuation. The Manager works closely with the
the Valuer to establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model. The valuation report and findings
would be reported to the directors of Manager half yearly
to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the
assets.

Investment properties are stated at fair value at the end
of the reporting period based on the valuation performed
by the Valuer. In determining the fair value, the Valuer
has based on a method of valuation which involves certain
estimates as described in note 13.

Where the actual future market data varies, a material
adjustment on the fair values of investment properties may
arise. In relying on the valuation reports, the Manager has
exercised its judgment and is satisfied that the method of
valuation is reflective of the current market conditions.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WamkoIpER

Revenue recognition W R
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Rental income from office buildings and BRENEYHOES WA 22,913
a shopping centre
Management fee income ERBA 3,765
Carpark income B A 863
Others Hib 1,218
Revenue from contracts with BEREEINREEFSANKE 5,846
customers recognised over time
28,759

The Group’s investment properties are leased to tenants
under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. Lease
payments for some contracts depend on shopping centre’s
turnover pursuant to the terms and conditions as set out in
respective rental agreements.

The unguaranteed residual value does not represent a
significant risk for the Group, as they relate to property
which is located in a location with constant increase in
general in value over the last 3 years. The Group did not
identify any indications that this situation will change.

The gross rental income from investment properties includes
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate of RMB85,000 for the current period.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEkoIBER @)
(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued) W R (4F)

R2019F 128318 ' ~AEEHBEEEFER—
REDH LN REREENREWZIENT ¢

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had minimum lease
payment receivables on lease of office buildings and a
shopping centre are as follows:

RMB’000

AR¥T T

Within 1 year 1R 306,230
Between 1 and 2 years 1824 221,462
Between 2 and 3 years 2E3F 155,524
Between 3 and 4 years 3FE4F 58,380
Between 4 and 5 years 4FE5F 27,109
Later than 5 years 5% 43,591
812,296

Others represent revenue from advertising income and air
conditioning income.

All services within the scope of IFRS 15 are for period of one
year or less, except for management fee income and others
which are provided for a period of one year or more. For
management fee income and other, the Group applied the
practical expedient in IFRS 15 to recognise revenue in the
amount that the Group has the right to invoice based on
the terms of the relevant agreements in which the Group
bills a fixed monthly amount. As permitted under IFRS 15,
the transaction price of all these services allocated to the
remaining performance obligations as at the end of each
reporting period is not disclosed.

Segment information

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the Manager, being the chief operating
decision maker (the "CODM"), that are used to make
strategic decisions. The Group’s reportable segments are
classified as (i) office buildings; and (ii) shopping centre,
which are based on the types of properties held by the
Group. Office buildings segment aggregates the operating
segments, each being an individual office building, namely
New Times Plaza, Cyberport Building, Technology Building
and Technology Building 2, on the basis that the similar
economic characteristic and nature of services provided.
There is no aggregation of operating segment for shopping
centre segment.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WERDEER @)

(continued)
Segment revenues and results PEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and A TRAEBZRZHSMBE SRR REES
results by reportable segment. #T ©
For the period ended 31 December 2019 # 201912 A31H IEHIH
Office  Shopping
buildings centre Total
o BB = O At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®BTRT AR®BTT
Segment revenue paN: LG 19,912 8,847 28,759
Segment results DEFEE 36,009 11,126 47,135
Exchange gain b 5 I e 6,963
Other income HAp A 21
Manager's fee BEREAER (1,361)
Trust and other expenses SRE N EMRE (2,031)
Listing expense EWRHX (7,305)

Finance costs R E AR (2,378)

Profit before tax and distribution AT RFHRBERESBMIEA A

to unitholders 7 Ik Y 5 A 41,044
Income taxes Fris i (12,526)
Profit for the period, before Rt RESCEMFEADIRN

distribution to unitholders HAA 4 ) 28,518
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the 25 E 2 & FTBUR BT 3Pt AR B & 5 IR
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note AR o DEHEFIEETESRE Ik - =
3. Segment profit represents the profit before tax earned by TEMWAREMARDBEL&ERHZ 2B T&
each segment without allocation of exchange gain, certain DEBER BN c EAR T EEEREK

other income and other unallocated operating expenses. This AGE BB R EET ERENT= -
is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.
(continued)
Segment assets and liabilities
As at 31 December 2019

WKk DHER @)

PTHEERERE
MR20194F12A31H

Office  Shopping

buildings centre Total
BFE BYHL #at

RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®MTR AR®TR

Segment assets HEEE
Unallocated assets ROBLEE
Consolidated total assets IREBEAE
Segment liabilities HEAE

S
&
=
cu
m
W

Unallocated liabilities

1
o
e
B
m
ST

Consolidated total liabilities

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources, all investment properties, property,
plant and equipment, trade receivables, trade payables,
tax payables, deferred tax liabilities, certain bank balances
and cash, certain amounts due from related companies,
certain other payables and certain amounts due to related
companies are allocated to operating segments. Other
corporate assets and liabilities (including remaining bank
balances and cash, amounts due from related companies,
certain other payables, secured bank borrowings and certain
amounts due to related companies) are unallocated.
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For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019
2019115158 (K7 HA]) 22019412 A31H 11 AfE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WERDEER @)

(continued)
Other segment information
For the period ended 31 December 2019

HZE2019%12 831 B IEHAR

Office  Shopping
buildings centre Total
B By et
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR%¥®TR AR%®Tx
Increase in fair value of KEMERNN R EEEN 20,000 8,533 28,533
investment properties
Depreciation e - 3 3
Geographical information 3 &R

All of the Group’s revenue is derived from activities and
customers located in the PRC and the Group’s non-current
assets are all located in the PRC.

Information about major customers

For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date
of establishment) to 31 December 2019, revenue of
RMB5,716,000 was derived from the related companies
which are group of companies under China Merchants Group
Limited ("CMG").

AEBNAARSHREMURTENEERE
B MAKRENFERSEEDURPHE -

BEREEEFHNESR
H2019F 11 A158 (K BH) 8 ZE20194 12
A318 IEHR - WS AR#5,716,0007T K &
B AR ZERRABERER([BERSE
EDETH—8AR7 -
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6. PROPERTY OPERATING EXPENSES 6. MEKERX
RMB’000
AR®T T
Advertising and promotion B REE 1,139
Agency fee RIEE 1,236
Property management expenses MEERE 5,188
Operations manager’s fee RIETIRE 1,173
Other taxes HhFRE 2,158
Others EAh 177
11,071
7. OTHER INCOME 7. HMA
RMB’000
AR®T T
Interest income FE YA 632
Compensation income (note) mEKA (K :7) 204
Others B 99
935
Note: Compensation income included compensation income from termination Htat - ERABEKIAESONEEKA - BFM/ME
of a lease contract, compensation from government and government RSB ©
grant.
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201911 /15 (K7 AE]) 22019412 H31H 1 Hi/E

8.

MANAGER’S FEE

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Manager is entitled to receive
10% per annum of the base fee distribution income (the
“Base Fee"”) for the period ended 31 December 2019 as
remuneration. Base Fee distributable income is the amount
of the total distributable income to unitholders calculated
before accounting for the Base Fee payable for the period.

EEAEH

RIBEFERY » #Z=2019F12 8318 I-HM -
BIEAGESFREERNE A A H# 5 IRBLAH
10%(EXER | IEAMNE - EXERAHY
WA B AR R ERNERNE BRI EA A
MESBEMNFHADIRBIALEEE o

RMB’000
ARET T

Manager’s fee: EEAER
In the form of cash AR & 2 1+ 1,361

The Manager may elect at its sole discretion to receive the
Manager's fee in the form of cash or entirely or partly in the
form of units. If no election is made, the most recent valid
election made by the Manager in a prior calendar year (if
any) shall apply and, if there is no such prior calendar year
election by the Manager, the Manager’s fee shall be paid
in cash. Since there is no prior calendar year election by the
Manager. The Manager's fee is 100% in the form of cash for
the current period.

FINANCE COSTS

ERATZEBHREEEEARETAXE
MO AESEM T AWREREAER - W0
TMEHZEE  IEBARBEEF(WA)E
HHSEMEBERRER  MEEREARE
EEFYEFLEREERE  UEEABRAKNU
BEXf - AREEANBERFILEELHE
B AEHEEAERSEBUARSTZAM -

B & R A

RMB’000

AR¥T T

Interest expense on bank borrowings RITIERAF BRI 2,178
Amortisation of upfront payments SEUNEOEE: 3 200
2,378

“TNFEFER BARAEETESE 163



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR AR MR

For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019
2019115154 (K7 HA]) 22019412 A31H 11 A

10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX AND DISTRIBUTION 10. R RBEBERESEUFE A DK

TO UNITHOLDERS 7% R
RMB’000
AR®T T
Profit before tax and distribution to Rt RBMIBERE S BMFE AR KA G F)
unitholders has been arrived ThEEHIBR (B ) A N B IRIEES
at after charging (crediting):
Auditors’ remuneration 1% ER RN BN & 1,400
Depreciation e 3
Trustee’s remuneration ZFEAH 271
Principal valuer’s fee RIGEME A 90
Bank charges RITFEE 50
Exchange gain B 5 Y as (6,963)
11. INCOME TAXES 1. FiEH
RMB’000
AR®T T
Current tax BIEAR I8
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“PRC EIT") FEBEMEH ([ PERERER]) 2,989
Deferred tax (note 18) EEFIR (M7 18)
Current period PANEE] 9,537
12,526
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided as HRAEEE EMRBZE2019F12A31BES
the Group has no estimated assessable profits in Hong Kong S AT R R - ML EREEF
from the Listing Date to 31 December 2019. ISHEL B -
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin BEEBELEE((EBELHE )MWBEI R
Islands (“BVI"), the Group is not subject to any income tax in A REEHBAMMNTIANEBRE ZHEERE
the BVI. i o
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11.

12.

INCOME TAXES (continued)

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the statutory income tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for the relevant periods.

Details of the deferred tax are set out in note 18.

The income taxes for the period can be reconciled to the
profit before tax and distribution to unitholders as follows:

Y AE )

BIEhE A REMBE G ERERE( CEFHE
BUE D ROEFEREZERMY - FEKREA
AR BRI A T PSR K B25% ©

11.

BT ANFBHNHT 18 -

AHEMEHERFERARESEMIFFA
7 IREEFIE BRS¢

RMB’000
AR¥ET T
Profit before tax and distribution to unitholders RET RFIBREE EMNFE AR KA G F) 41,044
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% EEN TS HE25% T & BT IE 10,261
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose DA B AR B E (1,770)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 7~ A] #1751 B sz A9 B 78 52 &8 3,311
Deferred tax on earnings of Group’s PRC subsidiaries 7%= B & 7 B [ B A =] 28 1) 49 4 SE 7 18 696
Others EAh 28
Income tax expense for the period HAN AT A X 12,526

BASIC EARNINGS PER UNIT

The calculation of the basic earnings per unit before
distribution to unitholders is based on the profit for the
period, before distribution to unitholders of RMB28,518,000
with the weighted average number of units of
1,127,819,549 in issue from the Listing Date to 31 December
2019.

There were no dilutive potential units during the period
ended 31 December 2019, therefore the diluted earnings per
unit has not been presented.

12. BESENEREF
Rt RESCBEMNBFEADRNEESEMER
BRDBBRERAARESEMIZEADRNER
A AR ¥28,518,000ti A B ETHEHEE
2019F12 A31HE T E S EM M MEFTH
1,127,819,549&t & o

BREE2019F12 A31H LR EBEE S
A BN AHTES)SESEMESAF -

“ToNFER BARAEETESE 165



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR AR MR

For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019
20194118150 (B 7 HEI) 22019412 531 H 1F Hif4

13.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. REW=

RMB’000
AR¥T T

FAIR VALUE AV
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 23) WM BN E (Mfat23) 6,579,000
Additions during the period HRAE 1,467
Fair value changes on investment properties REMENAAREBEES 28,533
At the end of the period HAZR 6,609,000

The Group’s office buildings and a shopping centre are
investment properties which are located in Shenzhen, the
PRC and are measured using the fair value model.

Investment properties were revalued as at 31 December 2019
by Cushman & Wakefield Limited (the “Valuer”). The Valuer
has appropriate professional qualifications and experience in
the valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.

The Valuer adopted income approach - income capitalisation
method or discounted cash flow analysis to arrive the
valuation of investment properties as at 31 December 2019.
The income capitalisation method adopted by the Valuer
has taken into account the net rental income of a property
derived from its existing leases and/or achievable in the
existing market with due allowance for the reversionary
income potential of the leases, which has been then
capitalised to determine the fair value at an appropriate
capitalisation rate. The discounted cash flow analysis involves
discounting future cash flows of the property to its present
value by using an appropriate discount rate with due
allowance for the reversionary net income of the property,
which is capitalised with a terminal capitalisation rate.
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For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019
20194118158 (B 7 HEI) 22019412 531H 1 Hif4

13.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REWHE )
There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the AR I A eE A Sk E = AR Al o
period.
The following table gives information about how the fair TRERNAEEZFREMENARBES
values of these investment properties are determined (in HEATRA O EERM R AR ER - A
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as EREALBEENEASIEN A ERIEE
well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value HARBHEAEETHENAABESER(FE—
measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the BRAZEE=HR) ©
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is
observable.

Investment properties
held by the Group in
the consolidated

statement of Relationship of
financial position Fair value Valuation unobservable
AEERNGRE hierarchy RMB'000 Valuation technique and  Significant unobservable inputs to fair value
MBI R AnfEE (& key input(s) input(s) BN
RENRENZ & ARBTT BERIREREARE EATATEHRE AR HA R BENBR
Garden City Shopping Centre  Level 3 1,559,000 Discounted cash flow

(address: RYITAEILETE £=R5 method

NEBRTIENBERERATE BRALREE

EREEDL)
TEE

(it - RImELETR
AEBETENEEREA

TEEHEEDL)
The key inputs are
BRHASEAR
(1) Discount rate Discount rate, taking into The higher the
BRI & account of the risk free discount rate,

factor and the risk premium the lower the
including management risk,  fair value
liquidity risk, transaction risk B3R & -
and risk of property itself AR BESE
and adjustment to reflect the
conditions of the shopping
centre, of 8.75% as at 31
December 2019.

12019124318 « BB X
(EtREREREERER
BE - DEEERR B
Bk XPERRDERS
[ 3 A5 5 2 DA SR B B e
LR ) 58.75% ©

=ar
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13.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

13. REWMHE @)

Investment properties
held by the Group in
the consolidated
statement of

Relationship of

financial position Fair value Valuation unobservable
REEREE hierarchy RMB'000 Valuation technique and  Significant unobservable inputs to fair value
BHIMRE AnEE fEE key input(s) input(s) PAERHAZIE
RENRENZ R ARETL RERMIERBAZE EXTABRBALE HAR BENBR
(2)  Monthly term Monthly term rental is derived ~ The higher the
rental from the average of the monthly term
abikn rental as stated in the rental, the
existing rental agreements higher the fair
(note a) of RMB201/sq.m./ value.
month as at 31 December ~ A4 #S
2019. RABEES -
R20195 124318 - ABER
BRAHEEWE (MTa)
Sl e FHEARE201
T/ EEkK/ R
Technology Building (address:  Level 3 868,000 Income capitalisation
AYTHEILEEEAERT  E=R5 method
FtREOMRAE) W EARE

BHORR (st - Yl
EREEAERIE LKL
BEAE)

The key inputs are
BRBASEAR

(1) Term yield
FHERE
average selling price and
the market average rental
from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect
the conditions of the office

buildings, of 4.50% as at 31

December 2019.
#2019 12 A31 B K FHEH

KRG RA LB EN TS

FHERRMETHHEE
HE B[] 3 2R 0 A A B LA S
BEFEMR) B4.50% °
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13.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REW = @)

Investment properties
held by the Group in
the consolidated

statement of Relationship of
financial position Fair value Valuation unobservable
REEREE hierarchy RMB'000 Valuation technique and  Significant unobservable inputs to fair value
BBIRRE RAEE fb{E key input(s) input(s) FIBEEARER
RENRENE R ARETT RERNIERBAZE EXTAIBRBARE HAREENBER
(2)  Reversionary yield  Reversionary yield, taking into ~ The higher the
BEHERE account of yield generated reversionary
by market average selling yield, the lower
price and the market average the fair value.
rental from comparable BHEEmEYS

properties and adjustment AR EEBE -
to reflect the risk associated

with the future rental, of

5.00% as at 31 December

2019.

72019512 A31 BMEF R
KL RA LB ERN TS
THEBRMETHHEE
HE R ESR R AR A R R
ERRAEFANRR) A
5.00% °

(3)  Monthly term Monthly term rental is derived  The higher the

rental from the average of the monthly term
Afe rental as stated in the rental, the
existing rental agreements higher the fair
(note a) of RMB97sq.m./ value.
month as at 31 December A& HE A%
2019, BESS

R2019F12A318 * AfEK
BRERERZ (HEa) F7l

MTHHe ARSI/ T
FR/R e

(4)  Reversionary rental Reversionary rental is derived  The higher the

BRES from the average of the reversionary

rental as stated in the new rental, the
rental agreements (note b) higher the fair
of RMB111/5q.m./month as value.
at 31 December 2019, EHEAeES A

201912 A31AMESH AEEES -
SR EFMERZ (M)
P TEEE ARE 11
T/ FERK/ B
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13.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in
the consolidated
statement of

13. REWMHE @)

Relationship of

financial position Fair value Valuation unobservable
REEREE hierarchy RMB'000 Valuation technique and  Significant unobservable inputs to fair value
BHIMRE AnEE fEE key input(s) input(s) PAERHAZIE
RAENRENZ R ARETL RERMIERBAZE EXTABRBALE HAREENER
Cyberport Building (address: Level 3 1,039,000 Income capitalisation

AmELEEARERR  F=&5 method

EAEDIE EYNED) WEREARE

SBAE Gt - AR
[ P i A B P T L A B
AE)

The key inputs are

BREABER

(1) Term yield
FHERE

(2)  Reversionary yield

EBEHE
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Reversionary yield, taking into

Term yield, taking into account The higher the

term yield, the
lower the fair

of yield generated by market
average selling price and

the market average rental value
from comparable properties FEiEIRE M -
and adjustment to reflect AR EEBE

the conditions of the office
buildings, of 4.50% 31
December 2019.

R2019%12 A31 B FHiEH

K (L KA B ENTS
FHEBRMETHRSE
HE 1 [B) 3 26 0 A B LA S B
BFEMRR)B4.50% °

The higher the
reversionary
yield, the lower

account of yield generated
by market average selling
price and the market average  the fair value.
rental from comparable BREmELS
properties and adjustment AR BEYE -
to reflect the risk associated

with the future rental, of

5.00% as at 31 December

2019.

201912 A31 BRES @R

R (it R B Y F TS
FHEBRMSFIREE
A B[R 2R 3 A R B LA S R
BAREEERENER) S
5.00% °
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13.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in
the consolidated
statement of

financial position Fair value
AEEREGS hierarchy
BBIRRE NAfEE
RENRENZ R

13. REWHE @)

Valuation
RMB'000 Valuation technique and  Significant unobservable
{HE key input(s) input(s)
ARETT RERNIERBAZE EXTAIBRBARE

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
FIBEEARER
HAREENBER

(3)  Monthly term
rental

Al

Monthly term rental is derived
from the average of the
rental as stated in the
existing rental agreements
(note a) of RMB109/sq.m./
month as at 31 December
2019.

R2019612A318 - A€
RERERERZ M)
FoE TS ARE109
/AR A o

(4)  Reversionary rental Reversionary rental is derived
i atiikn from the average of the
rental as stated in the new
rental agreements (note b)
of RMB120/sqg.m/month as
at 31 December 2019.
72019512 A31BEERHE
2 REMBE (M)
FEIE 2 ARE120
T/ FAR/R
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The higher the
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rental, the
higher the fair
value.

RgHE 2R
EBEBS -

The higher the
reversionary
rental, the
higher the fair
value.

ERHsHds A
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13.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REVZE @)

Investment properties
held by the Group in
the consolidated

statement of Relationship of
financial position Fair value Valuation unobservable
AEENGA hierarchy RMB'000 Valuation technique and  Significant unobservable inputs to fair value
BT R BRfEE &8 key input(s) input(s) A B R A S5
RAENRENZ R ARETT MERNRBREAGE EXTTERBAZE HA R BENBR
Technology Building 2 Level 3 1,082,000 Income capitalisation

(address: AYITELERE E=R5 method

RERBRRAE_H) W E R E

RHRARE =80t : RYIm
M ILERE R AERERRA

E—H)

The key inputs are

BRBANEAR

(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account The higher the

FHIR = of yield generated by market  term yield, the

average selling price and lower the fair
the market average rental value
from comparable properties & HiEI R 5 -
and adjustment to reflect AR EEHRE

the conditions of the office
buildings, of 4.50% as at 31
December 2019.
72019412 A31 BME Ei 13k
R(EET R BRMEN TS
THEERMSTHMEEE
R ERR WA DA R
BFEMR) R4.50%

(2)  Reversionary yield  Reversionary yield, taking into  The higher the

TR account of yield generated reversionary
by market average selling yield, the lower
price and the market average  the fair value.
rental from comparable EREmELR

properties and adjustment AR BEME -
to reflect the risk associated

with the future rental, of

5.00% as at 31 December

2019,

12019512 A31BMERRIR
R R LB EN TS
THEEBRMSTHHEE
R B3R R 3 AR A R
BERRALBENRR) A
5.00% °
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13.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REW = @)

Investment properties
held by the Group in
the consolidated

statement of Relationship of
financial position Fair value Valuation unobservable
AEENZA hierarchy RMB'000 Valuation technique and  Significant unobservable inputs to fair value
BEBRRE AnfBE fii{E key input(s) input(s) NAERG A SR
RENRENZ R ARETT BERMRERBAZE EXTIBERHANE HA R BENBR
(3)  Monthly term Monthly term rental for each  The higher the
rental unit is derived from the monthly term
Afs average of the rental as rental, the
stated in the existing rental higher the fair
agreements (note a) of value.
RMB100/sq.m./month asat  AfL#E @ A%
31 December 2019. R

R2019F12A318 » AREK
BREMRERZ (i) F
PIMFHREAARE100
T/ ERX/ B e

(4)  Reversionary rental Reversionary rental is derived  The higher the

EHEE from the average of the reversionary
rental as stated in the new rental, the
rental agreements (note b) higher the fair
of 114/sq.m./month as at value.
December 2019. EHEAeEs A

2019612 A31AMESEH nEEYS -
SR EFME B (i)
I EHEL ARE114
L/ ERX/ B e
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13.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REVZE @)

Investment properties
held by the Group in
the consolidated

statement of Relationship of
financial position Fair value Valuation unobservable
AEENGA hierarchy RMB'000 Valuation technique and  Significant unobservable inputs to fair value
BT R BRfEE &8 key input(s) input(s) A B R A S5
HENREMZ ER ARETT MERNRBREAGE EXTTERBAZE EARBENBR
New Time Plaza (address: &3l Level 3 2,061,000 Income capitalisation

MHEEAFENERES)  E=R5 method
MRRES Ot : RIImE W ERME%

BEATRABRES)

The key inputs are

BRBAREAR
(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account The higher the
FHIRHRE of yield generated by market  term yield, the
average selling price and lower the fair
the market average rental value
from comparable properties & EiEl R 5 -
and adjustment to reflect AR EEBE

the conditions of the office
buildings, 4.00% as at 31
December 2019.
1201912 A31 B E Ei[013R
(AT R AR EN TS
THEERMSTHNEE
R B3R WA R DA R B
BFEMNR)54.00% °

(2)  Reversionary yield  Reversionary yield, taking into  The higher the

TR account of yield generated reversionary
by market average selling yield, the lower
price and the market average  the fair value.
rental from comparable EREmELS

properties and adjustment AR BEME -
to reflect the risk associated

with the future rental, of

4.50% as at 31 December

2019,

12019512 A31BMERRIR
R (TR BRMEN TS
THEBRMSTHHEE
4 B [B1 5 3 0 A B DA B
ERRALBENRR) A
4.50% °
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13.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REW = @)

Investment properties
held by the Group in
the consolidated

statement of Relationship of
financial position Fair value Valuation unobservable
AEENZA hierarchy RMB'000 Valuation technique and  Significant unobservable inputs to fair value
BEBRRE AnfBE fii{E key input(s) input(s) NAERG A SR
RENRENZ R ARETT BERMRERBAZE EXTIBERHANE HA R BENBR
(3)  Monthly term Monthly term rental for each  The higher the
rental unit is derived from the monthly term
Afs average of the rental as rental, the
stated in the existing rental higher the fair
agreements (note a) of value.
RMB161/sq.m./month asat AHL#E @ A%
31 December 2019. BEYS -

R2019F12A318 » AREK
BREMRERZ (i) F
PNTFHRE ARBARE
1617/ FHRK/A -

(4)  Reversionary rental Reversionary rental is derived  The higher the

EHEE from the average of the reversionary
rental as stated in the new rental, the
rental agreements (note b) higher the fair
of RMB165/sq.m./month as value.
at 31 December 2019. EHEAeEs A

M2019F12A31BMESHE AEEES -
REFHE R FEb)F
PETHRE ARE AR
1657/ FHK,/ A -

Notes: Btat -

(a)  Existing rental agreements represent tenancy agreements, including (a) BEREMHEOIEHRERMNEFIINEE RSN
renewal agreements, which are signed before the end of the period. HEWZ -

(b) New rental agreements represent tenancy agreements, including (b) FHEEWRZELREHBERERIIXEHENEER
renewal agreements, which are to be signed or negotiated after the end MBS -

of the period.
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 14. EZ R H A EWFRIE
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Trade receivables 2 EWFRIE 348
Deposit oA 400
748
Trade receivables represent lease receivables. Lease B o RKFIEEHERIGIE - SFEREY
receivables under rental of office buildings and shopping RO SRS EBGRIE —RETE B R E BT
centre are generally required to be settled by tenants within %30 NS4S ©
30 days upon issuance of demand note.
The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, LATRBRBEREANZIME S ERFKIBH
presented based on the date of demand note: BRER D AT
RMB’000
ARMT T
Within 1 month 1E A A 188
Over 3 months a3 MR A 160
348
As at 31 December 2019, all the trade receivables are past M2019F12A318 © FiE 8 5 EWHIER
due as at the reporting date. HEAE @R -
15. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 15. RITHERRRE
Bank balances carry interest at market rates of 0.00% - 0.3% IRA1T 45 8RR ™ 35 F A & 7 F0.00% £ 0.3% =t
per annum B o
Bank balances and cash are denominated in the following RITHEBRRIBE AT EBEE :
currencies:
RMB’000
ARMF T
RMB AR 1,185,303
Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD") B ([#Ex)) 276,074
1,461,377
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16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 16. E5 R H A& FIE
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Trade payables B SR FIA 859
Other tax payables Efh pE AR IR 1,800
Rental receipt in advance TR S 1,883
Receipt on behalf of tenants (note) KRR W (HFE) 12,519
Rental deposit received from tenants HEPWEINESIES 57,679
Accruals and other payables FERTE R R E fh FE S 5RIE 9,112
82,993
83,852
Note: et -
The Group collected the turnover of tenants, who operate food and beverage REERKEFEBEYH OIS E R m R EBEP
business in a shopping centre, on behalf of them and is obligated to remit to MR - WA EAMBEPER -
them every half month.
The credit period granted by suppliers to the Group ranges from 30 to 90 HERHARNAEEREOEERNF302908 c LT
days during the period. The following is an aged analysis of trade payables ARBEEWMERRNEZANE7|NE S RN FIBRRE
presented based on the invoice date at the end of each reporting period: DT
RMB’000
ARET T
Within 1 month 11& A A 621
More than 1 month but within 3 months #EA 1 E AER3E AN 21
Over 3 months a3 1E A 217
859
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17. SECURED BANK BORROWINGS 17. BB TER

RMB’000
ARET T
Secured bank borrowings BEIBRITHER 1,901,832
Loan front-end fee ESAEER (14,200)
1,887,632

The maturity of the secured bank borrowings EEMBITEROIHAAT :

is as follows:

More than two years but not exceeding five years BBAMTFENZRAT 1,887,632

During the period, the Group obtained secured banking
borrowings with a total amount of HK$2,122,608,000
(equivalent to RMB1,906,714,000) to acquire all the issued
shares and certain payables of Frontier Shekou, from an
unitholder. The secured term loans bears interest at a fixed
rate of 2.75% - 4.5% per annum. The secured term loans will
mature on 15 December 2022.

As security for the term loans granted to the Group,
investment properties with an aggregate fair value of
RMB5,741,000,000 as at 31 December 2019 together with
the assignments of sales proceeds, insurance proceeds, rental
income, revenue and all other income generated from these
properties have been pledged to the bank.
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18. DEFERRED TAX

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, the deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the major
deferred tax (assets) liabilities recognised and movements
thereon during the reporting period:

18. IEFER 1B
BRREAMBERRELFITE  BEERELE
REEDEEY - AT ARE RS HEERH
TEFRTEHBCEE) BERLY

Withholding
tax on
retained  Provision  Change in
Accelerated earnings for fair value of
tax to be impairment investment
depreciation distributed losses  properties Total
KFIEN
nE  RERIWY HE  REWE
BEME BB FERHE AAEEEY st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TRE AR¥TR ARBTT ARBTR AR%TR
Acquisition of subsidiaries G20 N 162,528 8,782 (274) 802,415 973,451
Charge to profit or loss for the period ~ A HIREI R B2 MK
(note 11) (HisE11) 1,708 696 - 7,133 9,537
At 31 December 2019 120195124318 164,236 9,478 (274) 809,548 982,988

The PRC EIT Law requires withholding tax to be levied on
distribution of profits earned by PRC entities for profits
generated after 1 January 2008 at rate of 5% for Hong
Kong resident companies, and at rate of 10% for companies
incorporated in the BVI, which are the beneficial owners
of the dividend received. Deferred tax is provided in full in
respect of the undistributed earnings as at 31 December
2019.

FECEMSRAEETREEERNESERD
ERTHBRZAES MM E(BIEN
BEHEREAS A)BL2008F1 1B EFESD
i AT D R BB MTEI - MED B AR5%
%10% ° 7A2019F12 A31H * iARDEEAF =
HETRIEETI IR -
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19.

20.

21.

22.

ISSUED UNITS 19. BERTESEN
During the period, movements of units in issue are as below: A - BETESBEMHNEHNAT
Number of
units RMB’000
E®
BuBHE AR%®TR
Units issued for acquisition of subsidiaries FWEMB AR BITESEN 377,819,549 1,162,025
Units issued for initial offering MBEREERTESEN 750,000,000 2,305,934
Units issue cost S BN BEITRA = (76,430)
Balance at 31 December 2019 R20195F 12 A31 BN &8k 1,127,819,549 3,391,529

Upon the completion of the acquisition of Frontier Shekou,
China Merchants Commercial REIT issued 377,819,549 units
and made cash payment to Jumbo Pacific Holdings Limited
("Jumbo Pacific”) in exchange for all of the issued shares of
Frontier Shekou on 10 December 2019.

On Listing Date, China Merchants Commercial REIT issued
750,000,000 units at HKD3.42 per unit, amounting to
RMB2,305,934,000.

NET ASSET VALUE PER UNIT

The net asset value per unit is calculated by dividing the net
assets attributable to unitholders as at 31 December 2019
of RMB3,787,301,000 by the number of units in issue of
1,127,819,549 units as at 31 December 2019.

NET CURRENT ASSETS

At 31 December 2019, the Group’s net current assets,
calculated as current assets less current liabilities, amounted
to RMB48,630,000.

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES
At 31 December 2019, the Group's total assets less current
liabilities amounted to RMB6,657,921,000.
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22.

7 52 BX U2 B Frontier Shekouf® @ B HE B HE ¥
EEEE£R 2019912 A 10H [ Jumbo Pacific
Holdings Limited ( [ Jumbo Pacific | ) 3 17
377,819,549fE & ¢ B R{EHBE M+ UR
#Frontier ShekouZ ZPE 1 TAXD ©

RETMBH  BEREXETESERSEE
& B 173.42/870%77750,000,0001EZFE % B A7 -
& H AK%2,305,934,0007T °

BEESBEUNEERE
BERSBEMNMEEFEIIZN2019F12 A
BTRESEMNREARGLMEEFAARE
3,787,301,000 TR AR 20194 12 H31 H E &
17891,127,819,549EHE & B 5T H -

mEEERE

R2019F 128318 ' AEEMNRBEEF
BRI EERMRBDABGRSE) RARE
48,630,0007T °
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23. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 23. WIBHE 1 7

On 25 November 2019, Treasure Supreme International
Limited, a subsidiary of China Merchants Commercial
REIT, and the Manager, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Jumbo Pacific, pursuant to which,
consideration was in the form of issuance of units and
payment of cash to Jumbo Pacific in exchange for all of
the issued shares of Frontier Shekou held by Jumbo Pacific.
China Merchants Commercial REIT issued 377,819,549 units
and made cash payment to Jumbo Pacific in exchange for
all of the issued shares of Frontier Shekou on 10 December
2019. Upon completion of the acquisition, China Merchants
Commercial REIT owns Frontier Shekou and its subsidiaries,
which are property holding companies established in the PRC
(the “Acquired Subsidiaries”).

72019511 A25R8 - BEFEFEETE O
B A R]Treasure Supreme International Limited
& &I A B Jumbo Pacific 5] B & W @ 1%
It - REBZ X A Jumbo Pacific{TH & B
R HRE - AR #Iumbo Pacifick A B
Frontier ShekouZ &2 &7 - BREBEE
FEFEEEMR2019F 12 A 108 MJumbo PacificE
71377,819,549 A& & B RIEH IR S
LAZZ 2 Frontier ShekouZ ZE B TR 1D MUK
BT 1& - 1 B % F St E & % A Frontier
Shekou X M B AT - EJyRBIRK I B 1%
fRAT([EUWEEMEB AR

Consideration transferred EEENRE
RMB’000
ARET T
Cash RE 4,185,714
Unit issued BETESEBAM 1,162,025
5,347,739

The fair value of 377,819,549 units of China Merchants
Commercial REIT, determined using the offer price of
RMB3.08 (equivalent to HKD3.42) per unit amounted to
RMB1,162,025,000 in total.

As at 31 December 2019, cash of RMB273,347,000 was not
transferred to Jumbo Pacific.

R PR ERETE£377,819,549AE S EMA
AABENFERASEECEMNNZEEARK
3.08TL(MEENINREBIL)EE  GEABARE
1,162,025,0007T °

HZE2019%F12A831H © ARK#273,347,0007T
HIR & 5 AR EE 4 Jumbo Pacific
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23. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date

23. WERFHE 2 B ()
REBEMNERBEERERAAED

of acquisition are as follows: T
RMB’000
AR¥T
Investment properties Ay 6,579,000
Property, plant and equipment Yz - BB R 294
Trade and other receivables ‘é’%&ﬁﬁﬁgﬂﬁlm 8,033
Amounts due from related companies JfE Uk BB N Bl FR I 20,154
Bank balances and cash ﬁEmeuﬁﬁﬁiﬁi 1,206,770
Trade and other payable B 5 & E fth fE (4 518 (105,213)
Current tax liabilities EITHHT)CEIEEF (41,290)
Amounts due to related companies FEAS BAEE A R FRIE (3.631,644)
Deferred tax liabilities J;ﬁ}_mlﬁﬁﬁ (973,451)
3,062,653
The fair value of trade and other receivables at the date REBHENE S REMEBGRIEN A EE

of acquisition amounted to RMB8,033,000. The gross
contractual amounts of those trade and other receivables
acquired amounted to RMB9,165,000 at the date of
acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition date of

the contractual cash flows not expected to be collected

amounted to RMB1,132,000.
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23. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)  23. WWEEBHI B A T (&)

Contribution arising on acquisition: WEBELENRE:
RMB’000
ARMT T
Consideration transferred EEEAE 5,347,739
Less: repayment of amount due to a related company ¥ : {838 fe{~t — I RAEE A 7150E (2,664,585)
Net assets acquired BB EETFE (3,062,653)
Excess of fair value of the Acquired Subsidiaries over B UtEEME A RN A L BE
acquisition cost 8 W B PR AR Y ZE B 379,499
The acquisition is a transaction with an unitholder with WHE D —HEESBARA AETNRS - M
significant influence over China Merchants Commercial ZECBEURAEANGBEREERTEES AR
REIT. The difference between the fair value of the net asset BEAXEN - BREEEFENAABEER
acquired and the consideration is treated as a deemed BENERE - BESBEUFAEANRELE
contribution from an unit holder and recognised in net asset BRIE - WRESBENIFE ARGEEFERR -
attributable to unitholders.
Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries WEMEARNREREFE
RMB’000
ARMT T
Cash consideration paid BENBEeRE 3,912,367
Less: cash and cash equivalents balances acquired B BRI RIFeEEMELR (1,206,770)
2,705,597
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24. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES AND
RELATED ASSETS ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

20 BEEDELNARRABEEN

¥ AR

Interest

Non-trade payable

amounts (included

due to Secured in accruals

related bank and other
companies borrowings payables) Total

ERFE

PEft (5t A PERT

N BEM RERHAM
FEZRE RITER  ENARE) st

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRE AR®BTR AR®TRT ARWTZR

Financing cash flows mEHESRE (40,444) 1,892,314 - 1,851,870
Acquisition of subsidiaries eG4 =NG 3,620,922 - - 3,620,922
Distribution commitment offset DR EGEE (2,126) - - (2,126)
Amortisation of upfront payments  # §4 A 2 5% - 200 - 200
Listing expenses paid by related BE AR ETER

companies 6,862 - - 6,862
Issue costs accrued JESTEE1TR AR 76,430 - - 76,430
Interest expenses MEFRX - - 2,178 2,178
Settlement on acquisition (note 23) UBSFRIE v &5 & (f15123) (2,391,238) = - (2,391,238)
Exchange difference Rz - (4,882) = (4,882)
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12A31H 1,270,406 1,887,632 2,178 3,160,216

25. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
Unit issue costs and listing expenses amounting to
RMB35,986,000 and RMB6,862,000 respectively, were paid
by a related company on behalf of the Group. In addition,
the cash to be received from Eureka for the distribution
commitment of RMB2,126,000 was offset in amount due to
related companies.

Other than those set out above and disclosed in note 23,
there were no other major non-cash transaction.

184 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT Annual Report 2019

5. ERFBRERS
EoBUBETHRNARETHAID A AARE
35,986,000 &2 A R #6,862,000 T 2 B — &
BARNRRAEBAT o BRILLASN + BE D IR
#HEmEFWERZEE A ARK2, 126,000
A4 85 FE 1~ BAHSE R B3R E o

B A B RRBE NI RE23  AKEWIRAH
MEAFRERS -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MR

For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019
2019115158 (K7 HA]) 22019412 A31H 11 AfE

26.

27.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT 26. EREIE
RMB’000
AR®T T
Capital expenditure in respect of the improvement BT AR ARNERE B HwE A
works of investment properties contracted for but TR AR EYENETERN
not provided in the consolidated financial statements &A% 8,331
CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 27. BEA LT RBEHB AR
TRANSACTIONS
During the period, the Group entered into the following BN AEEEEEAN T KRBT ET TR
transactions with connected and related parties: 2
Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB'000
BEAL BHHEE iz ARETR
Rental income B2 WA
Shekou TV WOBHRAE (@) &(c) 9
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. BERITROBRAT
("CM Bank") ([Tl (@) 322
China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. RERERESRNHER AR
("CM Energy") (MRERER]) (@) 390
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings BERERIXRERKROERAR
Co., Ltd ("CMSK") (THAmEA ) @ 694
Sinotrans Shipping Limited RONEYIRBR A B ([FINEDTR])
(“Sinotrans Shipping”) (formerly known as (RifE [RERYREEERLARE )
"China Merchants Logistics Holding Co., Ltd.") (a) 440
China Merchants Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. R BEAEMERRA A
("CM Real Estate”) ([BEEHE]) (@) 2,427
China Merchants Shekou Asset Management Co., Ltd. AIMREE N EEERBRAR
("CMSK Asset Management”) ((BrRnEEER]) (@) & (c) 410
China Merchants Life Insurance Company Limited RARCMASRRRHERAR
("CM Life Insurance”) ([BEBCMASRR]) (@) 119
China Merchants Commercial Property RIBEREREEB AR
Investment (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“CMCP") ([BEEEl) (@) 705
China Merchants International Information Technology Co., Ltd. AraBERESRITARAR
(“CM Information Technology”) ([AERERE ST (@) & () 200
5,716
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27. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 27. BEALTRBHBAERZ @)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB’000
BEAL BB EH =3 AR®T T
Car park income FESWA
CM Real Estate REFEE @) 9
CMCP HEEE @ 1
Sinotrans Shipping FINEMTE @) 10
20
Interest income FEHA
CM Bank HAERT @ 282
Building management fee income BFEEEUA
CMSK mEen @ 10
CM Information Technology B BB E S B (@) & () 18
CMCP HERE @ 50
CMSK Asset Management BREAEEER (@& () 44
CM Real Estate REFEE @) 194
Shekou TV LRk ) (@) & () 1
CM Bank WAERIT @ 44
Sinotrans Shipping FINEYR (a) 70
CM Energy BREBER (a) 70
501
Other income AMRA
CMSK BrEwn (@) 5
CMCP HEEE @ 7
CMSK Asset Management FRARNEEER @) 8&(c) 3
CM Real Estate REREE (@) 26
Sinotrans Shipping FINET (@) 5
CM Energy BRI BER (@) 9
55
Manager's fee EHEAEA
China Merchants Land Asset Management Co. Limited BERENEEERAR (a) 1,361
Trustee’s remuneration RHANFH
DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited BEEET(BE)ERAR (b) 271
Principal valuer’s fee Bl EER
Cushman & Wakefield Limited FERTERRA (b) 90
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27. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

27. BEALTRBE IR S @)

Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB'000
BEAL BEHLEE st ARETR
Property management expense NFERE
Shenzhen Investment RIBENEERER AR

Promotion Real Estate Management Co., Ltd (DRIHBeE))

("SZ Investment Promotion”) (@) 5,188
Operations manager’s fee EEEEE
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise AEEOrEER(RINBRAR

Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd ((ERrOtxER])

("CMSK Enterprise Management") (@) 1,173
Balances with connected and related BB N T R 2 T

parties are as follows:
Amount due from JEY TALTHE
Trade nature BoHE
CM Real Estate REEHE (@) & (d) 1,073
CMCP REEE (a) & (d) 602
SZ Investment Promotion R (a) & (d) 4,531

6,206

Amount due to JEMLTALHE
Trade nature (note ) BHME (i)
CM Information Technology B RERE SR (@) & (e) 590
CMG BAREE () & (e) 518
CMSK Asset Management PRAROEEER (@), (c) & (e) 345
CMSK Enterprise Management BRRACXER (@) & (e) 136
CM Energy BERER (@) & (e) 1.211
Sinotrans Shipping FANETIR (a) & (e) 1,367
CM Life Insurance BERCMASRER (@) & (e) 404
CM Bank BRERT (@) &(e) 1,019
Shekou TV wOERE (a) & (e) 30
SZ Investment Promotion R (a) & (e) 1,173
Non-trade nature FEHHE
China Merchants Land (Shenzhen) Limited HEapEm (R BRAG (@) & (f) 352
Eureka Ins (a) & (f) 40,370
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27. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

27. BEANLTRBEH IR S @)

Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB’000

BEAL BB EH i3 ARET T

Jumbo Pacific Jumbo Pacific (@) & (f) 1,229,684

1,277,199

Deposits placed with the Group for the lease of RHELXEEYER

the Group’s properties AEEFHRZS

CM Information Technology BEBERE 2B (@) & () 590

CMG HEREE @ 518

CMSK Asset Management TRARONEEER (@) &( 345

CM Energy BERER (a) 1,211

Sinotrans Shipping HRINEWTE (a) 1,367

CM Life Insurance BERCMASRR (@) 404

CM Bank RERT @ 1,019

Shekou TV wAERE (@) & (c) 30

5,484

Notes: Htet -

(@) These companies are the subsidiaries directly or indirectly held by () ZERNAEEREE (—ZEERAEERTES
CMG, holding company of a significant unitholder of China Merchants ZEEESBMHFAEANERAR) BEIEERS
Commercial REIT. BHE AT o

(b)  These are connected party transactions as defined in the REIT Code. (b) MREEHMERERGRESTA  ZEXZRBAEA

+XR5 -

() The English name is for identification only. () HEXLTBEHRSE-

The Group generally required amounts to be settled within 30 days after
issuance of demand note for its provision of rental and management
services to its related parties. The demand note would be issued on the
first working day of each month. The aging of the amounts are due with
1 month based on the date of invoice.

The amounts due to related companies are aged within 1 month based
on date of invoice.

The Group’s non-trade amounts due to related companies are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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28.

29.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28. EXREMER
The Group manages its capital to ensure it will be able to REBBEAEER  URREEMNEEREKL
continue as a going concern while maximising the return 2 WEREBLLEKLAESEMFTEARGE
to unitholders through the optimisation of the debt and EFERESEUFAEAFTREIA@ME - K&
net assets attributable to unitholders. The Group's overall BEH BB RN B AR gEF T -
strategy remains unchanged throughout the period.
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, REENEAZBERELNRESRESEE
which includes secured bank borrowings and non-trade P RS F R (B HE A HE AR SR1T 18 50 N2 B 1~ i
nature amounts due to related companies, net of cash and ANEIEBEFINERIE)  URASEESELR
cash equivalents, and attributable to the unitholders of the EAEGER(BEERTESEMN - AMEHE
Group, comprising issued units, other reserve and profit less Kom R IK)
distribution.
The Manager reviews the capital structure regularly. As part BEIEATHENELRGERE - (FABEN—=R
of this review, the Manager considers the cost of capital EEAEEZEEAKRARSEEARANIERR
and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on % ERNBEANEBER  A5EHERAS
recommendations of the Manager, the Group will balance its & BIHESEMREITHERBERNIRAE
overall capital structure through the distributions or, issue of 1% TEHEEEREE -
new units as well as the issue of new debts or the redemption
of existing debts.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 29. @I H
Categories of financial instruments ¢RI EER
RMB’000
ARMF T
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at amortised costs A G ER B E 1,467,931
Financial liabilities cEAasE
Financial liabilities at amortised costs g H el N =Y O = 3,252,943

“ToNFER BARAEETESE 189



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR AR MR

For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019
20194118150 (B 7 HEI) 22019412 531 H 1F Hif4

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. 2T B

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, amounts due from related companies, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables, distributable
payable, amounts due to related companies and secured
bank borrowings. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
certain of these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
Manager manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank secured borrowings (see note
17 for details). The Group is exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank deposits due to the
fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate. The Group
currently does not have a policy on hedging interest rate risk.

No sensitivity analysis is presented since the Manager
considers that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk
arising from variable-rate bank balances is limited due to
their short maturities.
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For the period from 15 November 2019 (the date of establishment) to 31 December 2019
2019115158 (K7 HA]) 22019412 A31H 11 AfE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. €T R

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
balances, which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in foreign currency risk. However, the
Manager monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant currency risk should the need
arise.

TREREE B R RBE )

iS5 Rk ()

S B

ARRETHBRBAFAIELR  SAKE
RSN R B - R B AT I B BL SN R B AT
SONEBIRER o AT BEEASERINER
B WEEEHERREEHHTEAEERR

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and REREHR  NEBEUAREUINNEE S
monetary liabilities, denominated in currencies other than ENEEREEREKBENREABENAT
RMB at the end of each reporting period are as follows:
Assets BE
RMB’000
ARET T
HKD BT 276,074
Liabilities BfE
RMB’000
ARET T
HKD BT 181,016
United States Dollar (“USD") x5 ([Ex]) 25,892
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. 2T B

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of relevant
foreign currency against RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in the relevant foreign currency
against the functional currency of the relevant group
entities. 5% represents the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates if currency risk is to be assessed
by key management. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding relevant foreign currency denominated
monetary items. The sensitivity analysis adjusts their
translation at the period end for a 5% change in foreign
currency rates. A positive (negative) number below indicates
an increase (decrease) in post-tax profit where the relevant
foreign currency weakens 5% against HKD and USD. For a
5% strengthening of the relevant foreign currency against
HKD or USD, there would be an equal and opposite impact
on the profit.

TREAREEBRRBUR (&)

% Bk ()
Sp B (4B )
AEEETZZHRBINELARE KB AR

TRFAJAEERBINE LHEEEERNI)
RREBMER EARTRS%NEEE 5%
TEEREMERRBRRERTEELNG
BED - FRENMERBREENAINETE
MR ERIER - WX HRIRIRERB5)5%:8
BHEGEMH - TROESR(BBOXRTERBINE
AABTRETHE R TR5%E - BREEE N
EFCTER) - 2ERAINE L BT RETHER
EF5%E - SEENELSERARNTZE -

2019

20194

RMB’000

AR®T T

HKD impact BT E (4,753)
USD impact EnTE 1,295

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties failure to perform their obligations at
the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of these
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Other than concentration of credit risk on amounts due
from related companies, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spreads over a
number of counterparties and customers.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. 2T B

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Trade receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Manager has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new
tenants, the Group uses an internal credit scoring system to
assess the potential tenants’ credit quality and defines credit
limits by tenant. Limits and scoring attributed to tenants’
are reviewed twice a year. In this regard, the Manager
considers that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade balances individually or based on
provision matrix.

Tenants of the rental properties is required to settle the
demand note within 30 days. Rental is payable in advance
and interest is charged immediately on overdue balance at
the rate of 1% per day during the period. In addition, the
Manager is responsible for follow up action to recover the
overdue debt. The Manager also reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debtor regularly to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are recognised for
irrecoverable debts. Based on the ECL assessment, no loss
allowance provision was recognised because the amount
involved is considered insignificant.

TREREE B R RBE )

FE R KR B ()

B S WA

REEREERERR  BEEAEZRKENK &
AEEFEREERGEEMETE - REXEM
AR - ARBEERABEEND Rt
BEMEFPZEEERREETHFPZEERE
VEGFMERMES <BENRFD  BAUH
5 EEARRAKEZEERRD AKRE
K - ptHh  AEEREFEHREEBBRREN -
B 5 a6k (18 5l b S A B B B R B 2 ) ETORL
EFHE °

.

0

HEMHENEFBEIORANEERERE - A
HE - APARAXNESE - WAIK A
SHIZF AN 1% WERME - I EEARE
BAE TR EIEER - AR K E SR
NEFEERNE S ERER RS 5 - R
Bt AR FERERCHREEE - RIF
BHEEEERN G ARMI2BERA/TE
R W EERE BB -
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. 2T B

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Amounts due from related companies

The Manager has made periodic assessments as well as
individual assessment on recoverability based on historical
settlement records and adjusts for forward looking
information. In view of the strong financial capability of
these related parties under CMG in respect of amount
due from related parties with gross carrying value of
RMB6,206,000 as at 31 December 2019 and considered
the future prospects of the industry in which these related
parties operate, the Manager does not consider there is a
risk of default and does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these related parties, and accordingly, no
impairment was recognised in respect of the amounts due
from related parties.

Bank balances

The Group mainly transacts with banks with high credit
ratings. The credit risk for bank balances (note 15) is
considered as not material as such amount is placed in
reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies. The Group assessed
12m ECL on these balances are by reference to probability
of default and loss given default by credit rating grades
published by international credit rating agencies and
concluded that the expected credit losses are insignificant
and thus no impairment loss has recognised.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. €M T )
Financial risk management objectives and policies SREREERERBKRH)
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) SRR KRBT (E)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment AEENABEERBTREEATER

comprises the following categories:

Internal Trade receivables Other financial
credit rating Description (lease receivables) assets
REBEE B 2 WA
LR B (HEREWHIE) Hitrem&EE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
1K /& fx does not have any past-due amounts. credit-impaired 128 AEHEEEE
HFEFENNRREIE - B30 B8 E > HRBEEEE
IR e — REAEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
9z usually settle in full credit-impaired 12 A FEHREEEE
BEBAKLEREERRER - HEBE I > HEHEEER
15 ° — RNELAEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL - not Lifetime ECL — credit-
A] &t credit risk since initial recognition through credit-impaired impaired
information developed internally or external & HiFEEA{E & &8 = HBEBEEEE
resources. — RELEEERE — BAEERE

BREABERRINBERBEEERR B DA
HERR AR BB A0

Loss There is evidence indicating the Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL — credit-
B8 asset is credit-impaired. credit-impaired impaired
ERBRETEECEAEEERME - > HEHEEER HIFRREERERE
— BEEERE — BAEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is Amount is Amount is
] in severe financial difficulty and the Group written off written off
has no realistic prospect of recovery. G Ei=E @] HEE IR

BEBRNEBALREAMGHE - B
AEBEYERREEWE A
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. 2T B

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
Manager believes that the Group will have sufficient working
capital for its future operational requirement.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities, which has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
the financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which

TREAREEBRRBUR (&)

MENE £ E R

REERBDESRRME  AREERL#R

ReMReFEYREEEBRREHZKF -

REEBEXBREES  WHERSREKD
TE BEAMEAKREKERNEEES

VARERT AR EEFR K o

TRHELAEEREIFTETAESHEBENR
HRANIHE - DERRBEARE B A KEZRM
ROEFRAHNERBENRBRRERER
HEH TREEMNEEAERSRE - R

the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both ReBHERBERRNERFNEAHE -
interest and principal cash flows. The undiscounted amount
is calculated based on effective interest rate at the end of the

reporting period.

Weighted
average On Total ~ Carrying
interest  demand or undiscounted ~ amount at
rate 1-30days  31-90 days 91-365 days 1-2years  2-5years  cash flows 31.12.2019
AR 1B2019%

Mg RER HeRs 128318
T 1230 31290 91%365H 1225 1255 aF NREE

%  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB000
% ARBTL ARETR ARBTR ARBTL ARETR ARETL ARETR

Trade and other B S REMENTE

payables — 16,603 3,913 9,785 16,409 27,031 13,741 73,7141
Amounts due to FE (S R 1 Rl

related companies - 1,277,199 - - - - 1,277,199 1,277,199
Distribution payable ~ [EfA R - 14,371 - - - - 14,371 14,371
Secured bank BHERRTER

borrowings 2.75 4,357 8,715 39,217 52,289 1,903,936  2,008514 1,887,632

1,312,530 12,628 49,002 68,698 1,930,967 3,373,825 3,252,943
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

The fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities
have been determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on a discounted cash flow analysis.

The Manager considers that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair
values.

30.PLEDGE OF ASSETS

31.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s bank borrowings had
been secured by the Group’'s investment properties with
carrying amounts of RMB 5,741,000,000.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS
COMMERCIAL REIT

During the period and as at the date of this report, the
Company has direct and indirect shareholdings/equity

29.

30.

31.

ST R
LREAKRTEEERBE &)

ERMIAZAAEERE
CREERERMBENAABEIBREENE
RREREDMOAREBEEUETE -

EIEARAS - AESEK AR EN RS P RK
NWEMmEErERABENEREREAAEE
BE -

BEEERHR

M2019F 12 A318 » REBMIRITEREER
EEEREEAARKS,741,000,000 T E )
R o

RERERERES 2 TENEL
AR

RAHERAREBH  RAFRATHER
REAEE R EERE PR

interests in the followings subsidiaries:

Shareholding/
equity interest

Issued attributable to
and full the Group as at
Place of incorporation/  paid capital/ 31 December
establishment/ registered and 2019 Principal
Name of subsidiaries operation paid in capital % activities
EEER20195
BRI 12831H L
i) A BREX EM R RAER
MELDRERE BRI, 4t B REHER % TEEK
Directly held:
BEREA
Treasure Supreme BVI UsSD1 100 Investment holding
International Limited RBRLHS E0 REER
Frontier Shekou Commercial ~ BVI USD1 100 Investment holding
Holdings Limited REBRZHS (Ev REER
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31. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 1. RERBXRERESZTERELRQ
SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS CEESLIE 2
COMMERCIAL REIT (continued)

Shareholding/
equity interest

Issued attributable to
and full the Group as at
Place of incorporation/  paid capital/ 31 December
establishment/ registered and 2019 Principal
Name of subsidiaries operation paid in capital % activities
AEER2019F
BRITR 12A318 &
L) A BEER E R RS
HWELARERE BRI/ 1t B REHEX % FTEEK
Indirectly held:
EERFE
Shekou Times Limited BVI USD1 100 Investment holding
RERUHS 17T REER
Shekou Garden City BVI usD1 100  Investment holding
Limited RERZHS (B KA R
Shekou Net Valley Technology BVI UsSD1 100  Investment holding
Limited EBEXES 17T REZRK
Shekou Net Valley Technology BVI UsD1 100 Investment holding
2 Limited RBERUHS (E RERRK
Shekon Net Valley Garden City BVI UsSD1 100 Investment holding
Cyberport Limited RBRIES (E & & 1RR
Shekou Times (Hong Kong) Hong Kong RMB1 100 Investment holding
Limited B8 AR REER

AR (EE)ERAF
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31. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 1. BB RRXETESL Z2ETEHRBE A
SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS GEIAC )
COMMERCIAL REIT (continued)

Shareholding/
equity interest

Issued attributable to
and full the Group as at
Place of incorporation/  paid capital/ 31 December
establishment/ registered and 2019 Principal
Name of subsidiaries operation paid in capital % activities
EEER20195F
BRITR 128310 L
i) A BEER E R RAER
MDA BRI,/ 1t B REHER % TEEK
Indirectly held: (Continued)
EEHE (&)
Shekou Garden City Hong Kong RMB1 100  Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited B AR REZER
REER(EE)BRAF
Shekou Net Valley Technology Hong Kong RMB1 100 Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited BB ARE1T REER
wOEARE () ERAR]
Shekou Net Valley Technology Hong Kong RMB!1 100  Investment holding
2 (Hong Kong) Limited B AR REZER
I AEARHE B (FH)
BRAR
Shekou Net Valley Garden Hong Kong RMB1 100  Investment holding
City Cyberport (Hong Kong) &8 ARE1TT REER
Limited
I OEATERRETE (FE)
BRARER
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31. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 31.
SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS

BERE¥EETESZ2TENE A
CIEEIAC )

COMMERCIAL REIT (continued)

Shareholding/
equity interest

Issued attributable to
and full the Group as at
Place of incorporation/  paid capital/ 31 December
establishment/ registered and 2019 Principal
Name of subsidiaries operation paid in capital % activities
EEERN20195
BEITR 12A318 FEL
L) A BRER T RERAER
i) PN BRI/ 1t B REHER % TEEK
Indirectly held: (Continued)
FERHE - (&)
FIIT e AR E The PRC RMB2,000,000 100  Investment properties
EERARAA H AER#2,000,0007T holding
REMEER
TR B XTI The PRC RMB2,000,000 100 Investment properties
AREERA H AR¥2,000,0007T holding
REMEER
FUIRABEER The PRC RMB2,000,000 100 Investment properties
ARAIE h AR #2,000,0007T holding
REMFER
MR A BB EER The PRC RMB2,000,000 100  Investment properties
ARAE F AR#2,000,0007T holding
REMEER
R TMEBAEEE The PRC RMB2,000,000 100  Investment properties
ARADE H AR¥2,000,0007T holding
REMEER
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32. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 32. HEWEEE

The outbreak of COVID-19 in China and the subsequent
guarantine measures imposed by the Chinese government as
well as the travel restrictions imposed by other countries in
early 2020 have had a negative impact on the operations of
the Group, as most of the Group’s operations are located in
Shenzhen, the PRC. The Group has arranged flexible tenancy
strategies with the tenants due to the outbreak of the
COVID-19. Due to the inherent nature and unpredictability
of future development and market sentiment, the actual
financial impacts could be different depending on future
development of the outbreak, government policies and
measures in response to the outbreak. The actual financial
impact, if any, will be reflected in the Group’s 2020 financial
statements.

202054 + R EIEZECOVID-19 & A BB T E
BN EE R - N ESBRERKERS - 5
HASENEBBERTAEE  LERAEE
EFRBRRIINERS - COVID-19RIBEHM - A"&E
EEAAFLTHBEEMHERE - HRRRE
BEMGHBEHENARE R BAMY - BEMH
AT B EE B AR RER AR EATEEZIE
WEBCRFEREME - ERVHZE(NE)ER
KA AR EE 2020 F M B R 3REK o
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PERFORMANCE TABLE
B

The period
from

10 December
2019 to

31 December
2019

201945
12A108 &
20194

128318 LHM

Net assets attributable to Unitholders (RMB million)

Net assets per unit attributable to Unitholders
(RMB)
(Equivalent to HK$)

Highest traded unit price (HK$)

Highest premium of the traded unit price to
the net asset value per unit (Note i)

Lowest traded unit price (HK$)

Highest discount of the traded unit price to
the net asset value per unit

Market capitalisation (Note ii) (HK$ million)

Units issued

Annualised Provisional DPU yield (Note iii)

HESBURBARGEEFE
(AR®BET)
EeBUREARGEBESENEEFE
(AR%7T)

(FrEET)

RERXEEGET)
AREERBESBENEERFEZ
R B (M)
RIEKZEECETT)
KRREBRBESEMNEEFEL

R= TR

mE(H i) (B&EETT)
ERITESEM

FEETES BN D IR R (M atii)

3,787

3.36
3.75
3.42

N/AFTE A
3.07

18.2%

3,756
1,127,819,549
6.1%

Notes:

i The highest traded unit price is lower than the net asset value per unit i
attributable to unitholders as at 31 December 2019. Accordingly, premium of
the traded unit price to the net asset value per unit has not been recorded.

i Market capitalization is calculated based on the closing unit price of HK$3.33 ii.

times the unit issued as at 31 December 2019.

iii.  The annualized net yield per unit is calculated based on the total distributable iii.

income for the period and the closing unit price HK$3.33.

Hfet -

SEUEEFEEE

EBRTESHEMAH -

£ B mE3.338 T E -
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TRUSTEE
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